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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”) that reflect our current views with respect to, among other things, our operations and financial performance. Forward-looking
statements include all statements that are not historical facts. In some cases, you can identify these forward-looking statements by
the use of words such as “outlook,” “believes,” “expects,” “potential,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “seeks,” “approximately,”
“predicts,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “anticipates” or the negative version of these words or other comparable words. Such
forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, there are or will be important factors that
could cause actual outcomes or results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements. We believe these factors include,
but are not limited to, those described under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” which include, but are not limited to, the following:
•

difficult market and political conditions may adversely affect our business in many ways, including by reducing the value
or hampering the performance of the investments made by our funds, each of which could materially and adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition;

•

we derive a substantial portion of our revenues from funds managed pursuant to advisory agreements that may be terminated
or fund partnership agreements that permit fund investors to remove us as the general partner;

•

we may not be able to maintain our current fee structure as a result of industry pressure from fund investors to reduce
fees, which could have an adverse effect on our profit margins and results of operations;

•

a change of control of us could result in termination of our investment advisory agreements;

•

the historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or
of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our Class A common stock;

•

if we are unable to consummate or successfully integrate development opportunities, acquisitions or joint ventures, we
may not be able to implement our growth strategy successfully;

•

we depend on third-party distribution sources to market our investment strategies;

•

an investment strategy focused primarily on privately held companies presents certain challenges, including the lack of
available information about these companies;

•

our funds’ investments in investee companies may be risky, and our funds could lose all or part of their investments;

•

prepayments of debt investments by our investee companies could adversely impact our results of operations;

•

our funds’ investee companies may incur debt that ranks equally with, or senior to, our funds’ investments in such
companies;

•

subordinated liens on collateral securing loans that our funds make to their investee companies may be subject to control
by senior creditors with first priority liens and, if there is a default, the value of the collateral may not be sufficient to
repay in full both the first priority creditors and our funds;

•

there may be circumstances where our funds’ debt investments could be subordinated to claims of other creditors or our
funds could be subject to lender liability claims;

•

our funds may not have the resources or ability to make additional investments in our investee companies;

•

economic recessions or downturns could impair our investee companies and harm our operating results;

•

a covenant breach by our investee companies may harm our operating results;

•

the investment management business is competitive;

•

our funds operate in a competitive market for lending that has recently intensified, and competition may limit our funds’
ability to originate or acquire desirable loans and investments and could also affect the yields of these assets and have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition;

•

dependence on leverage by certain of our funds and by our funds’ investee companies subjects us to volatility and
contractions in the debt financing markets and could adversely affect our ability to achieve attractive rates of return on
those investments;
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•

some of our funds may invest in companies that are highly leveraged, which may increase the risk of loss associated with
those investments;

•

we generally do not control the business operations of our investee companies and, due to the illiquid nature of our
investments, may not be able to dispose of such investments;

•

a substantial portion of our investments may be recorded at fair value as determined in good faith by or under the direction
of our respective funds’ boards of directors or similar bodies and, as a result, there may be uncertainty regarding the value
of our funds’ investments;

•

we may need to pay “clawback” obligations if and when they are triggered under the governing agreements with respect
to certain of our funds and SMAs;

•

our funds may face risks relating to undiversified investments;

•

third-party investors in our private funds may not satisfy their contractual obligation to fund capital calls when requested,
which could adversely affect a fund’s operations and performance;

•

our funds may be forced to dispose of investments at a disadvantageous time;

•

hedging strategies may adversely affect the returns on our funds’ investments;

•

our business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital from investors. If we were unable to raise such capital,
we would be unable to collect management fees or deploy such capital into investments, which would materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition;

•

we depend on our senior management team, senior investment professionals and other key personnel, and our ability to
retain them and attract additional qualified personnel is critical to our success and our growth prospects;

•

our failure to appropriately address conflicts of interest could damage our reputation and adversely affect our business;

•

potential conflicts of interest may arise between our Class A common stockholders and our fund investors;

•

rapid growth of our business may be difficult to sustain and may place significant demands on our administrative,
operational and financial resources;

•

we may enter into new lines of business and expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and business,
each of which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our business;

•

extensive regulation affects our activities, increases the cost of doing business and creates the potential for significant
liabilities and penalties that could adversely affect our business and results of operations;

•

failure to comply with “pay to play” regulations implemented by the SEC and certain states, and changes to the “pay to
play” regulatory regimes, could adversely affect our business;

•

new or changed laws or regulations governing our funds’ operations and changes in the interpretation thereof could
adversely affect our business;

•

present and future business development companies for which we serve as investment adviser are subject to regulatory
complexities that limit the way in which they do business and may subject them to a higher level of regulatory scrutiny;

•

we are subject to risks in using custodians, counterparties, administrators and other agents;

•

a portion of our revenue and cash flow is variable, which may impact our ability to achieve steady earnings growth on a
quarterly basis and may cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline;

•

we may be subject to litigation risks and may face liabilities and damage to our professional reputation as a result;

•

employee misconduct could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain investors and subjecting us to significant
legal liability, regulatory scrutiny and reputational harm, and fraud and other deceptive practices or other misconduct at
our investee companies could similarly subject us to liability and reputational damage and also harm our business;

•

our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition, our ability to pay our debts or raise additional
capital to fund our operations, our ability to operate our business and our ability to react to changes in the economy or
our industry and could divert our cash flow from operations for debt payments;

•

our Revolving Credit Facility imposes significant operating and financial restrictions on us and our subsidiaries, which
may prevent us from capitalizing on business opportunities;
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•

servicing our indebtedness will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate sufficient cash depends on
many factors, some of which are not within our control;

•

despite our current level of indebtedness, we may be able to incur substantially more debt and enter into other transactions,
which could further exacerbate the risks to our financial condition;

•

operational risks may disrupt our business, result in losses or limit our growth;

•

Medley Management Inc.’s only material asset is its interest in Medley LLC, and it is accordingly dependent upon
distributions from Medley LLC to pay taxes, make payments under the tax receivable agreement or pay dividends;

•

Medley Management Inc. is controlled by our pre-IPO owners, whose interests may differ from those of our public
stockholders;

•

Medley Management Inc. will be required to pay exchanging holders of LLC Units for most of the benefits relating to
any additional tax depreciation or amortization deductions that we may claim as a result of the tax basis step-up we receive
in connection with sales or exchanges of LLC Units and related transactions;

•

in certain cases, payments under the tax receivable agreement may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual
benefits Medley Management Inc. realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the tax receivable agreement; and

•

anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law might discourage or delay acquisition attempts
for us that you might consider favorable.

These factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements
that are included in this Form 10-K. Forward-looking statements speak as of the date on which they are made, and we undertake
no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future
developments or otherwise, except as required by law.
Medley Management Inc. was incorporated as a Delaware corporation on June 13, 2014, and its sole asset is a controlling
equity interest in Medley LLC. Pursuant to a reorganization into a holding corporation structure (the “Reorganization”)
consummated in connection with Medley Management Inc.’s initial public offering (“IPO”), Medley Management Inc. became a
holding corporation and the sole managing member of Medley LLC, operating and controlling all of the business and affairs of
Medley LLC and, through Medley LLC and its subsidiaries, conducts its business.
Unless the context suggests otherwise, references herein to the “Company,” “Medley,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer, (1)
prior to the consummation of the Offering Transactions (as defined below), to Medley LLC, Medley GP Holdings LLC and their
combined and consolidated subsidiaries and, (2) after such Offering Transactions, to Medley Management Inc., Medley LLC and
its consolidated subsidiaries.
The “pre-IPO owners” refers to the senior professionals who were the owners of Medley LLC immediately prior to the
Offering Transactions. The “Offering Transactions” refer to Medley Management Inc.’s purchase upon the consummation of its
IPO of 6,000,000 newly issued limited liability company units (the “LLC Units”) from Medley LLC, which correspondingly
diluted the ownership interests of the pre-IPO owners in Medley LLC and resulted in Medley Management Inc.’s holding a number
of LLC Units in Medley LLC equal to the number of shares of Class A common stock it issued in its IPO.
Unless the context suggests otherwise, references herein to:
•

“Aspect” refers to Aspect-Medley Investment Platform A LP;

•

“AUM” refers to the assets of our funds, which represents the sum of the NAV of such funds, the drawn and undrawn
debt (at the fund level, including amounts subject to restrictions) and uncalled committed capital (including commitments
to funds that have yet to commence their investment periods);

•

“base management fees” refers to fees we earn for advisory services provided to our funds, which are generally based on
a defined percentage of fee earning AUM or, in certain cases, a percentage of originated assets in the case of certain of
our SMAs;

•

“BDC” refers to business development company;

•

“Consolidated Funds” refers to, with respect to periods after December 31, 2013 and before January 1, 2015, MOF II
and, with respect to periods prior to January 1, 2014, MOF I LP, MOF II and MOF III, subsequent to its formation;
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•

“fee earning AUM” refers to the assets under management on which we directly earn base management fees;

•

“hurdle rates” refers to the rates above which we earn performance fees, as defined in the long-dated private funds’ and
SMAs’ applicable investment management or partnership agreements.

•

“investee company” refers to a company to which one of our funds lends money or in which one of our funds otherwise
makes an investment;

•

“long-dated private funds” refers to, with respect to the year ended December 31, 2016, MOF II, MOF III, MCOF, Aspect
and any other private funds we may manage in the future, provided that with respect to the year ended December 31,
2015, “long-dated private funds” refers to MOF II and MOF III, provided that, with respect to periods prior to December
31, 2014, “long-dated private funds” refers to MOF I, MOF II and MOF III;

•

“management fees” refers to base management fees and Part I incentive fees;

•

“MCOF” refers to Medley Credit Opportunity Fund LP;

•

“Medley LLC” refers to Medley LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries and, prior to our IPO and the related Reorganization,
Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC and their consolidated subsidiaries;

•

“MOF I” refers to, with respect to the periods prior to October 31, 2014, MOF I LP and MOF I Ltd. and, with respect to
the periods subsequent to October 31, 2014, only MOF I LP;

•

“MOF I LP” refers to Medley Opportunity Fund I LP;

•

“MOF I Ltd.” refers to Medley Opportunity Fund I Ltd;

•

“MOF II” refers to Medley Opportunity Fund II LP;

•

“MOF III” refers to Medley Opportunity Fund III LP;

•

“our funds” refers to the funds, alternative asset companies and other entities and accounts that are managed or comanaged by us and our affiliates;

•

“our investors” refers to the investors in our permanent capital vehicles, our private funds and our SMAs;

•

“Part I incentive fees” refers to fees that we receive from our permanent capital vehicles, which are paid in cash quarterly
and are driven primarily by net interest income on senior secured loans subject to hurdle rates. With respect to periods
subsequent to January 1, 2016, as it relates to Medley Capital Corporation (NYSE: MCC) (“MCC”), these fees are subject
to netting against realized and unrealized losses;

•

“Part II incentive fees” refers to fees related to realized capital gains in our permanent capital vehicles;

•

“performance fees” refers to incentive allocations in our long-dated private funds and incentive fees from our SMAs,
which are typically 15% to 20% of the total return after a hurdle rate, accrued quarterly, but paid after the return of all
invested capital and in an amount sufficient to achieve the hurdle rate;

•

“permanent capital” refers to capital of funds that do not have redemption provisions or a requirement to return capital
to investors upon exiting the investments made with such capital, except as required by applicable law, which funds
currently consist of MCC and Sierra Income Corporation (“SIC”). Such funds may be required, or elect, to return all or
a portion of capital gains and investment income. In certain circumstances, the investment adviser of such a fund may be
removed;

•

“SMA” refers to a separately managed account; and

•

“STRF” refers to Sierra Total Return Fund.
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PART I.
Item 1.

Business

Overview
We are an asset management firm offering yield solutions to retail and institutional investors. We focus on credit-related
investment strategies, primarily originating senior secured loans to private middle market companies in the United States that have
revenues between $50 million and $1 billion. We generally hold these loans to maturity. Our national direct origination franchise,
with over 85 people, provides capital to the middle market in the U.S. Over the past 15 years, we have provided capital to over
350 companies across 35 industries in North America.
We manage two permanent capital vehicles, both of which are BDCs, as well as long-dated private funds and SMAs,
with a primary focus on senior secured credit. As of December 31, 2016, we had over $5.3 billion of AUM in two business
development companies, MCC and SIC, as well as private investment vehicles. Our year over year AUM growth as of December 31,
2016 was 12% and was driven by the growth in our long-dated private funds and SMAs. Our compounded annual AUM growth
rate from December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2016 was 32%, and our compounded annual Fee Earning AUM growth rate
was 23%, which have both been driven in large part by the growth in our permanent capital vehicles. Since September 2015, we
received over $1.5 billion of new institutional capital commitments, bringing AUM to over $5.3 billion. Typically the investment
periods of our institutional commitments range from 18 to 24 months and we expect our Fee Earning AUM to increase as capital
commitments included in AUM are invested.
In general, our institutional investors do not have the right to withdraw capital commitments and to date, we have not
experienced any withdrawals of capital commitments. For a description of the risk factor associated with capital commitments,
see “Risk Factors — Third-party investors in our private funds may not satisfy their contractual obligation to fund capital calls
when requested, which could adversely affect a fund's operations and performance.”
The diagram below presents the historical correlation between growth in our AUM, fee earning AUM and management fees.

____________
(1) Presented on a standalone basis
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Direct origination, credit structuring and active monitoring of the loan portfolios we manage are important success factors
in our business, which can be adversely affected by difficult market and political conditions, such as the turmoil in the global
capital markets from 2007 to 2009. Since our inception in 2006, we have adhered to a disciplined investment process that employs
these principles with the goal of delivering strong risk-adjusted investment returns while protecting investor capital. Our focus on
protecting investor capital is reflected in our investment strategy; at December 31, 2016, approximately 70% of the combined
portfolios investments were in first lien positions. We believe that our ability to directly originate, structure and lead deals enables
us to consistently lend at higher yields with better terms. In addition, the loans we manage generally have a contractual maturity
between three and seven years and are typically floating rate (at December 31, 2016, approximately 81% of the loans we manage,
based on aggregate principal amount, bore interest at floating rates), which we believe positions our business well for rising interest
rates.
Our senior management team has on average over 20 years of experience in credit, including originating, underwriting,
principal investing and loan structuring. As of December 31, 2016, we had over 85 employees, including over 45 investment,
origination and credit management professionals, and over 40 operations, accounting, legal, compliance and marketing
professionals, each with extensive experience in their respective disciplines.
Our Funds
We provide our credit-focused investment strategies through various funds and products that meet the needs of a wide
range of retail and institutional investors.
Our permanent capital vehicles, MCC and SIC, offer investors compelling risk-adjusted yield opportunities. Given their
permanent capital nature and focus on senior credit, they provide a high degree of base management fee visibility. Additionally,
we have a strong institutional investor base for our long-dated private funds and SMAs, which have been an important source of
diversified capital for our business.
Except as otherwise described herein with respect to our BDCs, our investment funds themselves do not register as
investment companies under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”), in reliance on
Section 3(c)(1), Section 3(c)(7) or Section 7(d) thereof. Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act exempts from the Investment
Company Act’s registration requirements investment funds privately placed in the United States whose securities are owned
exclusively by persons who, at the time of acquisition of such securities, are “qualified purchasers” as defined under the Investment
Company Act. Section 3(c)(1) of the Investment Company Act exempts from the Investment Company Act’s registration
requirements privately placed investment funds whose securities are beneficially owned by not more than 100 persons. In addition,
under certain current interpretations of the SEC, Section 7(d) of the Investment Company Act exempts from registration any nonU.S. investment fund all of whose outstanding securities are beneficially owned either by non-U.S. residents or by U.S. residents
that are qualified purchasers and purchase their interests in a private placement. Certain subsidiaries of Medley LLC typically
serve as an investment adviser for our funds and are registered under the Advisors Act. Our funds’ investment advisers or one of
their affiliates are entitled to management fees, performance fees and/or incentive fees from each investment fund to which they
serve as investment advisers. For a discussion of the fees to which our funds’ investment advisers are entitled across our various
types of funds, please see “Business — Fee Structure.”
Medley Capital Corporation
We launched MCC (NYSE: MCC), our first permanent capital vehicle, in 2011 as a BDC. MCC has grown to become a
BDC with approximately $1.3 billion in AUM as of December 31, 2016. MCC has demonstrated a 36% compounded annual
growth rate of AUM from inception through December 31, 2016.
Sierra Income Corporation
We launched SIC, our first public non-traded permanent capital vehicle, in 2012 as a BDC. SIC is now offered on a
continuous basis to investors through over 175 broker dealers representing over 18,500 registered investment advisers (“RIAs”)
as of December 31, 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2016, SIC increased AUM by $102.7 million to $1.3 billion, a 9%
increase year over year.
Sierra Total Return Fund
We launched STRF, our first interval fund, in January 2017. STRF is a continuously offered, non-diversified, closedend investment management company that is operated as an interval fund.
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Long-Dated Private Funds
We launched MOF I, our first long-dated private fund, in 2006, MOF II, our second long-dated private fund, in 2010,
MOF III, our third long-dated private fund, in 2014, and, in 2016, MCOF and Aspect, our fourth and fifth long-dated private funds,
respectively. Our long-dated private funds are managed through partnership structures, in which limited partnerships organized
by us accept commitments or funds for investment from institutional investors and high net worth individuals, and a general partner
makes all policy and investment decisions, including selection of investment advisers. Affiliates of Medley LLC serve as the
general partners and investment advisers to our long-dated private funds. The limited partners of our long-dated private funds take
no part in the conduct or control of the business of such funds, have no right or authority to act for or bind such funds and have
no influence on the voting or disposition of the securities or assets held by such funds, although limited partners often have the
right to remove the general partner or cause an early liquidation by super-majority vote. As our long-dated private funds are closedended, once an investor makes an investment, the investor is generally not able to withdraw or redeem its interest, except in very
limited circumstances.
Separately Managed Accounts (SMAs)
We launched our first SMA in 2010 and currently manage nine SMAs. In the case of our SMAs, the investor, rather than
us, dictates the risk tolerances and target returns of the account. We act as an investment adviser registered under the Advisers Act
for these accounts. The accounts offer customized solutions for liability driven investors such as insurance companies and typically
offer attractive returns on risk based capital.
Fee Structure
We earn management fees at an annual rate of 0.75% to 2.00% and may earn performance fees, which may be in the form
of an incentive fee or carried interest, in the event that specified investment returns are achieved by the fund or SMA. Management
fees are generally based on a defined percentage of (1) average or total gross assets, including assets acquired with leverage, (2)
total commitments, (3) net invested capital (4) NAV, or (5) lower of cost or market value of a fund’s portfolio investments.
Management fees are calculated quarterly and are paid in cash in advance or in arrears depending on each specific fund or SMA.
We earn incentive fees on our permanent capital vehicles and earn incentive fees on certain of our long-dated private funds. In
addition, we may earn additional carried interest performance fees on our long-dated private funds and SMAs that are typically
15% to 20% of the total return over a 6% to 8% annualized preferred return.
Medley Capital Corporation
Pursuant to the investment management agreement between MCC and our affiliate, MCC Advisors LLC, MCC Advisors
LLC receives a base management fee and a two-part incentive fee. Effective January 1, 2016, pursuant to a fee waiver executed
by MCC Advisors LLC on February 8, 2016, the base management fee is calculated at an annual rate of 1.75% of MCC’s gross
assets up to $1.0 billion and 1.50% on MCC's gross assets over $1.0 billion, and is payable quarterly in arrears (the “Reduced
Base Management Fee”). The Reduced Base Management Fee is calculated based on the average value of MCC’s gross assets at
the end of the two most recently completed calendar quarters and will be appropriately pro-rated for any partial quarter. Prior to
January 1, 2016, the MCC base management fee was calculated at an annual rate of 1.75% of MCC's gross assets. The base
management fee was calculated based on the average value of MCC's gross assets at the end of the two most recently completed
calendar quarters.
The two components of the MCC incentive fee are described below.
•

The first component of the MCC incentive fee is the Part I incentive fee. Effective January 1, 2016, the incentive
fee based on net investment income is reduced from 20.0% on pre-incentive fee net investment income over a fixed
hurdle rate of 2.0% per quarter, to 17.5% on pre-incentive fee net investment income over a fixed hurdle rate of 1.5%
per quarter. Moreover, the incentive fee based on net investment income is determined and paid quarterly in arrears
at the end of each calendar quarter by reference to our aggregate net investment income, as adjusted, as described
below (the “Reduced Incentive Fee on Net Investment Income”), from the calendar quarter then ending and the
eleven preceding calendar quarters (or if shorter, the number of quarters that have occurred since January 1, 2016).
We refer to such period as the “Trailing Twelve Quarters.” The hurdle amount for the Reduced Incentive Fee on Net
Investment Income is determined on a quarterly basis, and is equal to 1.5% multiplied by MCC’s net assets at the
beginning of each applicable calendar quarter comprising the relevant Trailing Twelve Quarters. The hurdle amount
is calculated after making appropriate adjustments to MCC’s net assets, as determined as of the beginning of each
applicable calendar quarter, in order to account for any capital raising or other capital actions as a result of any
issuances by MCC of its common stock (including issuances pursuant to MCC’s dividend reinvestment plan), any
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repurchase by MCC of its own common stock, and any dividends paid by MCC, each as may have occurred during
the relevant quarter. Any Reduced Incentive Fee on Net Investment Income is paid to MCC Advisors LLC on a
quarterly basis, and is based on the amount by which (A) aggregate net investment income (“Ordinary Income”) in
respect of the relevant Trailing Twelve Quarters exceeds (B) the hurdle amount for such Trailing Twelve Quarters.
The amount of the excess of (A) over (B) described in this paragraph for such Trailing Twelve Quarters is referred
to as the “Excess Income Amount.” For the avoidance of doubt, Ordinary Income is net of all fees and expenses,
including the Reduced Base Management Fee but excluding any incentive fee on pre-incentive fee net investment
income or on MCC’s capital gains.
The Reduced Incentive Fee on Net Investment Income for each quarter is determined as follows:
•

No incentive fee based on net investment income is payable to MCC Advisors LLC for any calendar quarter for
which there is no Excess Income Amount;

•

100% of the Ordinary Income, if any, that exceeds the hurdle amount, but is less than or equal to an amount,
which we refer to as the “Catch-up Amount,” determined as the sum of 1.8182% multiplied by MCC’s net assets
at the beginning of each applicable calendar quarter, as adjusted as noted above, comprising the relevant Trailing
Twelve Quarters is included in the calculation of the Reduced Incentive Fee on Net Investment Income; and

•

17.5% of the Ordinary Income that exceeds the Catch-up Amount is included in the calculation of the Reduced
Incentive Fee on Net Investment Income.

The amount of the Reduced Incentive Fee on Net Investment Income that is paid to MCC Advisors LLC for a particular
quarter equals the excess of the incentive fee so calculated minus the aggregate incentive fees based on income that
were paid in respect of the first eleven calendar quarters (or the portion thereof) included in the relevant Trailing
Twelve Quarters but not in excess of the Incentive Fee Cap (as described below).
The Reduced Incentive Fee on Net Investment Income that is paid to MCC Advisors LLC for a particular quarter is
subject to a cap (the “Incentive Fee Cap”). The Incentive Fee Cap for any quarter is an amount equal to (a) 17.5%
of the Cumulative Net Return (as defined below) during the relevant Trailing Twelve Quarters minus (b) the aggregate
incentive fees based on net investment income that was paid in respect of the first eleven calendar quarters (or a
portion thereof) included in the relevant Trailing Twelve Quarters.
“Cumulative Net Return” means (X) the Ordinary Income in respect of the relevant Trailing Twelve Quarters minus
(Y) any Net Capital Loss (as defined below), if any, in respect of the relevant Trailing Twelve Quarters. If, in any
quarter, the Incentive Fee Cap is zero or a negative value, MCC pays no incentive fee based on net investment income
to MCC Advisors for such quarter. If, in any quarter, the Incentive Fee Cap for such quarter is a positive value but
is less than the Reduced Incentive Fee based on Net Investment Income that is payable to MCC Advisors for such
quarter (before giving effect to the Incentive Fee Cap) calculated as described above, MCC pays a Reduced Incentive
Fee on Net Investment Income to MCC Advisors equal to the Incentive Fee Cap for such quarter. If, in any quarter,
the Incentive Fee Cap for such quarter is equal to or greater than the Reduced Incentive Fee on Net Investment
Income that is payable to MCC Advisors for such quarter (before giving effect to the Incentive Fee Cap) calculated
as described above, MCC pays a Reduced Incentive Fee on Net Investment Income to MCC Advisors, calculated as
described above, for such quarter without regard to the Incentive Fee Cap.
“Net Capital Loss” in respect of a particular period means the difference, if positive, between (i) aggregate capital
losses, whether realized or unrealized, and dilution to MCC’s net assets due to capital raising or capital actions, in
such period and (ii) aggregate capital gains, whether realized or unrealized and accretion to MCC’s net assets due
to capital raising or capital action, in such period.
Dilution to MCC’s net assets due to capital raising is calculated, in the case of issuances of common stock, as the
amount by which the net asset value per share was adjusted over the transaction price per share, multiplied by the
number of shares issued. Accretion to MCC’s net assets due to capital raising is calculated, in the case of issuances
of common stock (including issuances pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan), as the excess of the transaction
price per share over the amount by which the net asset value per share was adjusted, multiplied by the number of
shares issued. Accretion to MCC's net assets due to other capital action is calculated, in the case of repurchases by
MCC of its own common stock, as the excess of the amount by which the net asset value per share was adjusted over
the transaction price per share multiplied by the number of shares repurchased by MCC.
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For the avoidance of doubt, the purpose of changing our fee structure was to permanently reduce aggregate fees
payable to MCC Advisors by MCC. Beginning January 1, 2016, in order to ensure that MCC pays MCC Advisors
aggregate fees on a cumulative basis under the new fee structure that are less than the aggregate fees otherwise due
under the management agreement, at the end of each quarter, MCC Advisors calculates aggregate base management
fees and incentive fees on net investment income under both the new fee structure and the fee structure under the
management agreement, and if, at any time after January 1, 2016, the aggregate fees on a cumulative basis under the
new fee structure would be greater than the aggregate fees on a cumulative basis under the fee structure under the
management agreement, MCC Advisors is only entitled to the lesser of those two amounts. Since the hurdle rate is
fixed, if and as interest rates rise, it will be more likely that we will surpass the hurdle rate and receive an incentive
fee based on net investment income.
Prior to January 1, 2016, the Part I incentive fee was payable quarterly in arrears and was 20.0% of MCC’s preincentive fee net investment income for the immediately preceding calendar quarter subject to a 2.0% (which was
8.0% annualized) hurdle rate and a “catch-up” provision measured as of the end of each calendar quarter. Under the
hurdle rate and catch-up provisions, in any calendar quarter, we received no incentive fee until MCC’s net investment
income equaled the hurdle rate of 2.0%, but then received, as a “catch-up”, 100% of MCC’s pre-incentive fee net
investment income with respect to that portion of such pre-incentive fee net investment income, if any, that exceeded
the hurdle rate but was less than 2.5%. The effect of this provision was that, if pre-incentive fee net investment income
exceeded 2.5% in any calendar quarter, MCC Advisors LLC would receive 20.0% of MCC’s pre-incentive fee net
investment income as if the hurdle rate did not apply. For this purpose, pre-incentive fee net investment income
meant interest income, dividend income and any other income including any other fees (other than fees for providing
managerial assistance), such as commitment, origination, structuring, due diligence and consulting fees or other fees
that MCC received from portfolio companies accrued during the calendar quarter, minus MCC’s operating expenses
for the quarter including the base management fee, expenses payable to MCC Advisors LLC, and any interest expense
and any dividends paid on any issued and outstanding preferred stock, but excluding the incentive fee. Pre-incentive
fee net investment income included, in the case of investments with a deferred interest feature (such as original issue
discount, debt instruments with payment-in-kind interest and zero coupon securities), accrued income that we had
not yet received in cash.
•

The second component of the MCC incentive fee, the Part II incentive fee, is determined and payable in arrears as
of the end of each calendar year (or upon termination of the investment management agreement as of the termination
date), and equals 20.0% of MCC’s cumulative aggregate realized capital gains less cumulative realized capital losses,
unrealized capital depreciation (unrealized depreciation on a gross investment-by-investment basis at the end of each
calendar year) and all capital gains upon which prior performance-based capital gains incentive fee payments were
previously made to MCC Advisors LLC.

Entities controlled by former employees held limited liability company interests in MCC Advisors LLC that entitled them
to approximately 4.86% of the net incentive fee income through October 29, 2015 and an additional 5.75% of the net incentive
fee income through August 20, 2016 from MCC Advisors LLC. Since August 20, 2016 and going forward, we are entitled to all
of the management fees paid to MCC Advisors LLC. We may have similar arrangements with respect to the ownership of the
entities that advise our BDCs in the future.
Sierra Income Corporation
Pursuant to the investment management agreement between SIC and our affiliate, SIC Advisors LLC, SIC Advisors LLC
receives a base management fee and a two-part incentive fee. The SIC base management fee is calculated at an annual rate of
1.75% of SIC’s gross assets at the end of each completed calendar quarter and is payable quarterly in arrears.
The two components of the SIC incentive fee are as follows.
•

The first, the Part I incentive fee (which is also referred to as a subordinated incentive fee), payable quarterly in
arrears, is 20.0% of SIC’s pre-incentive fee net investment income for the immediately preceding calendar quarter
subject to a 1.75% (which is 7.0% annualized) hurdle rate and a “catch-up” provision measured as of the end of each
calendar quarter. Under the hurdle rate and catch-up provisions, in any calendar quarter, SIC Advisors LLC receives
no incentive fee until SIC’s pre-incentive fee net investment income equals the hurdle rate of 1.75%, but then receive,
as a “catch-up”, 100% of SIC’s pre-incentive fee net investment income with respect to that portion of such preincentive fee net investment income, if any, that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 2.1875%. The effect of this
provision is that, if pre-incentive fee net investment income exceeds 2.1875% in any calendar quarter, SIC Advisors
LLC will receive 20.0% of SIC’s pre-incentive fee net investment income as if the hurdle rate did not apply. For this
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purpose, pre-incentive fee net investment income means interest income, dividend income and any other income
including any other fees (other than fees for providing managerial assistance), such as commitment, origination,
structuring, due diligence and consulting fees or other fees that SIC receives from portfolio companies accrued during
the calendar quarter, minus SIC’s operating expenses for the quarter including the base management fee, expenses
payable to SIC Advisors LLC or to us, and any interest expense and any dividends paid on any issued and outstanding
preferred stock, but excluding the incentive fee. Pre-incentive fee net investment income includes, in the case of
investments with a deferred interest feature (such as original issue discount, debt instruments with payment-in-kind
interest and zero coupon securities), accrued income that SIC has not yet received in cash. Since the hurdle rate is
fixed, if interest rates rise, it will be easier for us to surpass the hurdle rate and receive an incentive fee based on preincentive fee net investment income.
•

The second, the Part II incentive fee, is determined and payable in arrears as of the end of each calendar year (or
upon termination of the investment management agreement as of the termination date), and equals 20.0% of SIC’s
cumulative aggregate realized capital gains less cumulative realized capital losses, unrealized capital depreciation
(unrealized depreciation on a gross investment-by-investment basis at the end of each calendar year) and all capital
gains upon which prior performance-based capital gains incentive fee payments were previously made to SIC Advisors
LLC.

Strategic Capital Advisory Services, LLC owns 20% of SIC Advisors LLC and is entitled to receive distributions of up
to 20% of the gross cash proceeds received by SIC Advisors LLC from the management and incentive fees payable by SIC to SIC
Advisors LLC, net of certain expenses, as well as 20% of the returns of the investments held at SIC Advisors LLC. We may have
similar arrangements with respect to the ownership of the entities that advise our BDCs in the future.
Sierra Total Return Fund
Pursuant to the investment management agreement between STRF and our affiliate, STRF Advisors LLC, STRF Advisors
LLC will be entitled to a base management fee and an incentive fee. The STRF base management fee will be calculated and payable
monthly in arrears at an annual rate of 1.50% of STRF's average daily total assets during such period.
The incentive fee will be calculated and payable quarterly in arrears in an amount equal to 15.0% of the Fund's preincentive fee net investment income for the immediately preceding quarter, and will be subject to a hurdle rate, expressed as a rate
of return on the Fund's adjusted capital, equal to 1.50% per quarter, subject to a “catch-up” feature, which will allow STRF Advisors
LLC to recover foregone incentive fees that were previously limited by the hurdle rate. Under the hurdle rate and catch-up provisions,
in any calendar quarter, STRF Advisors LLC will not receive any incentive fee until STRF's pre-incentive fee net investment
income equals the hurdle rate of 1.50%, but then will receive, as a “catch-up,” 100% of STRF's pre-incentive fee net investment
income with respect to that portion of such pre-incentive fee net investment income, if any, that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less
than or equal to 1.76%. The effect of this provision is that, if pre-incentive fee net investment income exceeds 1.76% in any
calendar quarter, STRF Advisors LLC will receive 15.0% of SIC's pre-incentive fee net investment income as if the hurdle rate
did not apply. For this purpose, pre-incentive fee net investment income means interest income, dividend income and any other
income accrued during the calendar quarter, minus STRF's operating expenses for the quarter (including the management fee,
expenses reimbursed to STRF Advisors LLC and any interest expenses and distributions paid on any issued and outstanding
preferred shares, but excluding the inventive fee). For this purpose, adjusted capital means the cumulative gross proceeds received
by STRF from the sale of shares (including pursuant to STRF's distribution reinvestment plan), reduced by amounts paid in
connection with purchases of shares pursuant to STRF's mandatory repurchases and discretionary repurchases. There is no
accumulation of amounts on the hurdle rate from quarter to quarter, and accordingly there is no clawback of amounts previously
paid to STRF Advisors LLC if subsequent quarters are below the quarterly hurdle rate, and there is no delay of payment to STRF
Advisors LLC if prior quarters are below the quarterly hurdle rate.
Long-Dated Private Funds and SMAs
Pursuant to the respective underlying agreements of our long-dated private funds and SMAs, we receive an annual
management fee and may earn incentive or performance fees. In general, management fees are calculated at an annual rate of
0.75% to 2.00% calculated on the value of the capital accounts or the value of the investments held by each limited partner, fund
or account. We may also receive transaction and advisory fees from a funds' underlying portfolio investment. In certain
circumstances, we are required to offset our management fees earned by 50% to 100% of transaction and advisory fees earned. In
addition, we receive performance fees or carried interest in an amount equal to 15.0% to 20.0% of the realized cash derived from
an investment, subject to a cumulative annualized preferred return to the investor of 6.0% to 8.0%, which is in turn subject to a
50% to 100% catch-up allocation to us.
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For certain long-dated private funds, we may also earn a two-part incentive fee. The first, the Part I incentive fee, is
calculated and payable quarterly in an amount equal to 15.0% to 20.0% of the net investment income, subject to a hurdle rate equal
to 1.5% to 2.0% per quarter, which is in turn subject to a 50% to 100% catch-up provision measured as of the end of each calendar
quarter. The second, the Part II incentive fee, is calculated and payable annually in an amount equal to 15.0% to 20.0% of cumulative
realized capital gains.
In order to better align the interests of our senior professionals and the other individuals who manage our long-dated
private funds with our own interests and with those of the investors in such funds, such individuals may be allocated directly a
portion of the performance fees in such funds. These interests entitle the holders to share the performance fees earned from MOF
II. We may make similar arrangements with respect to allocation of performance or incentive fees with respect to MOF III, MCOF,
Aspect or other long-dated private funds that we may advise in the future.
As noted above, in connection with raising new funds or securing additional investments in existing funds, we negotiate
terms for such funds and investments with existing and potential investors. The outcome of such negotiations could result in our
agreement to terms that are materially less favorable to us than for prior funds we have advised or funds advised by our competitors.
See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and Industry — We may not be able to maintain our current fee structure as
a result of industry pressure from fund investors to reduce fees, which could have an adverse effect on our profit margins and
results of operations.”
Investor Relations
Our fundraising efforts historically have been spread across distribution channels and have not been dependent on the
success of any single channel. We distribute our investment products through two primary channels: (1) permanent capital vehicles
and (2) long-dated private funds and SMAs. We believe that each of these channels offers unique advantages to investors and
allows us to continue to raise and deploy capital opportunistically in varying market environments.
Permanent Capital Vehicles
We distribute our permanent capital vehicles through three sub-channels:
•

MCC is our publicly traded vehicle. It offers retail and institutional investors liquid access to an otherwise illiquid
asset class (middle market credit). In addition to equity capital, MCC also raises debt capital in the private and public
markets which is an alternative source of capital in challenging operating environments.

•

SIC is our non-traded public vehicle. It offers retail and institutional investors access to an otherwise illiquid asset
class (middle market credit) without exposure to public market trading volatility. It allows us to continue to raise
capital continually during more challenging operating environments when publicly listed vehicles may be trading
below net asset value (“NAV”), which we believe is valuable during times of market volatility. We believe this is a
competitive advantage allowing us to make opportunistic investments, while peers may be more limited during times
of market volatility.

•

STRF is our non-traded interval vehicle. It offers retail and institutional investors investments in the debt and equity
of fixed-income and fixed-income related securities. STRF is a continuously offered, non-diversified, closed-end
investment management company that is operated as an interval fund.

Long-Dated Private Funds and SMAs
We distribute our long-dated private funds and SMAs through two sub-channels:
•

Long-dated private funds: Our long-dated private funds offer institutional investors attractive risk-adjusted returns.
We believe this channel is an important element of our capital raising efforts given institutional investors are more
likely to remain engaged in higher yielding private credit assets during periods of market turbulence.

•

Separately managed accounts: Our SMAs provide investors with customized investment solutions. This is
particularly attractive for liability driven investors such as insurance companies that invest over long time horizons.

We believe that our deep and long-standing investor relationships, founded on our strong performance, disciplined
management of our investors’ capital and diverse product offering, have facilitated the growth of our existing business and will
assist us with the development of additional strategies and products, thereby increasing our fee earning AUM in the future. We
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have dedicated in-house capital markets, investor relations and marketing specialists. We have frequent discussions with our
investors and are committed to providing them with the highest quality service. We believe our service levels, as well as our
emphasis on transparency, inspire loyalty and support our efforts to continue to attract investors across our investment platform.
Investment Process
Direct Origination. We focus on lending directly to companies that are underserved by the traditional banking system
and generally seek to avoid broadly marketed investment opportunities. We source investment opportunities through a variety of
channels including direct relationships with companies, financial intermediaries such as national, regional and local bankers,
accountants, lawyers and consultants, as well as through financial sponsors. Historically, as much as half of our annual origination
volume has been derived from either repeat or referred borrowers or repeat sponsors. The other half of our annual origination
volume has been sourced through a variety of channels including direct relationships with companies, financial intermediaries
such as national, regional and local bankers, accountants, lawyers and consultants, as well as through other financial sponsors.
Medley investments are well diversified across 35 industries. As of December 31, 2016, our industry exposure in excess of 10%
was 12.7% in business services and 11.8% in banking, finance, insurance and real estate. Medley has a highly selective, three step
underwriting process that is governed by an investment committee. This comprehensive process narrows down the investment
opportunities from generally over 1,000 a year to approximately 1% to 3% originated borrowers in a year. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, we sourced 1,225 investment opportunities, which resulted in 70 investments across 21 borrowers and
approximately $375 million of invested capital. As of December 31, 2016, our funds had 355 investments across 149 borrowers.
Disciplined Underwriting. We perform thorough due diligence and focus on several key criteria in our underwriting
process, including strong underlying business fundamentals, a meaningful equity cushion, experienced management, conservative
valuation and the ability to deleverage through cash flows. We are often the agent for the loans we originate and accordingly control
the loan documentation and negotiation of covenants, which allows us to maintain consistent underwriting standards. We invest
across a broad range of industries and our disciplined underwriting process also involves engagement of industry experts and thirdparty consultants. This disciplined underwriting process is essential as our funds have historically invested primarily in privately
held companies, for which public financial information is generally unavailable. Since our inception, we have experienced
annualized realized losses for 0.3% of that capital through December 31, 2016. We believe our disciplined underwriting culture
is a key factor to our success and our ability to expand our product offerings.
Prior to making an investment, the investment team subjects each potential borrower to an extensive credit review process,
which typically begins with an analysis of the market opportunity, business fundamentals, company operating metrics and historical
and projected financial analysis. We also compare liquidity, operating margin trends, leverage, free cash flow and fixed charge
coverage ratios for each potential investment to industry metrics. Areas of additional underwriting focus include management or
sponsor (typically a private equity firm) experience, management compensation, competitive landscape, regulatory environment,
pricing power, defensibility of market share and tangible asset values. Background checks are conducted and tax compliance
information may also be requested on management teams and key employees. In addition, the investment team contacts customers,
suppliers and competitors and performs on-site visits as part of a routine business due diligence process.
Our disciplined underwriting process also involves the engagement of industry experts and third-party consultants. The
investment team routinely uses third-party consultants and market studies to corroborate valuation and industry specific due
diligence, as well as provide quality of earnings analysis. Experienced legal counsel is engaged to evaluate and mitigate regulatory,
insurance, tax or other company-specific risks.
After the investment team completes its final due diligence, each proposed investment is presented to our investment
committee and subjected to extensive discussion and follow-up analysis, if necessary. A formal memorandum for each investment
opportunity typically includes the results of business due diligence, multi-scenario financial analysis, risk-management assessment,
results of third-party consulting work, background checks (where applicable) and structuring proposals. Our investment committee
requires a majority vote to approve any investment.
Active Credit Management. We employ active credit management. Our process includes frequent interaction with
management, monthly or quarterly review of financial information and, typically, attendance at board of directors’ meetings as
observers. Investment professionals with deep restructuring and workout experience support our credit management effort. The
investment team also evaluates financial reporting packages provided by portfolio companies that detail operational and financial
performance. Data is entered in Black Mountain, an investment management software program. Black Mountain creates a
centralized, dynamic electronic repository for all of our portfolio company data and generates comprehensive, standardized reports
and dashboards which aggregate operational updates, portfolio company financial performance, asset valuations, macro trends,
management call notes and account history.
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Investment Operations and Information Technology
In addition to our investment team, we have a finance, accounting and operations team that supports our public and private
vehicles team by providing infrastructure and administrative support in the areas of accounting/finance, valuation, capital markets
and treasury functions, operations/information technology, strategy and business development, legal/compliance and human
resources.
Regulatory and Compliance Matters
Our business, as well as the financial services industry generally, is subject to extensive regulation in the United States
and elsewhere. The SEC and other regulators around the world have in recent years significantly increased their regulatory activities
with respect to alternative asset management firms. Our business is subject to compliance with laws and regulations of United
States federal and state governments, their respective agencies and/or various self-regulatory organizations or exchanges, and any
failure to comply with these regulations could expose us to liability and/or reputational damage. Our business has been operated
for a number of years within a legal framework that requires our being able to monitor and comply with a broad range of legal
and regulatory developments that affect our activities. However, additional legislation, changes in rules promulgated by regulators
or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules, either in the United States or elsewhere, may directly
affect our mode of operation and profitability.
Certain of our subsidiaries are registered as investment advisers with the SEC. Registered investment advisers are subject
to the requirements and regulations of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Advisers Act”). Such
requirements relate to, among other things, fiduciary duties to advisory clients, maintaining an effective compliance program,
solicitation agreements, conflicts of interest, recordkeeping and reporting requirements, disclosure requirements, limitations on
agency cross and principal transactions between an advisor and advisory clients and general anti-fraud prohibitions. The SEC
requires investment advisers registered or required to register with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act that advise one or
more private funds and have at least $150.0 million in private fund assets under management to periodically file reports on Form
PF. We have filed, and will continue to file, quarterly reports on Form PF, which has resulted in increased administrative costs and
requires a significant amount of attention and time to be spent by our personnel. In addition, our investment advisers are subject
to routine periodic examinations by the staff of the SEC. Our investment advisers also have not been subject to any regulatory or
disciplinary actions by the SEC.
MCC and SIC are BDCs. A BDC is a special category of investment company under the Investment Company Act that
was added by Congress to facilitate the flow of capital to private companies and small public companies based in the United States
that do not have efficient or cost-effective access to public capital markets or other conventional forms of corporate financing.
BDCs make investments in private or thinly traded public companies in the form of long-term debt and/or equity capital, with the
goal of generating current income or capital growth.
BDCs are closed-end funds that elect to be regulated as BDCs under the Investment Company Act. As such, BDCs are
subject to only certain provisions of the Investment Company Act, as well as the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. BDCs are
provided greater flexibility under the Investment Company Act than are other investment companies that are registered under the
Investment Company Act in dealing with their portfolio companies, issuing securities, and compensating their managers. BDCs
can be internally or externally managed and may qualify to elect to be taxed as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) under
Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the regulations thereunder, for federal tax
purposes. The Investment Company Act contains prohibitions and restrictions relating to transactions between BDCs and their
affiliates, principal underwriters, and affiliates of those affiliates or underwriters. The Investment Company Act requires that a
majority of a BDC’s directors be persons other than “interested persons,” as that term is defined in the Investment Company Act.
In addition, the Investment Company Act provides that a BDC may not change the nature of its business so as to cease to be, or
withdraw its election to be regulated as a BDC unless approved by a majority of its outstanding voting securities. The Investment
Company Act defines “a majority of the outstanding voting securities” as the lesser of: (1) 67% or more of the voting securities
present at a meeting if the holders of more than 50% of its outstanding voting securities are present or represented by proxy or (2)
more than 50% of its voting securities.
Generally, BDCs are prohibited under the Investment Company Act from knowingly participating in certain transactions
with their affiliates without the prior approval of their board of directors who are not interested persons and, in some cases, prior
approval by the SEC. The SEC has interpreted the prohibition on transactions with affiliates broadly to prohibit “joint transactions”
among entities that share a common investment adviser.
On November 25, 2013, we received an amended order from the SEC that expanded our ability to negotiate the terms of
co-investment transactions among our BDCs and other funds managed by us (the “Exemptive Order”), subject to the conditions
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included therein. In situations where co-investment with other funds managed by us is not permitted or appropriate, such as when
there is an opportunity to invest in different securities of the same issuer or where the different investments could be expected to
result in a conflict between our interests and those of our other clients, we will need to decide which client will proceed with the
investment. We will make these determinations based on our policies and procedures, which generally require that such opportunities
be offered to eligible accounts on an alternating basis that will be fair and equitable over time. Moreover, except in certain
circumstances, our BDCs will be unable to invest in any issuer in which another of our funds holds an existing investment. Similar
restrictions limit our BDCs’ ability to transact business with our officers or directors or their affiliates.
Under the terms of the Exemptive Order, a “required majority” (as defined in Section 57(o) of the Investment Company
Act) of the independent directors of our BDCs must make certain conclusions in connection with a co-investment transaction,
including that (1) the terms of the proposed transaction are reasonable and fair to the applicable BDC and such BDC’s stockholders
and do not involve overreaching of such BDC or its stockholders on the part of any person concerned and (2) the transaction is
consistent with the interests of the BDC’s stockholders and is consistent with its investment strategies and policies.
Our BDCs have elected to be treated as RICs under Subchapter M of the Code. As RICs, the BDCs generally do not have
to pay corporate-level federal income taxes on any income that is distributed to its stockholders from its tax earnings and profits.
To maintain qualification as a RIC, our BDCs must, among other things, meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification
requirements (as described below). In addition, in order to obtain and maintain RIC tax treatment, the BDCs must distribute to
their stockholders, for each taxable year, at least 90% of their “investment company taxable income,” which is generally its net
ordinary income plus the excess, if any, of realized net short-term capital gains over realized net long-term capital losses.
In July 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Act. The Dodd-Frank Act, among other things, imposes
significant new regulations on nearly every aspect of the U.S. financial services industry, including oversight and regulation of
systemic market risk (including the power to liquidate certain institutions); authorizing the Federal Reserve to regulate nonbank
institutions that are deemed systemically important; generally prohibiting insured banks or thrifts, any bank holding company or
savings and loan holding company, any non-U.S. bank with a U.S. branch, agency or commercial lending company and any
subsidiaries and affiliates of any of these types of entities, regardless of geographic location, from conducting proprietary trading
or investing in or sponsoring a “covered fund,” which includes private equity funds and hedge funds (i.e., the Volcker Rule); and
imposing new registration, recordkeeping and reporting requirements on private fund investment advisers. Importantly, while
several key aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act have been defined through final rules, many aspects will be implemented by various
regulatory bodies over the next several years.
The Dodd-Frank Act requires the CFTC, the SEC and other regulatory authorities to promulgate certain rules relating to
the regulation of the derivatives market. Such rules require or will require the registration of certain market participants, the clearing
of certain derivatives contracts through central counterparties, the execution of certain derivatives contracts on electronic platforms,
as well as reporting and recordkeeping of derivatives transactions. Certain of our funds may from time to time, directly or indirectly,
invest in instruments that meet the definition of a “swap” under the Commodity Exchange Act and the CFTC’s rules promulgated
thereunder. As a result, such funds may qualify as commodity pools, and the operators of such funds may need to register as
commodity pool operators (“CPOs”) unless an exemption applies. Additionally, pursuant to a rule finalized by the CFTC in
December 2012, certain classes of interest rate swaps and certain classes of index credit default swaps are now subject to mandatory
clearing, unless an exemption applies. As of February 2014, many of these interest rate swaps and index credit default swaps are
also now subject to mandatory trading on designated contract markets or swap execution facilities. The Dodd-Frank Act also
provides expanded enforcement authority to the CFTC and SEC. While certain rules have been promulgated and are already in
effect, the rulemaking and implementation process is still ongoing. In particular, the CFTC has finalized most of its rules under
the Dodd-Frank Act, and the SEC has proposed several rules regarding security-based swaps but has only finalized a small number
of these rules.
Competition
The investment management industry is intensely competitive, and we expect it to remain so. We face competition both
in the pursuit of outside investors for our funds and in acquiring investments in attractive investee companies and making other
investments. We compete for outside investors based on a variety of factors, including:
•

investment performance;

•

investor perception of investment managers’ drive, focus and alignment of interest;

•

quality of service provided to and duration of relationship with investors;
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•

business reputation; and

•

the level of fees and expenses charged for services.

We face competition in our lending and other investment activities primarily from other credit-focused funds, specialized
funds, BDCs, real estate funds, hedge fund sponsors, other financial institutions and other parties. Many of these competitors in
some of our business are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical and marketing resources than are
available to us. Many of these competitors have similar investment objectives to us, which may create additional competition for
investment opportunities. Some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are
not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities. In addition, some
of these competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow
them to consider a wider variety of investments and to bid more aggressively than us for investments that we want to make. Lastly,
institutional and individual investors are allocating increasing amounts of capital to alternative investment strategies. Several large
institutional investors have announced a desire to consolidate their investments in a more limited number of managers. We expect
that this will cause competition in our industry to intensify and could lead to a reduction in the size and duration of pricing
inefficiencies.
Competition is also intense for the attraction and retention of qualified employees. Our ability to continue to compete
effectively in our business will depend upon our ability to attract new employees and retain and motivate our existing employees.
For additional information concerning the competitive risks that we face, see “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our
Business and Industry — The investment management business is competitive.”
Employees
We believe that one of the strengths and principal reasons for our success is the quality and dedication of our people. As
of December 31, 2016, we employed over 85 individuals, including over 45 investment, origination and credit management
professionals, located in our New York and San Francisco offices.
Corporate Information
Medley Management Inc. was incorporated as a Delaware corporation on June 13, 2014, and its sole asset is a controlling
equity interest in Medley LLC. Pursuant to the Reorganization consummated in connection with Medley Management Inc.’s IPO,
Medley Management Inc. became a holding corporation and the sole managing member of Medley LLC, operating and controlling
all of the business and affairs of Medley LLC and, through Medley LLC and its subsidiaries, conducts its business. Our principal
executive office is located at 280 Park Avenue, 6th Floor East, New York, New York 10017. Our telephone number is (212)
759-0777.
Where You Can Find More Information
We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). Our SEC filings are available to the public over the internet at the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov.
Our SEC filings are also available on our website at http://www.mdly.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed
with or furnished to the SEC. You may also read and copy any filed document at the SEC’s public reference room in Washington, D.C.
at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about public
reference rooms.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
You should carefully read the risks and uncertainties described below, together with the other information included in
this Form 10-K. Any of the following risks could materially affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. The
risks described below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties we are not presently aware of or that we
currently believe are immaterial could also materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
Difficult market and political conditions may adversely affect our business in many ways, including by reducing the
value or hampering the performance of the investments made by our funds, each of which could materially and adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our business is materially affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic and political conditions
throughout the world, such as interest rates, availability and cost of credit, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws
(including laws relating to our taxation, taxation of our investors, the possibility of changes to tax laws in either the United States
or any non-U.S. jurisdiction and regulations on asset managers), trade barriers, commodity prices, currency exchange rates and
controls and national and international political circumstances (including wars, terrorist acts and security operations). These factors
are outside of our control and may affect the level and volatility of asset prices and the liquidity and value of investments, and we
may not be able to or may choose not to manage our exposure to these conditions. Ongoing developments in the U.S. and global
financial markets following the unprecedented turmoil in the global capital markets and the financial services industry in late 2008
and early 2009 continue to illustrate that the current environment is still one of uncertainty and instability for investment management
business. Recently, global financial markets have experienced heightened volatility, including in June 2016 following the “Brexit”
referendum in the United Kingdom in favor of exiting the EU and the results of the 2016 U.S. presidential election and the
uncertainty surrounding the policies of the new administration. In addition, in the United States, interest rates have risen by 40 to
70 basis points since the U.S. presidential election in November 2016. There has been a corresponding meaningful increase in the
uncertainty surrounding interest rates, foreign exchange rates, trade volume, and fiscal and economic policies, which has heightened
volatility in the U.S. and global markets and could persist for an extended period.
These and other conditions in the global financial markets and the global economy may result in adverse consequences
for our funds and their respective investee companies, which could restrict such funds’ investment activities and impede such
funds’ ability to effectively achieve their investment objectives. In addition, because the fees we earn under our investment
management agreements are based in part on the market value of our AUM and in part on investment performance, if any of these
factors cause a decline in our AUM or result in non-performance of loans by investee companies, it would result in lower fees
earned, which could in turn materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from funds managed pursuant to advisory agreements that may be
terminated or fund partnership agreements that permit fund investors to remove us as the general partner.
With respect to our permanent capital vehicles, each fund’s investment management agreement must be approved annually
by such fund’s board of directors or by the vote of a majority of the stockholders and the majority of the independent members of
such fund’s board of directors and, in certain cases, by its stockholders, as required by law. In addition, as required by the Investment
Company Act, both MCC and SIC have the right to terminate their respective management agreements without penalty upon 60
days’ written notice to their respective advisers. Termination of these agreements would reduce the fees we earn from the relevant
funds, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and
2014, our investment advisory relationships with MCC and SIC represented approximately 80.3%, 80.2% and 78.8% , respectively,
of our total management fees. These investment advisory relationships also represented, in the aggregate, 47% of our AUM at
December 31, 2016. There can be no assurance that our investment management agreements with respect to MCC and SIC will
remain in place.
With respect to our long-dated private funds, insofar as we control the general partner of such funds, the risk of termination
of the investment management agreement for such funds is limited, subject to our fiduciary or contractual duties as general partner.
However, the applicable fund partnership agreements may permit the limited partners of each respective fund to remove us as
general partner by a majority or, in certain circumstances, a super majority vote. In addition, the partnership agreements provide
for dissolution of the partnership upon certain changes of control.
Our SMAs are governed by investment management agreements that may be terminated by investors at any time for
cause under the applicable agreement and “cause” may include the departure of specified members of our senior management
team. Absent cause, the investment management agreements that govern our SMAs are generally not terminable during the specified
investment period or following the specified investment period, prior to the scheduled maturities or disposition of the subject
AUM.
Termination of these agreements would negatively affect the fees we earn from the relevant funds, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations.
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We may not be able to maintain our current fee structure as a result of industry pressure from fund investors to reduce
fees, which could have an adverse effect on our profit margins and results of operations.
We may not be able to maintain our current fee structure as a result of industry pressure from fund investors to reduce
fees. Although our investment management fees vary among and within asset classes, historically we have competed primarily on
the basis of our performance and not on the level of our investment management fees relative to those of our competitors. In recent
years, however, there has been a general trend toward lower fees in the investment management industry. In September 2009, the
Institutional Limited Partners Association published a set of Private Equity Principles (the “Principles”), which were revised in
January 2011. The Principles were developed to encourage discussion between limited partners and general partners regarding
private equity fund partnership terms. Certain of the Principles call for enhanced “alignment of interests” between general partners
and limited partners through modifications of some of the terms of fund arrangements, including proposed guidelines for fees and
performance income structures. Although we have no obligation to modify any of our fees with respect to our existing funds, we
may experience pressure to do so in our funds. More recently institutional investors have been allocating increasing amounts of
capital to alternative investment strategies as well as attempting to reduce management and investment fees to external managers,
whether through direct reductions, deferrals or rebates. We cannot assure you that we will succeed in providing investment returns
and service that will allow us to maintain our current fee structure. For example, on December 3, 2015, we agreed to reduce our
fees from MCC and beginning January 1, 2016, the base management fee from MCC was reduced to 1.50% on gross assets above
$1 billion. In addition, we reduced our incentive fee from MCC from 20% on pre-incentive fee net investment income over an 8%
hurdle, to 17.5% on pre-incentive fee net investment income over a 6% hurdle and introduced a netting mechanism and incentive
fee income will be subject to a rolling three-year look back. Under no circumstances will our recently implemented fee structure
result in higher fees from MCC than fees under the current investment management agreement. Fee reductions on existing or future
new business could have an adverse effect on our profit margins and results of operations. For more information about our fees,
see “Business - Fee Structure.”
A change of control of us could result in termination of our investment advisory agreements.
Pursuant to the Investment Company Act, each of the investment advisory agreements for the BDCs that we advise
automatically terminates upon its deemed “assignment” and a BDC’s board and shareholders must approve a new agreement in
order for us to continue to act as its investment adviser. In addition, pursuant to the Investment Advisers Act, each of our investment
advisory agreements for the separate accounts we manage may not be “assigned” without the consent of the client. A sale of a
controlling block of our voting securities and certain other transactions would be deemed an “assignment” pursuant to both the
Investment Company Act and the Investment Advisers Act. Such an assignment may be deemed to occur in the event that our preIPO owners dispose of enough of their interests in us such that they no longer own a controlling interest in us. If such a deemed
assignment occurs, there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain the necessary consents from clients whose funds are
managed pursuant to separate accounts or the necessary approvals from the boards and shareholders of the SEC-registered BDCs
that we advise. An assignment, actual or constructive, would trigger these termination and consent provisions and, unless the
necessary approvals and consents are obtained, could adversely affect our ability to continue managing client accounts, resulting
in the loss of assets under management and a corresponding loss of revenue.
The historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds
or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our Class A common stock.
The historical performance of our funds is relevant to us primarily insofar as it is indicative of fees we have earned in the
past and may earn in the future and our reputation and ability to raise new funds. The historical and potential returns of the funds
we advise are not, however, directly linked to returns on our Class A common stock. Therefore, you should not conclude that
positive performance of the funds we advise will necessarily result in positive returns on an investment in Class A common stock.
However, poor performance of the funds we advise could cause a decline in our revenues and could therefore have a negative
effect on our operating results and returns on our Class A common stock. An investment in our Class A common stock is not an
investment in any of our funds. Also, there is no assurance that projections in respect of our funds or unrealized valuations will
be realized.
Moreover, the historical returns of our funds should not be considered indicative of the future returns of these funds or
from any future funds we may raise, in part because:
•

market conditions during previous periods may have been significantly more favorable for generating positive
performance than the market conditions we may experience in the future;
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•

our funds’ rates of returns, which are calculated on the basis of NAV of the funds’ investments, including unrealized
gains, which may never be realized;

•

our funds’ returns have previously benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may
not recur, and our funds may not be able to achieve the same returns or profitable investment opportunities or deploy
capital as quickly;

•

the historical returns that we present in this Form 10-K derive largely from the performance of our earlier funds,
whereas future fund returns will depend increasingly on the performance of our newer funds or funds not yet formed,
which may have little or no realized investment track record;

•

you will not benefit from any value that was created in our funds prior to our becoming a public company if such
value was previously realized;

•

in recent years, there has been increased competition for investment opportunities resulting from the increased amount
of capital invested in alternative funds and high liquidity in debt markets, and the increased competition for investments
may reduce our returns in the future; and

•

our newly established funds may generate lower returns during the period that they take to deploy their capital.

The future internal rate of return for any current or future fund may vary considerably from the historical internal rate of
return generated by any particular fund, or for our funds as a whole. Future returns will also be affected by the risks described in
this Form 10-K, including risks of the industries and business in which a particular fund invests.
If we are unable to consummate or successfully integrate development opportunities, acquisitions or joint ventures,
we may not be able to implement our growth strategy successfully.
Our growth strategy may include the selective development or acquisition of other asset management businesses, advisory
businesses or other businesses or financial products complementary to our business where we think we can add substantial value
or generate substantial returns. The success of this strategy will depend on, among other things: (a) the availability of suitable
opportunities, (b) the level of competition from other companies that may have greater financial resources, (c) our ability to value
potential development or acquisition opportunities accurately and negotiate acceptable terms for those opportunities, (d) our ability
to obtain requisite approvals and licenses from the relevant governmental authorities and to comply with applicable laws and
regulations without incurring undue costs and delays, (e) our ability to identify and enter into mutually beneficial relationships
with venture partners and (f) our ability to properly manage conflicts of interest. Moreover, even if we are able to identify and
successfully complete an acquisition, we may encounter unexpected difficulties or incur unexpected costs associated with
integrating and overseeing the operations of the new business or activities. If we are not successful in implementing our growth
strategy, our business, results of operations and the market price for our Class A common stock may be adversely affected.
We depend on third-party distribution sources to market our investment strategies.
Our ability to grow our AUM, particularly with respect to our BDCs, is dependent on access to third-party intermediaries,
including investment banks, broker dealers and RIAs. We cannot assure you that these intermediaries will continue to be accessible
to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. In addition, pension fund consultants may review and evaluate our institutional
products and our firm from time to time. Poor reviews or evaluations of either a particular product, or of us, may result in institutional
client withdrawals or may impair our ability to attract new assets through these consultants.
An investment strategy focused primarily on privately held companies presents certain challenges, including the lack
of available information about these companies.
Our funds have historically invested primarily in privately held companies. Investments in private companies pose certain
incremental risks as compared to investments in public companies including that private companies:
•

have reduced access to the capital markets, resulting in diminished capital resources and ability to withstand financial
distress;
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•

may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their obligations under debt that we hold, which
may be accompanied by a deterioration in the value of any collateral and a reduction in the likelihood of us
realizing any guarantees we may have obtained in connection with our investment;

•

may have shorter operating histories, narrower product lines and smaller market shares than larger business, which
tend to render them more vulnerable to competitors’ actions and changing market conditions, as well as general
economic downturns;

•

are more likely to depend on the management talents and efforts of a small group of persons; therefore, the death,
disability, resignation or termination of one or more of these persons could have a material adverse impact on our
investee company and, in turn, on us; and

•

generally have less predictable operating results, may from time to time be parties to litigation, may be engaged in
rapidly changing business with products subject to a substantial risk of obsolescence, and may require substantial
additional capital to support their operations, finance expansion or maintain their competitive position. In addition,
our executive officers, directors or employees may, in the ordinary course of business, be named as defendants in
litigation arising from our funds’ investments in investee companies.

Finally, limited public information generally exists about private companies and these companies may not have thirdparty debt ratings or audited financial statements. We must therefore rely on the ability of our funds’ advisors to obtain adequate
information through due diligence to evaluate the creditworthiness and potential returns from investing in these companies.
Additionally, these companies and their financial information will not generally be subject to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other
rules that govern public companies. If we are unable to uncover all material information about these companies, our funds may
lose money on such investments.
Our funds’ investments in investee companies may be risky, and our funds could lose all or part of their investments.
Our funds pursue strategies focused on investing primarily in the debt of privately owned U.S. companies.
Senior Secured Debt and Second Lien Secured Debt. When our funds invest in senior secured term debt and second lien
secured debt, our funds will generally take a security interest in the available assets of these investee companies, including the
equity interests of their subsidiaries. There is a risk that the collateral securing such investments may decrease in value over time
or lose its entire value, may be difficult to sell in a timely manner, may be difficult to appraise and may fluctuate in value based
upon the success of the business and market conditions, including as a result of the inability of the investee company to raise
additional capital. Also, in some circumstances, our security interest could be subordinated to claims of other creditors. In addition,
deterioration in an investee company’s financial condition and prospects, including its inability to raise additional capital, may be
accompanied by deterioration in the value of the collateral for the debt. Consequently, the fact that debt is secured does not guarantee
that we will receive principal and interest payments according to the investment terms, or at all, or that we will be able to collect
on the investment should we be forced to enforce our remedies.
Senior Unsecured Debt. Our funds may also make unsecured debt investments in investee companies, meaning that
such investments will not benefit from any interest in collateral of such companies.
Subordinated Debt. Our subordinated debt investments will generally be subordinated to senior debt and will generally
be unsecured. This may result in a heightened level of risk and volatility or a loss of principal, which could lead to the loss of the
entire investment. These investments may involve additional risks that could adversely affect our investment returns. To the extent
interest payments associated with such debt are deferred, such debt may be subject to greater fluctuations in valuations, and such
debt could subject our funds to non-cash income. Since the applicable fund would not receive any principal repayments prior to
the maturity of some of our subordinated debt investments, such investments will be of greater risk than amortizing loans.
Equity Investments. Certain of our funds make selected equity investments. In addition, when our funds invest in senior
and subordinated debt, they may acquire warrants or options to purchase equity securities or benefit from other types of equity
participation. Our goal is ultimately to dispose of these equity interests and realize gains upon our disposition of such interests.
However, the equity interests our funds receive may not appreciate in value and, in fact, may decline in value. Accordingly, our
funds may not be able to realize gains from such equity interests, and any gains that our funds do realize on the disposition of any
equity interests may not be sufficient to offset any other losses our funds experience.
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Most loans in which our funds invest will not be rated by any rating agency and, if they were rated, they would be rated
as below investment grade quality. Loans rated below investment grade quality are generally regarded as having predominantly
speculative characteristics and may carry a greater risk with respect to a borrower’s capacity to pay interest and repay principal.
From time to time, our funds, in the past, and may in the future, lose some or all of their investment in an investee company.
Prepayments of debt investments by our investee companies could adversely impact our results of operations.
We are subject to the risk that the investments our funds make in investee companies may be repaid prior to maturity.
When this occurs, our BDCs will generally use such proceeds to reduce their existing borrowings and our private funds will
generally return such capital to its investors, which capital may be recalled at a later date pursuant to such fund’s governing
documents. With respect to our SMAs, if such event occurs after the investment period, such capital will be returned to investors.
Any future investment in a new investee company may also be at lower yields than the debt that was repaid. As a result, the results
of operations of the affected fund could be materially adversely affected if one or more investee companies elect to prepay amounts
owed to such fund, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
Our funds’ investee companies may incur debt that ranks equally with, or senior to, our funds’ investments in such
companies.
Our funds pursue a strategy focused on investing primarily in the debt of privately owned U.S. companies. Our funds’
investee companies may have, or may be permitted to incur, other debt that ranks equally with, or senior to, the debt in which our
funds invest. By their terms, such debt instruments may entitle the holders to receive payment of interest or principal on or before
the dates on which we are entitled to receive payments with respect to the debt instruments in which our funds invest. Also, in the
event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of an investee company, holders of debt instruments
ranking senior to our funds’ investment in that investee company would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before we
receive any distribution. After repaying such senior creditors, such investee company may not have any remaining assets to use
for repaying its obligation to our funds. In the case of debt ranking equally with debt instruments in which our funds invest, our
funds would have to share on an equal basis any distributions with other creditors holding such debt in the event of an insolvency,
liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of the relevant investee company.
Subordinated liens on collateral securing loans that our funds make to their investee companies may be subject to
control by senior creditors with first priority liens. If there is a default, the value of the collateral may not be sufficient to repay
in full both the first priority creditors and our funds.
Certain debt investments that our funds make in investee companies are secured on a second priority basis by the same
collateral securing senior secured debt of such companies. The first priority liens on the collateral will secure the investee company’s
obligations under any outstanding senior debt and may secure certain other future debt that may be permitted to be incurred by
the company under the agreements governing the debt. The holders of obligations secured by the first priority liens on the collateral
will generally control the liquidation of and be entitled to receive proceeds from any realization of the collateral to repay their
obligations in full before our funds. In addition, the value of the collateral in the event of liquidation will depend on market and
economic conditions, the availability of buyers and other factors. There can be no assurance that the proceeds, if any, from the
sale or sales of all of the collateral would be sufficient to satisfy the debt obligations secured by the second priority liens after
payment in full of all obligations secured by the first priority liens on the collateral. If such proceeds are not sufficient to repay
amounts outstanding under the debt obligations secured by the second priority liens, then our funds, to the extent not repaid from
the proceeds of the sale of the collateral, will only have an unsecured claim against the investee company’s remaining assets, if
any.
Our funds may also make unsecured debt investments in investee companies, meaning that such investments will not
benefit from any interest in collateral of such companies. Liens on such investee companies’ collateral, if any, will secure the
investee company’s obligations under its outstanding secured debt and may secure certain future debt that is permitted to be incurred
by the investee company under its secured debt agreements. The holders of obligations secured by such liens will generally control
the liquidation of, and be entitled to receive proceeds from, any realization of such collateral to repay their obligations in full before
us. In addition, the value of such collateral in the event of liquidation will depend on market and economic conditions, the availability
of buyers and other factors. There can be no assurance that the proceeds, if any, from sales of such collateral would be sufficient
to satisfy our unsecured debt obligations after payment in full of all secured debt obligations. If such proceeds were not sufficient
to repay the outstanding secured debt obligations, then our unsecured claims would rank equally with the unpaid portion of such
secured creditors’ claims against the investee company’s remaining assets, if any.
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The rights our funds may have with respect to the collateral securing the debt investments our funds make in their investee
companies with senior debt outstanding may also be limited pursuant to the terms of one or more intercreditor agreements that
our funds enter into with the holders of senior secured debt. Under such an intercreditor agreement, at any time that obligations
that have the benefit of the first priority liens are outstanding, any of the following actions that may be taken in respect of the
collateral will be at the discretion of the holders of the obligations secured by the first priority liens: the ability to cause the
commencement of enforcement proceedings against the collateral; the ability to control the conduct of such proceedings; the
approval of amendments to collateral documents; releases of liens on the collateral; and waivers of past defaults under collateral
documents. Our funds may not have the ability to control or direct such actions, even if their rights are adversely affected.
There may be circumstances where our funds’ debt investments could be subordinated to claims of other creditors or
our funds could be subject to lender liability claims.
If one of our investee companies were to go bankrupt, depending on the facts and circumstances, including the extent to
which our funds actually provided managerial assistance to that investee company or a representative of us sat on the board of
directors of such investee company, a bankruptcy court might recharacterize our funds’ debt investment and subordinate all or a
portion of our funds’ claim to that of other creditors. In situations where a bankruptcy carries a high degree of political significance,
our funds’ legal rights may be subordinated to other creditors.
In addition, lenders in certain cases can be subject to lender liability claims for actions taken by them when they become
too involved in the borrower’s business or exercise control over a borrower. It is possible that we or our funds could become subject
to a lender’s liability claim, including as a result of actions taken if we or our funds render significant managerial assistance to,
or exercise control or influence over the board of directors of, the borrower.
Our funds may not have the resources or ability to make additional investments in our investee companies.
After an initial investment in an investee company, our funds may be called upon from time to time to provide additional
funds to such company or have the opportunity to increase their investment through the exercise of a warrant or other right to
purchase common stock. There is no assurance that the applicable fund will make, or will have sufficient resources to make, followon investments. Even if such fund has sufficient capital to make a desired follow-on investment, we may elect not to make a followon investment because we may not want to increase our level of risk, we prefer other opportunities or we are limited in our ability
to do so by compliance with BDC requirements or maintaining RIC status, if applicable. Any decisions not to make a follow-on
investment or any inability on our part to make such an investment may have a negative impact on an investee company in need
of such an investment, may result in a missed opportunity for us to increase our participation in a successful operation or may
reduce the expected return on the investment.
Economic recessions or downturns could impair our investee companies and harm our operating results.
Many of our investee companies are susceptible to economic slowdowns or recessions and may be unable to repay our
funds’ debt investments during these periods. Therefore, our funds’ non-performing assets are likely to increase, and the value of
our funds’ portfolios are likely to decrease during these periods. Adverse economic conditions may also decrease the value of any
collateral securing our senior secured or second lien secured debt. A severe recession may further decrease the value of such
collateral and result in losses of value in such portfolios. Unfavorable economic conditions also could increase our funding costs,
limit our access to the capital markets or result in a decision by lenders not to extend credit to us on terms we deem acceptable.
Occurrence of any of these events could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
A covenant breach by our investee companies may harm our operating results.
An investee company’s failure to satisfy financial or operating covenants imposed by us or other lenders could lead to
defaults and, potentially, termination of its debt and foreclosure on its secured assets, which could trigger cross-defaults under
other agreements and jeopardize an investee company’s ability to meet its obligations under the debt or equity instruments that
our funds hold. Our funds may incur expenses to the extent necessary to seek recovery upon default or to negotiate new terms,
which may include the waiver of certain financial covenants, with a defaulting investee company. To the extent our funds incur
additional costs and/or do not recover their investments in investee companies, we may earn reduced management and incentive
fees, which may adversely affect our results of operations.
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The investment management business is competitive.
The investment management business is competitive, with competition based on a variety of factors, including investment
performance, business relationships, quality of service provided to investors, investor liquidity and willingness to invest, fund
terms (including fees), brand recognition and business reputation. We compete for investors with a number of other investment
managers, public and private funds, BDCs, small business investment companies and others. Numerous factors increase our
competitive risks, including:
•

a number of our competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and more personnel
than we do;

•

some of our funds may not perform as well as competitors’ funds or other available investment products;

•

several of our competitors have raised significant amounts of capital, and many of them have similar investment
objectives to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities and may reduce the size
and duration of pricing inefficiencies that otherwise could be exploited;

•

some of our competitors may have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to us,
which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to our funds;

•

some of our competitors may be subject to less regulation and, accordingly, may have more flexibility to
undertake and execute certain business or investments than we do and/or bear less compliance expense than we
do;

•

some of our competitors may have more flexibility than we have in raising certain types of funds under the investment
management contracts they have negotiated with their investors;

•

some of our competitors may have better expertise or be regarded by investors as having better expertise in a specific
asset class or geographic region than we do; and

•

other industry participants may, from time to time, seek to recruit our investment professionals and other employees
away from us.

In addition, the attractiveness of our funds relative to investments in other investment products could decrease depending
on economic conditions. This competitive pressure could adversely affect our ability to make successful investments and limit our
ability to raise future funds, either of which would adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our funds operate in a competitive market for lending that has recently intensified, and competition may limit our
funds’ ability to originate or acquire desirable loans and investments and could also affect the yields of these assets and have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our funds operate in a competitive market for lending that has recently intensified. Our profitability depends, in large
part, on our funds’ ability to originate or acquire credit investments on attractive terms. In originating or acquiring our target credit
investments, we compete with a variety of institutional lenders and investors, including specialty finance companies, public and
private funds, commercial and investment banks, BDCs, small business investment companies, REITs, commercial finance and
insurance companies and others. Some competitors may have a lower cost of funds and access to funding sources that are not
available to us, such as the U.S. government. Many of our competitors or their funds are not subject to the operating constraints
associated with qualifying as a RIC under subchapter M of the Code or compliance with the Investment Company Act. In addition,
some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider
variety of investments, offer more attractive pricing, transaction structures, covenants or other terms and establish more relationships
than us. Furthermore, competition for originations of and investments in our target assets may lead to the yields of such assets
decreasing, which may further limit our ability to generate satisfactory returns. Also, as a result of this competition, desirable loans
and investments may be limited in the future and our funds may not be able to take advantage of attractive lending and investment
opportunities from time to time, thereby limiting their ability to identify and originate loans or make investments that are consistent
with their investment objectives. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures our funds face will not have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Dependence on leverage by certain of our funds and by our funds’ investee companies subjects us to volatility and
contractions in the debt financing markets and could adversely affect our ability to achieve attractive rates of return on those
investments.
MCC, SIC and our funds’ investee companies rely on the use of leverage, and our ability to achieve attractive rates of
return on investments will depend on our ability to access sufficient sources of indebtedness at attractive rates. While our permanent
capital vehicles, MCC and SIC, are our only funds that currently rely on the use of leverage, certain of our other funds may in the
future rely on the use of leverage. If our funds or the companies in which our funds invest raise capital in the structured credit,
leveraged loan and high yield bond markets, the results of their operations may suffer if such markets experience dislocations,
contractions or volatility. Any such events could adversely impact the availability of credit to business generally and could lead
to an overall weakening of the U.S. and global economies. Any economic downturn could adversely affect the financial resources
of our funds and their investments (in particular those investments that depend on credit from third parties or that otherwise
participate in the credit markets) and their ability to make principal and interest payments on, or refinance, outstanding debt when
due. Moreover, these events could affect the terms of available debt financing with, for example, higher rates, higher equity
requirements and/or more restrictive covenants.
The absence of available sources of sufficient debt financing for extended periods of time or an increase in either the
general levels of interest rates or in the risk spread demanded by sources of indebtedness would make it more expensive to finance
those investments. Certain investments may also be financed through borrowings on fund-level debt facilities, which may or may
not be available for a refinancing at the end of their respective terms. Finally, the interest payments on the indebtedness used to
finance our funds’ investments are generally deductible expenses for income tax purposes, subject to limitations under applicable
tax law and policy. Any change in such tax law or policy to eliminate or substantially limit these income tax deductions, as has
been discussed from time to time in various jurisdictions, would reduce the after-tax rates of return on the affected investments,
which may have an adverse impact on our business and financial results.
Similarly, our funds’ investee companies regularly utilize the corporate debt markets to obtain additional financing for
their operations. Our investee companies are typically highly leveraged. Those that have credit ratings are typically non-investment
grade and those that do not have credit ratings would likely be non-investment grade if they were rated. If the credit markets render
such financing difficult to obtain or more expensive, this may negatively impact the operating performance of those investee
companies and, therefore, the investment returns of our funds. In addition, if the markets make it difficult or impossible to refinance
debt that is maturing in the near term, some of our investee companies may be unable to repay such debt at maturity and may be
forced to sell assets, undergo a recapitalization or seek bankruptcy protection. Any of the foregoing circumstances could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our funds may choose to use leverage as part of their respective investment programs. As of December 31, 2016, MCC
and SIC were our only funds that relied on leverage. As of December 31, 2016, MCC had a NAV of $511.3 million, $1.3 billion
of AUM and an asset coverage ratio of 238%. As of December 31, 2016, SIC had a NAV of $773.1 million, $1.2 billion of AUM
and an asset coverage ratio of 248%. The use of leverage poses a significant degree of risk and enhances the possibility of a
significant loss to investors. A fund may borrow money from time to time to make investments or may enter into derivative
transactions with counterparties that have embedded leverage. The interest expense and other costs incurred in connection with
such borrowing may not be recovered by returns on such investments and may be lost, and the timing and magnitude of such losses
may be accelerated or exacerbated, in the event of a decline in the market value of such investments. Gains realized with borrowed
funds may cause the fund’s NAV to increase at a faster rate than would be the case without borrowings. However, if investment
results fail to cover the cost of borrowings, the fund’s NAV could also decrease faster than if there had been no borrowings. In
addition, as BDCs registered under the Investment Company Act, MCC and SIC are each permitted to issue senior securities in
amounts such that its asset coverage ratio equals at least 200% after each issuance of senior securities. Each of MCC’s and SIC’s
ability to pay dividends will be restricted if its asset coverage ratio falls below at least 200% and any amounts that it uses to service
its indebtedness are not available for dividends to its common stockholders. An increase in interest rates could also decrease the
value of fixed-rate debt investments that our funds make. Any of the foregoing circumstances could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Some of our funds may invest in companies that are highly leveraged, which may increase the risk of loss associated
with those investments.
Some of our funds may invest in companies whose capital structures involve significant leverage. For example, in many
non-distressed private equity investments, indebtedness may be as much as 75% or more of an investee company’s total debt and
equity capitalization, including debt that may be incurred in connection with the investment, whether incurred at or above the
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investment-level entity. In distressed situations, indebtedness may exceed 100% or more of an investee company’s capitalization.
Additionally, the debt positions originated or acquired by our funds may be the most junior in what could be a complex capital
structure, and thus subject us to the greatest risk of loss.
Investments in highly leveraged entities are also inherently more sensitive to declines in revenues, increases in expenses
and interest rates and adverse economic, market and industry developments.
Furthermore, the incurrence of a significant amount of indebtedness by an entity could, among other things:
•

subject the entity to a number of restrictive covenants, terms and conditions, any violation of which could be viewed
by creditors as an event of default and could materially impact our funds’ ability to realize value from the investment;

•

allow even moderate reductions in operating cash flow to render the entity unable to service its indebtedness, leading
to a bankruptcy or other reorganization of the entity and a loss of part or all of our funds’ equity investment in it;

•

give rise to an obligation to make mandatory prepayments of debt using excess cash flow, which might limit the
entity’s ability to respond to changing industry conditions if additional cash is needed for the response, to make
unplanned but necessary capital expenditures or to take advantage of growth opportunities;

•

limit the entity’s ability to adjust to changing market conditions, thereby placing it at a competitive disadvantage
compared to its competitors that have relatively less debt;

•

limit the entity’s ability to engage in strategic acquisitions that might be necessary to generate attractive returns or
further growth; and

•

limit the entity’s ability to obtain additional financing or increase the cost of obtaining such financing, including for
capital expenditures, working capital or other general corporate purposes.

As a result, the risk of loss associated with a leveraged entity is generally greater than for companies with comparatively
less debt. For example, a number of investments consummated by private equity sponsors during 2005, 2006 and 2007 that utilized
significant amounts of leverage subsequently experienced severe economic stress and, in certain cases, defaulted on their debt
obligations due to a decrease in revenues and cash flows precipitated by the subsequent economic downturn during 2008 and 2009.
We generally do not control the business operations of our investee companies and, due to the illiquid nature of our
investments, may not be able to dispose of such investments.
Investments by our funds generally consist of debt instruments and equity securities of companies that we do not control.
We do not expect to control most of our investee companies, even though we may have board representation or board observation
rights, and our debt agreements may impose certain restrictive covenants on our borrowers. As a result, we are subject to the risk
that an investee company in which our funds invest may make business decisions with which we disagree and the management
of such company, as representatives of the holders of their common equity, may take risks or otherwise act in ways that do not
serve our interests as debt investors. Due to the lack of liquidity for our investments in private companies, we may not be able to
dispose of our interests in our investee companies as readily as we would like or at an appropriate valuation. As a result, an investee
company may make decisions that could decrease the value of our investment holdings.
A substantial portion of our investments may be recorded at fair value as determined in good faith by or under the
direction of our respective funds’ boards of directors or similar bodies and, as a result, there may be uncertainty regarding the
value of our funds’ investments.
The debt and equity instruments in which our funds invest for which market quotations are not readily available will be
valued at fair value as determined in good faith by or under the direction of such fund’s board of directors or similar body. Most,
if not all, of our funds' investments (other than cash and cash equivalents) are classified as Level III under Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820 - Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. This means that our funds’ portfolio valuations will
be based on unobservable inputs and our funds’ assumptions about how market participants would price the asset or liability in
question. We expect that inputs into the determination of fair value of our funds’ portfolio investments will require significant
management judgment or estimation. Even if observable market data were available, such information may be the result of consensus
pricing information or broker quotes, which include a disclaimer that the broker would not be held to such a price in an actual
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transaction. The non-binding nature of consensus pricing and/or quotes accompanied by disclaimers materially reduces the
reliability of such information. Our funds retain the services of an independent service provider to review the valuation of these
loans and securities.
The types of factors that the board of directors, general partner or similar body may take into account in determining the
fair value of a fund’s investments generally include, as appropriate, comparison to publicly traded securities including such factors
as yield, maturity and measures of credit quality, the enterprise value of an investee company, the nature and realizable value of
any collateral, the investee company’s ability to make payments and its earnings and discounted cash flow, the markets in which
the investee company does business and other relevant factors. Because such valuations, and particularly valuations of private
securities and private companies, are inherently uncertain, may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on estimates,
our determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if a ready market for these loans
and securities existed. Our funds’ NAV could be adversely affected if determinations regarding the fair value of such funds’
investments were materially higher than the values that such funds’ ultimately realize upon the disposal of such loans and securities.
We may need to pay “clawback” obligations if and when they are triggered under the governing agreements with
respect to certain of our funds and SMAs.
Generally, if at the termination of a fund (and sometimes at interim points in the life of a fund), the fund has not achieved
investment returns that (in most cases) exceed the preferred return threshold or (in all cases) the general partner receives net profits
over the life of the fund in excess of its allocable share under the applicable partnership agreement, we will be obligated to repay
an amount equal to the extent to which carried interest that was previously distributed to us exceeds the amounts to which we are
ultimately entitled. These repayment obligations may correspond to amounts previously distributed to our senior professionals
prior to our IPO, with respect to which our Class A common stockholders did not receive any benefit. This obligation is known
as a “clawback” obligation. Medley had not received any distributions of performance fees through December 31, 2016, other
than tax distributions, a portion of which is subject to clawback. As of December 31, 2016, we recorded a $7.1 million clawback
obligation that would need to be paid if the funds were liquidated at fair value as of the end of the reporting period. Had we assumed
all existing investments were worthless as of December 31, 2016, there would be no additional amounts subject to clawback.
Although a clawback obligation is several to each person who received a distribution, and not a joint obligation, the
governing agreements of our funds generally provide that, if a recipient does not fund his or her respective share, we may have to
fund such additional amounts beyond the amount of carried interest we retained, although we generally will retain the right to
pursue remedies against those carried interest recipients who fail to fund their obligations. We may need to use or reserve cash to
repay such clawback obligations instead of using the cash for other purposes. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Contingent Obligations.”
Our funds may face risks relating to undiversified investments.
While diversification is generally an objective of our funds, there can be no assurance as to the degree of diversification,
if any, that will be achieved in any fund investments. Difficult market conditions or slowdowns affecting a particular asset class,
geographic region or other category of investment could have a significant adverse impact on a fund if its investments are
concentrated in that area, which would result in lower investment returns. This lack of diversification may expose a fund to losses
disproportionate to economic conditions or market declines in general if there are disproportionately greater adverse movements
in the particular investments. If a fund holds investments concentrated in a particular issuer, security, asset class or geographic
region, such fund may be more susceptible than a more widely diversified investment portfolio to the negative consequences of a
single corporate, economic, political or regulatory event. Accordingly, a lack of diversification on the part of a fund could adversely
affect a fund’s performance and, as a result, our results of operations and financial condition.
Third-party investors in our private funds may not satisfy their contractual obligation to fund capital calls when
requested, which could adversely affect a fund’s operations and performance.
Investors in our private funds make capital commitments to those funds that we are entitled to call from those investors
at any time during prescribed periods. We depend on investors fulfilling and honoring their commitments when we call capital
from them for those funds to consummate investments and otherwise pay their obligations when due. Any investor that did not
fund a capital call would be subject to several possible penalties, including having a meaningful amount of its existing investment
forfeited in that fund. However, the impact of the penalty is directly correlated to the amount of capital previously invested by the
investor in the fund and if an investor has invested little or no capital, for instance early in the life of the fund, then the forfeiture
penalty may not be as meaningful. Investors may also negotiate for lesser or reduced penalties at the outset of the fund, thereby
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limiting our ability to enforce the funding of a capital call. Third-party investors in private funds often use distributions from prior
investments to meet future capital calls. In cases where valuations of existing investments fall and the pace of distributions slows,
investors may be unable to make new commitments to third-party managed investment funds such as those advised by us. A failure
of investors to honor a significant amount of capital calls for any particular fund or funds could have a material adverse effect on
the operation and performance of those funds.
Our funds may be forced to dispose of investments at a disadvantageous time.
Our funds may make investments that they do not advantageously dispose of prior to the date the applicable fund is
dissolved, either by expiration of such fund’s term or otherwise. Although we generally expect that investments will be disposed
of prior to dissolution or be suitable for in-kind distribution at dissolution, and the general partners of the funds have only a limited
ability to extend the term of the fund with the consent of fund investors or the advisory board of the fund, as applicable, our funds
may have to sell, distribute or otherwise dispose of investments at a disadvantageous time as a result of dissolution. This would
result in a lower than expected return on the investments and, perhaps, on the fund itself.
Hedging strategies may adversely affect the returns on our funds’ investments.
When managing our exposure to market risks, we may (on our own behalf or on behalf of our funds) from time to time
use forward contracts, options, swaps (including total return swaps), caps, collars, floors, foreign currency forward contracts,
currency swap agreements, currency option contracts or other strategies. The success of any hedging or other derivative transactions
generally will depend on our ability to correctly predict market or foreign exchange changes, the degree of correlation between
price movements of a derivative instrument and the position being hedged, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and other
factors. As a result, while we may enter into a transaction to reduce our or a fund’s exposure to market risks, the transaction may
result in poorer overall investment performance than if it had not been executed. Such transactions may also limit the opportunity
for gain if the value of a hedged position increases.
While such hedging arrangements may reduce certain risks, such arrangements themselves may entail certain other risks.
These arrangements may require the posting of cash collateral at a time when we or a fund has insufficient cash or illiquid assets
such that the posting of the cash is either impossible or requires the sale of assets at prices that do not reflect their underlying value.
Moreover, these hedging arrangements may generate significant transaction costs, including potential tax costs, that may reduce
the returns generated by a fund. Finally, the CFTC has made several public statements that it may soon issue a proposal for certain
foreign exchange products to be subject to mandatory clearing, which could increase the cost of entering into currency hedges.
Our business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital from investors. If we were unable to raise such capital,
we would be unable to collect management fees or deploy such capital into investments, which would materially and adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our ability to raise capital from investors depends on a number of factors, including many that are outside our control.
Investors may downsize their investment allocations to credit focused private funds or BDCs or to rebalance a disproportionate
weighting of their overall investment portfolio among asset classes. Poor performance of our funds could also make it more difficult
for us to raise new capital. Our investors and potential investors continually assess our funds’ performance independently and
relative to market benchmarks and our competitors, and our ability to raise capital for existing and future funds depends on our
funds’ performance. If economic and market conditions deteriorate, we may be unable to raise sufficient amounts of capital to
support the investment activities of future funds. If we were unable to successfully raise capital, our business, results of operations
and financial condition would be adversely affected.
We depend on our senior management team, senior investment professionals and other key personnel, and our ability
to retain them and attract additional qualified personnel is critical to our success and our growth prospects.
We depend on the diligence, skill, judgment, business contacts and personal reputations of our senior management team,
including Brook Taube and Seth Taube, our co-Chief Executive Officers, senior investment professionals and other key personnel.
Our future success will depend upon our ability to retain our senior professionals and other key personnel and our ability to recruit
additional qualified personnel. These individuals possess substantial experience and expertise in investing, are responsible for
locating and executing our funds’ investments, have significant relationships with the institutions that are the source of many of
our funds’ investment opportunities and, in certain cases, have strong relationships with our investors. Therefore, if any of our
senior professionals or other key personnel join competitors or form competing companies, it could result in the loss of significant
investment opportunities and certain existing investors.
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The departure for any reason of any of our senior professionals could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
achieve our investment objectives, cause certain of our investors to withdraw capital they invest with us or elect not to commit
additional capital to our funds or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business and our prospects. The departure of
some or all of those individuals could also trigger certain “key man” provisions in the documentation governing certain of our
funds, which would permit the investors in those funds to suspend or terminate such funds’ investment periods or, in the case of
certain funds, permit investors to withdraw their capital prior to expiration of the applicable lock-up date. We do not carry any
“key man” insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the event of the death or disability of any of our senior professionals,
and we do not have a policy that prohibits our senior professionals from traveling together.
We anticipate that it will be necessary for us to add investment professionals both to grow our business and to replace
those who depart. However, the market for qualified investment professionals is extremely competitive and we may not succeed
in recruiting additional personnel or we may fail to effectively replace current personnel who depart with qualified or effective
successors. Our efforts to retain and attract investment professionals may also result in significant additional expenses, which
could adversely affect our profitability or result in an increase in the portion of our performance fees that we grant to our investment
professionals.
Our failure to appropriately address conflicts of interest could damage our reputation and adversely affect our business.
As we have expanded and as we continue to expand the number and scope of our business, we increasingly confront
potential conflicts of interest relating to our funds’ investment activities. Certain of our funds may have overlapping investment
objectives, including funds that have different fee structures, and potential conflicts may arise with respect to our decisions regarding
how to allocate investment opportunities among those funds. For example, a decision to receive material non-public information
about a company while pursuing an investment opportunity for a particular fund gives rise to a potential conflict of interest when
it results in our having to restrict the ability of other funds to take any action.
In most cases, Medley is permitted to co-invest among our private funds, our SMAs, our public business development
companies and other advisory clients pursuant to an exemptive order issued by the SEC. We have adopted an order aggregation
and trade allocation policy designed to ensure that all of our clients are treated fairly and to prevent this form of conflict from
influencing the allocation of investment opportunities among clients. Allocations will generally be made pro rata principally based
on each fund or advisory client's capital available for investment. It is Medley's policy to base its determinations as to the amounts
of capital available for investment on such factors as: the amount of cash on hand, existing capital commitments and reserves, if
any, the targeted leverage level, the targeted asset mix and diversification requirements and other investment policies and restrictions
or otherwise imposed by applicable laws, rules, regulations or interpretations.
We may also cause different funds to invest in a single investee company, for example, where the fund that made an initial
investment no longer has capital available to invest. We may also cause different funds that we advise to purchase different classes
of investments or securities in the same investee company. For example, certain of our funds hold minority equity interests, or
have the right to acquire such equity interests, in some of our investee companies. As a result, we may face conflicts of interests
in connection with making business decisions for these investee companies to the extent that such decisions affect the debt and
equity holders in these investee companies differently. In addition, we may face conflicts of interests in connection with making
investment or other decisions, including granting loan waivers or concessions with respect to these investee companies given that
we also manage private funds that may hold equity interests in these investee companies. In addition, conflicts of interest may
exist in the valuation of our investments and regarding decisions about the allocation of specific investment opportunities among
us and our funds and the allocation of fees and costs among us and our funds. Though we believe we have developed appropriate
policies and procedures to resolve these conflicts, our judgment on any particular allocation could be challenged. If we fail to
appropriately address any such conflicts, it could negatively impact our reputation and ability to raise additional funds and the
willingness of counterparties to do business with us or result in potential litigation against us.
Potential conflicts of interest may arise between our Class A common stockholders and our fund investors.
Our subsidiaries that serve as the investment advisors to, or the general partners of, our funds may have fiduciary duties
and/or contractual obligations to those funds and their investors. As a result, we expect to regularly take actions with respect to
the purchase or sale of investments in our funds, the structuring of investment transactions for the funds or otherwise in a manner
consistent with such duties and obligations but that might at the same time adversely affect our near-term results of operations or
cash flows. This may in turn have an adverse effect on the price of our Class A common stock and/or on the interests of our Class
A common stockholders. Additionally, to the extent we fail to appropriately deal with any such conflicts of interest, it could
negatively impact our reputation and ability to raise additional funds.
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Rapid growth of our business may be difficult to sustain and may place significant demands on our administrative,
operational and financial resources.
Our assets under management have grown significantly in the past and we are pursuing further growth. Our rapid growth
has placed, and planned growth, if successful, will continue to place, significant demands on our legal, compliance, accounting
and operational infrastructure, and has increased expenses associated with all of the foregoing. In addition, we are required to
continuously develop our systems and infrastructure in response to the increasing sophistication of the investment management
market and legal, accounting, regulatory and tax developments. Our future growth will depend in part on our ability to maintain
an operating platform and management system sufficient to address our growth and will require us to incur significant additional
expenses and to commit additional senior management and operational resources. As a result, we face significant challenges:
•

in maintaining adequate financial, regulatory (legal, tax and compliance) and business controls;

•

in implementing new or updated information and financial systems and procedures; and

•

in training, managing and appropriately sizing our work force and other components of our business on a timely and
cost-effective basis.

We may not be able to manage our expanding operations effectively or be able to continue to grow, and any failure to do
so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and control our expenses.
We may enter into new lines of business and expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and business,
each of which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our businesses.
We intend to grow our business by increasing assets under management in existing business and, if market conditions
warrant, by expanding into complementary investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses. Accordingly, we may pursue
growth through acquisitions of other investment management companies, acquisitions of critical business partners or other strategic
initiatives, which may include entering into new lines of business. Attempts to expand our business involve a number of special
risks, including some or all of the following:
•

the required investment of capital and other resources;

•

the assumption of liabilities in any acquired business;

•

the disruption of our ongoing business;

•

entry into markets or lines of business in which we may have limited or no experience;

•

increasing demands on our operational and management systems and controls;

•

compliance with additional regulatory requirements;

•

potential increase in investor concentration; and

•

the broadening of our geographic footprint, increasing the risks associated with conducting operations in certain
foreign jurisdictions where we currently have no presence.

Entry into certain lines of business may subject us to new laws and regulations with which we are not familiar, or from
which we are currently exempt, and may lead to increased litigation and regulatory risk. If a new business does not generate
sufficient revenues or if we are unable to efficiently manage our expanded operations, our results of operations will be adversely
affected. Our strategic initiatives may include joint ventures, in which case we will be subject to additional risks and uncertainties
in that we may be dependent upon, and subject to liability, losses or reputational damage relating to systems, controls and personnel
that are not under our control. Because we have not yet identified these potential new investment strategies, geographic markets
or lines of business, we cannot identify for you all the risks we may face and the potential adverse consequences on us and your
investment that may result from any attempted expansion.
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Extensive regulation affects our activities, increases the cost of doing business and creates the potential for significant
liabilities and penalties that could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Our business is subject to extensive regulation, including periodic examinations, by governmental agencies and selfregulatory organizations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. The SEC oversees the activities of our subsidiaries that are
registered investment advisers under the Investment Advisers Act. In addition, we regularly rely on exemptions from various
requirements of the Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Investment Company
Act, the Commodity Exchange Act and the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These exemptions are
sometimes highly complex and may in certain circumstances depend on compliance by third parties who we do not control. If for
any reason these exemptions were to be revoked or challenged or otherwise become unavailable to us, we could be subject to
regulatory action or third-party claims, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
The SEC has indicated that investment advisers who receive transaction-based compensation for investment banking or
acquisition activities relating to fund investee companies may be required to register as broker-dealers. Specifically, the SEC staff
has noted that if a firm receives fees from a fund investee company in connection with the acquisition, disposition or recapitalization
of such investee company, such activities could raise broker-dealer concerns under applicable regulations related to broker dealers.
If we receive such transaction fees and the SEC takes the position that such activities render us a “broker” under the applicable
rules and regulations of the Exchange Act, we could be subject to additional regulation. If receipt of transaction fees from an
investee company is determined to require a broker-dealer license, receipt of such transaction fees in the past or in the future during
any time when we did not or do not have a broker-dealer license could subject us to liability for fines, penalties, damages or other
remedies.
Since 2010, certain states and other regulatory authorities have begun to require investment managers to register as
lobbyists in connection with their solicitation of commitments from governmental entities, including state and municipal pension
funds. We have registered as such in a number of jurisdictions, including California and New York. Other states or municipalities
may consider similar legislation or adopt regulations or procedures with similar effect. These registration requirements impose
significant compliance obligations and restrictions on registered lobbyists and their employers, which may include annual
registration fees, periodic disclosure reports and internal recordkeeping, and may also prohibit the payment of contingent fees.
Each of the regulatory bodies with jurisdiction over us has regulatory powers dealing with many aspects of financial
services, including the authority to grant, and in specific circumstances to cancel, permissions to carry on particular activities. A
failure to comply with the obligations imposed by the Investment Advisers Act, including recordkeeping, advertising and operating
requirements, disclosure obligations and prohibitions on fraudulent activities, could result in investigations, sanctions and
reputational damage. We are involved regularly in trading activities that implicate a broad number of U.S. securities law regimes,
including laws governing trading on inside information, market manipulation and a broad number of technical trading requirements
that implicate fundamental market regulation policies. Violation of these laws could result in severe restrictions on our activities
and damage to our reputation.
Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations could result in fines, censure, suspensions of personnel or other
sanctions, including revocation of the registration of our relevant subsidiaries as investment advisers or registered broker-dealers.
The regulations to which our business is subject are designed primarily to protect investors in our funds and to ensure the integrity
of the financial markets. They are not designed to protect our stockholders. Even if a sanction imposed against us, one of our
subsidiaries or our personnel by a regulator is for a small monetary amount, the adverse publicity related to the sanction could
harm our reputation, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business in a number of ways, making it harder for
us to raise new funds and discouraging others from doing business with us.
Failure to comply with “pay to play” regulations implemented by the SEC and certain states, and changes to the “pay
to play” regulatory regimes, could adversely affect our business.
In recent years, the SEC and several states have initiated investigations alleging that certain private equity firms and
hedge funds or agents acting on their behalf have paid money to current or former government officials or their associates in
exchange for improperly soliciting contracts with state pension funds. In June 2010, the SEC approved Rule 206(4)-5 under the
Investment Advisers Act regarding “pay to play” practices by investment advisers involving campaign contributions and other
payments to government officials able to exert influence on potential government entity clients. Among other restrictions, the rule
prohibits investment advisers from providing advisory services for compensation to a government entity for two years, subject to
very limited exceptions, after the investment adviser, its senior executives or its personnel involved in soliciting investments from
government entities make contributions to certain candidates and officials in a position to influence the hiring of an investment
25

adviser by such government entity. Advisers are required to implement compliance policies designed, among other matters, to
track contributions by certain of the adviser’s employees and engagements of third parties that solicit government entities and to
keep certain records to enable the SEC to determine compliance with the rule. In addition, there have been similar rules on a state
level regarding “pay to play” practices by investment advisers.
As a number of public pension plans are investors in our funds, these rules could impose significant economic sanctions
on our business if we or one of the other persons covered by the rules make any such contribution or payment, whether or not
material or with an intent to secure an investment from a public pension plan. In addition, such investigations may require the
attention of senior management and may result in fines or forfeitures of fees paid and an obligation to provide services without
payment of fees if any of our funds are deemed to have violated any regulations, thereby imposing additional expenses on us. Any
failure on our part to comply with these rules could cause us to lose compensation for our advisory services or expose us to
significant penalties and reputational damage.
New or changed laws or regulations governing our funds’ operations and changes in the interpretation thereof could
adversely affect our business.
The laws and regulations governing the operations of our funds, as well as their interpretation, may change from time to
time, and new laws and regulations may be enacted. Accordingly, any change in these laws or regulations, changes in their
interpretation, or newly enacted laws or regulations and any failure by our funds to comply with these laws or regulations, could
require changes to certain of our business practices, negatively impact our operations, assets under management or financial
condition, impose additional costs on us or otherwise adversely affect our business. See “Business - Regulatory and Compliance
Matters” for a discussion of our regulatory and compliance environment. The following includes the most significant regulatory
risks facing our business:
•

Changes in capital requirements may increase the cost of our financing

If regulatory capital requirements - whether under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of
2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), Basel III, or other regulatory action - were to be imposed on our funds, they may be required to
limit, or increase the cost of, financing they provide to others. Among other things, this could potentially require our funds to sell
assets at an inopportune time or price, which could negatively impact our operations, assets under management or financial
condition.
•

The imposition of additional legal or regulatory requirements could make compliance more difficult and
expensive, affect the manner in which we conduct our business and adversely affect our profitability

In July 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Act. The Dodd-Frank Act, among other things, imposes
significant new regulations on nearly every aspect of the U.S. financial services industry, including new registration, recordkeeping
and reporting requirements on private fund investment advisers. Importantly, while several key aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act
have been defined through final rules, many aspects will be implemented by various regulatory bodies over the next several years.
While we already have several subsidiaries registered as investment advisers subject to SEC examinations, the imposition of any
additional legal or regulatory requirements could make compliance more difficult and expensive, affect the manner in which we
conduct our business and adversely affect our profitability.
•

The implementation of the Volcker Rule could have adverse implications on our ability to raise funds from
certain entities

In December 2013, the Federal Reserve and other federal regulatory agencies adopted a final rule implementing a section
of the Dodd-Frank Act that has become known as the “Volcker Rule.” The Volcker Rule generally prohibits insured banks or thrifts,
any bank holding company or savings and loan holding company, any non-U.S. bank with a U.S. branch, agency or commercial
lending company and any subsidiaries and affiliates of such entities, regardless of geographic location, from investing in or
sponsoring “covered funds,” which include private equity funds or hedge funds and certain other proprietary activities. The effects
of the Volcker Rule are uncertain but it is in any event likely to curtail various banking activities that in turn could result in
uncertainties in the financial markets as well as our business. Although we do not currently anticipate that the Volcker Rule will
adversely affect our fundraising to any significant extent, there is uncertainty regarding the implementation of the Volcker Rule
and its practical implications, and there could be adverse implications on our ability to raise funds from the types of entities
mentioned above as a result of this prohibition.
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•

Increased regulation on banks’ leveraged lending activities could negatively affect the terms and availability
of credit to our funds and their investee companies

In March 2013, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Department of the Treasury, the Board of Governors
of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation published revised guidance regarding expectations
for banks’ leveraged lending activities. This guidance, in addition to proposed Dodd-Frank risk retention rules circulated in August
2013, could further restrict credit availability, as well as potentially restrict certain of our investing activities that rely on banks’
lending activities. This could negatively affect the terms and availability of credit to our funds and their investee companies.
•

New restrictions on compensation could limit our ability to recruit and retain investment professionals

The Dodd-Frank Act authorizes federal regulatory agencies to review and, in certain cases, prohibit compensation
arrangements at financial institutions that give employees incentives to engage in conduct deemed to encourage inappropriate risktaking by covered financial institutions. Such restrictions could limit our ability to recruit and retain investment professionals and
senior management executives.
Present and future BDCs for which we serve as investment adviser are subject to regulatory complexities that limit
the way in which they do business and may subject them to a higher level of regulatory scrutiny.
MCC and SIC, and other BDCs for which we may serve as investment adviser in the future, operate under a complex
regulatory environment. Such BDCs require the application of complex tax and securities regulations and may entail a higher level
of regulatory scrutiny. In addition, regulations affecting BDCs generally affect their ability to take certain actions. For example,
each of MCC and SIC has elected to be treated as a RIC for United States federal income tax purposes. To maintain their status
as a RIC, such vehicles must meet, among other things, certain source of income, asset diversification and annual distribution
requirements. If any of our BDCs fails to qualify for RIC tax treatment for any reason and remains or becomes subject to corporate
income tax, the resulting corporate taxes could, among other things, substantially reduce such BDC’s net assets.
In addition, MCC and SIC are subject to complex rules under the Investment Company Act, including rules that restrict
certain of our funds from engaging in transactions with MCC and SIC. Under the regulatory and business environment in which
they operate, MCC and SIC must periodically access the capital markets to raise cash to fund new investments in excess of their
repayments to grow. This results from MCC and SIC each being required to generally distribute to their respective stockholders
at least 90% of its investment company taxable income to maintain its RIC status, combined with regulations under the Investment
Company Act that, subject to certain exceptions, generally prohibit MCC and SIC from issuing and selling their common stock at
a price below NAV per share and from incurring indebtedness (including for this purpose, preferred stock), if their asset coverage,
as calculated pursuant to the Investment Company Act, equals less than 200% after such incurrence. If our BDCs are found to be
in violation of the Investment Company Act, they could lose their status as BDCs. If either of our BDCs fails to continuously
qualify as a BDC, such BDC might be subject to regulation as a registered closed-end investment company under the 1940 Act,
which would significantly decrease its operating flexibility. In addition, failure to comply with the requirements imposed on BDCs
by the 1940 Act could cause the SEC to bring an enforcement action against such BDC, which could have a material adverse effect
on us.
We are subject to risks in using custodians, counterparties, administrators and other agents.
Some of our funds depend on the services of custodians, counterparties, administrators, prime brokers and other agents
to carry out certain financing, securities and derivatives transactions. The terms of these contracts are often customized and complex,
and many of these arrangements occur in markets or relate to products that are not subject to regulatory oversight, although the
Dodd-Frank Act provides for new regulation of the derivatives market. In particular, some of our funds utilize arrangements with
a relatively limited number of counterparties, which has the effect of concentrating the transaction volume (and related counterparty
default risk) of such funds with these counterparties.
Our funds are subject to the risk that the counterparty to one or more of these contracts defaults, either voluntarily or
involuntarily, on its performance under the contract. Any such default may occur suddenly and without notice to us. Moreover, if
a counterparty defaults, we may be unable to take action to cover our exposure, either because we lack contractual recourse or
because market conditions make it difficult to take effective action. This inability could occur in times of market stress, which is
when defaults are most likely to occur.
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In addition, our risk-management process may not accurately anticipate the impact of market stress or counterparty
financial condition, and as a result, we may not have taken sufficient action to reduce our risks effectively. Default risk may arise
from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect, foresee or evaluate. In addition, concerns about, or a default by, one large
participant could lead to significant liquidity problems for other participants, which may in turn expose us to significant losses.
Although we have risk-management processes to ensure that we are not exposed to a single counterparty for significant
periods of time, given the large number and size of our funds, we often have large positions with a single counterparty. For example,
some of our funds have credit lines. If the lender under one or more of those credit lines were to become insolvent, we may have
difficulty replacing the credit line and one or more of our funds may face liquidity problems.
In the event of a counterparty default, particularly a default by a major investment bank or a default by a counterparty to
a significant number of our contracts, one or more of our funds may have outstanding trades that they cannot settle or are delayed
in settling. As a result, these funds could incur material losses and the resulting market impact of a major counterparty default
could harm our business, results of operation and financial condition.
In the event of the insolvency of a prime broker, custodian, counterparty or any other party that is holding assets of our
funds as collateral, our funds might not be able to recover equivalent assets in full as they will rank among the prime broker’s,
custodian’s or counterparty’s unsecured creditors in relation to the assets held as collateral. In addition, our funds’ cash held with
a prime broker, custodian or counterparty generally will not be segregated from the prime broker’s, custodian’s or counterparty’s
own cash, and our funds may therefore rank as unsecured creditors in relation thereto. If our derivatives transactions are cleared
through a derivatives clearing organization, the CFTC has issued final rules regulating the segregation and protection of collateral
posted by customers of cleared and uncleared swaps. The CFTC is also working to provide new guidance regarding prime broker
arrangements and intermediation generally with regard to trading on swap execution facilities.
The counterparty risks that we face have increased in complexity and magnitude as a result of disruption in the financial
markets in recent years. For example, the consolidation and elimination of counterparties has increased our concentration of
counterparty risk and decreased the universe of potential counterparties. Our funds are generally not restricted from dealing with
any particular counterparty or from concentrating any or all of their transactions with a single counterparty. In addition,
counterparties have generally reacted to recent market volatility by tightening their underwriting standards and increasing their
margin requirements for all categories of financing, which has the result of decreasing the overall amount of leverage available
and increasing the costs of borrowing.
A portion of our revenue and cash flow is variable, which may impact our ability to achieve steady earnings growth
on a quarterly basis and may cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.
We believe that base management fees are consistent and predictable. For all periods presented, over 40% of total revenues
was derived from base management fees. Due to our investment strategy and the nature of our fees, a portion of our revenue and
cash flow is variable, due primarily to the fact that the performance fees from our long-dated private funds and SMAs can vary
from quarter to quarter and year to year. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2014, performance fees were 3% of our total
revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2015, total revenues of $67.4 million included a reversal of performance fees of $15.7
million. Additionally, we may also experience fluctuations in our results from quarter to quarter and year to year due to a number
of other factors, including changes in the values of our funds’ investments, changes in our operating expenses, the degree to which
we encounter competition and general economic and market conditions. Such variability may lead to volatility in the trading price
of our Class A common stock and cause our results for a particular period not to be indicative of our performance in a future period.
We may be subject to litigation risks and may face liabilities and damage to our professional reputation as a result.
In recent years, the volume of claims and amount of damages claimed in litigation and regulatory proceedings against
investment managers have been increasing. We make investment decisions on behalf of investors in our funds that could result in
substantial losses. This may subject us to the risk of legal liabilities or actions alleging negligent misconduct, breach of fiduciary
duty or breach of contract. Further, we may be subject to third-party litigation arising from allegations that we improperly exercised
control or influence over portfolio investments. In addition, we and our affiliates that are the investment managers and general
partners of our funds, our funds themselves and those of our employees who are our, our subsidiaries’ or the funds’ officers and
directors are each exposed to the risks of litigation specific to the funds’ investment activities and investee companies and, in the
case where our funds own controlling interests in public companies, to the risk of shareholder litigation by the public companies’
other shareholders. Moreover, we are exposed to risks of litigation or investigation by investors or regulators relating to our having
engaged, or our funds having engaged, in transactions that presented conflicts of interest that were not properly addressed.
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Legal liability could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations or cause
reputational harm to us, which could harm our business. We depend to a large extent on our business relationships and our reputation
for integrity and high-caliber professional services to attract and retain investors and to pursue investment opportunities for our
funds. As a result, allegations of improper conduct by private litigants or regulators, whether the ultimate outcome is favorable or
unfavorable to us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us, our investment activities or the investment industry
in general, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation, which may be damaging to our business.
Employee misconduct could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain investors and subjecting us to
significant legal liability, regulatory scrutiny and reputational harm. Fraud and other deceptive practices or other misconduct
at our investee companies could similarly subject us to liability and reputational damage and also harm our business.
Our ability to attract and retain investors and to pursue investment opportunities for our funds depends heavily upon the
reputation of our professionals, especially our senior professionals. We are subject to a number of obligations and standards arising
from our investment management business and our authority over the assets managed by our investment management business.
The violation of these obligations and standards by any of our employees could adversely affect investors in our funds and us. Our
business often requires that we deal with confidential matters of great significance to companies in which our funds may invest.
If our employees were to use or disclose confidential information improperly, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation,
financial position and current and future business relationships. It is not always possible to detect or deter employee misconduct,
and the extensive precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in all cases. If one or more of our
employees were to engage in misconduct or were to be accused of such misconduct, our business and our reputation could be
adversely affected and a loss of investor confidence could result, which would adversely impact our ability to raise future funds.
In addition, we could be adversely affected as a result of actual or alleged misconduct by personnel of investee companies
in which our funds invest. For example, failures by personnel at our investee companies to comply with anti-bribery, trade sanctions
or other legal and regulatory requirements could expose us to litigation or regulatory action and otherwise adversely affect our
business and reputation. Such misconduct could undermine our due diligence efforts with respect to such companies and could
negatively affect the valuation of a fund’s investments.
Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition, our ability to pay our debts or raise
additional capital to fund our operations, our ability to operate our business and our ability to react to changes in the economy
or our industry and could divert our cash flow from operations for debt payments.
We have a significant amount of indebtedness. As of December 31, 2016, our total indebtedness, excluding unamortized
discount, was approximately $108.4 million. In January and February 2017, we issued additional senior unsecured debt in the
amount of $69.0 million. The net proceeds of which were used to repay the remaining outstanding indebtedness under our Term
Loan Facility and we intend to use the remainder for general corporate purposes. As of February 28, 2017, our total indebtedness,
excluding unamortized discount, was approximately $122.6 million. Our substantial debt obligations could have important
consequences, including:
•

requiring a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest
on our indebtedness, thereby reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our operations and pursue future
business opportunities;

•

exposing us to increased interest expense, as our degree of leverage may cause the interest rates of any future
indebtedness (whether fixed or floating rate interest) to be higher than they would be otherwise;

•

exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates because certain of our indebtedness is at variable rates of interest;

•

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, and any failure to comply
with the obligations of any of our debt instruments, including restrictive covenants, could result in an event of default
that accelerates our obligation to repay indebtedness;

•

increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic, industry or competitive developments;

•

restricting us from making strategic acquisitions or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures;
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•

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, product development, satisfaction of debt
service requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; and

•

limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or market conditions and placing us
at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors who may be better positioned to take advantage of
opportunities that our leverage prevents us from exploiting.

Our Revolving Credit Facility imposes significant operating and financial restrictions on us and our subsidiaries,
which may prevent us from capitalizing on business opportunities.
The credit agreement that governs our Revolving Credit Facility imposes significant operating and financial restrictions
on us. These restrictions will limit our ability and/or the ability of our subsidiaries to, among other things:
•

incur additional indebtedness, make guarantees and enter into hedging arrangements;

•

create liens on assets;

•

enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

•

engage in mergers or consolidations;

•

sell assets;

•

make fundamental changes;

•

pay dividends and distributions or repurchase our capital stock;

•

make investments, loans and advances, including acquisitions;

•

engage in certain transactions with affiliates;

•

make changes in the nature of our business; and

•

make prepayments of junior debt.

In addition, the credit agreement governing our Revolving Credit Facility requires us to maintain, with respect to each
four quarter period commencing with the four quarter period ending December 31, 2014, a ratio of net debt to Core EBITDA not
greater than 3.5 to 1.0. The ratio of net debt to Core EBITDA in respect of the Senior Secured Credit Facilities is calculated using
our standalone financial results and includes the adjustments made to calculate Core EBITDA. See “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Debt Instruments.”
As a result of these restrictions, we will be limited as to how we conduct our business and we may be unable to raise
additional debt or equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. The terms of any
future indebtedness we may incur could include more restrictive covenants. We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain
compliance with these covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to obtain waivers from the lenders and/
or amend the covenants.
Our failure to comply with the restrictive covenants described above as well as other terms of our other indebtedness and/
or the terms of any future indebtedness from time to time could result in an event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could
result in our being required to repay these borrowings before their due date. If we are forced to refinance these borrowings on less
favorable terms or are unable to refinance these borrowings, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely
affected.
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Servicing our indebtedness will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate sufficient cash depends
on many factors, some of which are not within our control.
Our ability to make payments on our indebtedness and to fund planned capital expenditures will depend on our ability
to generate cash in the future. To a certain extent, this is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory
and other factors that are beyond our control. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to service our debt and meet our
other commitments, we may need to restructure or refinance all or a portion of our debt, sell material assets or operations or raise
additional debt or equity capital. We may not be able to effect any of these actions on a timely basis, on commercially reasonable
terms or at all, and these actions may not be sufficient to meet our capital requirements. In addition, the terms of our existing or
future debt arrangements may restrict us from effecting any of these alternatives.
Despite our current level of indebtedness, we may be able to incur substantially more debt and enter into other
transactions, which could further exacerbate the risks to our financial condition described above.
We may be able to incur significant additional indebtedness in the future. Although the credit agreement that governs our
Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness and entering into certain types of other
transactions, these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions. Additional indebtedness incurred in
compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions also do not prevent us from incurring obligations, such
as trade payables, that do not constitute indebtedness as defined under our debt instruments. To the extent new debt is added to
our current debt levels, the substantial leverage risks described in the preceding three risk factors would increase.
Operational risks may disrupt our business, result in losses or limit our growth.
Our business relies heavily on financial, accounting and other information systems and technology. We face various
security threats, including cyber security attacks to our information technology infrastructure and attempts to gain access to our
proprietary information, destroy data or disable, degrade or sabotage our systems. These security threats could originate from a
wide variety of sources, including unknown third parties outside of Medley. Although we have not yet been subject to cyber-attacks
or other cyber incidents and we utilize various procedures and controls to monitor and mitigate these threats, there can be no
assurance that these procedures and controls will be sufficient to prevent disruptions to our systems. If any of these systems do
not operate properly or are disabled for any reason or if there is any unauthorized disclosure of data, whether as a result of tampering,
a breach of our network security systems, a cyber-incident or attack or otherwise, we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of
our business, liability to our funds, regulatory intervention or reputational damage.
In addition, our information systems and technology may not continue to be able to accommodate our growth, and the
cost of maintaining the systems may increase from its current level. Such a failure to accommodate growth, or an increase in costs
related to the information systems, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Furthermore, we depend on our offices in New York and San Francisco, where a substantial portion of our personnel are
located, for the continued operation of our business. An earthquake or other disaster or a disruption in the infrastructure that supports
our business, including a disruption involving electronic communications or other services used by us or third parties with whom
we conduct business, or directly affecting our headquarters, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue to
operate our business without interruption. Although we have disaster recovery programs in place, these may not be sufficient to
mitigate the harm that may result from such a disaster or disruption. In addition, insurance and other safeguards might only partially
reimburse us for our losses, if at all.
Finally, we rely on third-party service providers for certain aspects of our business, including for certain information
systems, technology and administration of our funds and compliance matters. Any interruption or deterioration in the performance
of these third parties or failures of their information systems and technology could impair the quality of our funds’ operations and
could impact our reputation, adversely affect our business and limit our ability to grow.
Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure
Medley Management Inc.’s only material asset is its interest in Medley LLC, and it is accordingly dependent upon
distributions from Medley LLC to pay taxes, make payments under the tax receivable agreement or pay dividends.
Medley Management Inc. is a holding company and has no material assets other than its ownership of LLC Units. Medley
Management Inc. has no independent means of generating revenue. Medley Management Inc. intends to cause Medley LLC to
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make distributions to its holders of LLC Units in an amount sufficient to cover all applicable taxes at assumed tax rates, payments
under the tax receivable agreement and dividends, if any, declared by it. Deterioration in the financial condition, earnings or cash
flow of Medley LLC and its subsidiaries for any reason could limit or impair their ability to pay such distributions. Additionally,
to the extent that Medley Management Inc. needs funds, and Medley LLC is restricted from making such distributions under
applicable law or regulation or under the terms of our financing arrangements, or is otherwise unable to provide such funds, it
could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
Payments of dividends, if any, is at the discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors,
including our business, operating results and financial condition, current and anticipated cash needs, plans for expansion and any
legal or contractual limitations on our ability to pay dividends. Any financing arrangement that we enter into in the future may
include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to pay dividends. In addition, Medley LLC is generally prohibited under Delaware
law from making a distribution to a member to the extent that, at the time of the distribution, after giving effect to the distribution,
liabilities of Medley LLC (with certain exceptions) exceed the fair value of its assets. Subsidiaries of Medley LLC are generally
subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to make distributions to Medley LLC.
Medley Management Inc. is controlled by our pre-IPO owners, whose interests may differ from those of our public
stockholders.
Medley Group LLC, an entity controlled by our pre-IPO owners, holds approximately 97.6% of the combined voting
power of our Class A and Class B common stock. Accordingly, our pre-IPO owners have the ability to elect all of the members of
our board of directors, and thereby to control our management and affairs. In addition, they are able to determine the outcome of
all matters requiring stockholder approval, including mergers and other material transactions, and are able to cause or prevent a
change in the composition of our board of directors or a change in control of our company that could deprive our stockholders of
an opportunity to receive a premium for their Class A common stock as part of a sale of our company and might ultimately affect
the market price of our Class A common stock. Our pre-IPO owners comprise all of the non-managing members of Medley LLC.
However, Medley LLC may in the future admit additional non-managing members that would not constitute pre-IPO owners.
Because Medley Group LLC, as the holder of our Class B common stock, has a number of votes equal to 10 times the number of
LLC Units held by all non-managing members of Medley LLC for so long as our pre-IPO owners and then-current Medley personnel
hold at least 10% of the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock and LLC Units (excluding the LLC Units held by
Medley Management Inc.), we anticipate that Medley Group LLC will continue to have a majority of the combined voting power
of our Class A and Class B common stock even when our pre-IPO owners own less than a majority economic interest in our
company.
In addition, our pre-IPO owners own 80.07% of the LLC Units. Because they hold their ownership interest in our business
directly in Medley LLC, rather than through Medley Management Inc., these pre-IPO owners may have conflicting interests with
holders of shares of our Class A common stock. For example, if Medley LLC makes distributions to Medley Management Inc.,
the non-managing members of Medley LLC will also be entitled to receive such distributions pro rata in accordance with the
percentages of their respective limited liability company interests in Medley LLC and their preferences as to the timing and amount
of any such distributions may differ from those of our public stockholders. Our pre-IPO owners may also have different tax positions
from us which could influence their decisions regarding whether and when to dispose of assets, especially in light of the existence
of the tax receivable agreement entered into in connection with our IPO, whether and when to incur new or refinance existing
indebtedness, and whether and when Medley Management Inc. should terminate the tax receivable agreement and accelerate its
obligations thereunder. In addition, the structuring of future transactions may take into consideration these pre-IPO owners’ tax
or other considerations even where no similar benefit would accrue to us.
Medley Management Inc. will be required to pay exchanging holders of LLC Units for most of the benefits relating
to any additional tax depreciation or amortization deductions that we may claim as a result of the tax basis step-up we receive
in connection with sales or exchanges of LLC Units and related transactions.
Holders of LLC Units (other than Medley Management Inc.) may, subject to certain conditions and transfer restrictions
applicable to such holders as set forth in the operating agreement of Medley LLC, exchange their LLC Units for Class A common
stock on a one-for-one basis. The exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets
of Medley LLC. These increases in tax basis may increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization deductions and therefore
reduce the amount of tax that Medley Management Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in the future, although the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) may challenge all or part of that tax basis increase, and a court could sustain such a challenge.
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We have entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of LLC Units that provides for the payment by Medley
Management Inc. to exchanging holders of LLC Units of 85% of the benefits, if any, that Medley Management Inc. is deemed to
realize as a result of these increases in tax basis and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement,
including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement. This payment obligation is an obligation of
Medley Management Inc. and not of Medley LLC. While the actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any
payments under the tax receivable agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges,
the price of shares of our Class A common stock at the time of the exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable and
the amount and timing of our income, we expect that as a result of the size of the transfers and increases in the tax basis of the
tangible and intangible assets of Medley LLC, the payments that Medley Management Inc. may make under the tax receivable
agreement will be substantial. The payments under the tax receivable agreement are not conditioned upon continued ownership
of us by the holders of LLC Units.
In certain cases, payments under the tax receivable agreement may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the
actual benefits Medley Management Inc. realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the tax receivable agreement.
The tax receivable agreement provides that upon certain changes of control, or if, at any time, Medley Management Inc.
elects an early termination of the tax receivable agreement, Medley Management Inc.’s obligations under the tax receivable
agreement (with respect to all LLC Units whether or not previously exchanged) would be calculated by reference to the value of
all future payments that holders of LLC Units would have been entitled to receive under the tax receivable agreement using certain
valuation assumptions, including that Medley Management Inc. will have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions
arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement and,
in the case of an early termination election, that any LLC Units that have not been exchanged are deemed exchanged for the market
value of the shares of Class A common stock at the time of termination. In addition, holders of LLC Units will not reimburse us
for any payments previously made under the tax receivable agreement if such tax basis increase is successfully challenged by the
IRS. Medley Management Inc.’s ability to achieve benefits from any tax basis increase, and the payments to be made under the
tax receivable agreement, will depend upon a number of factors, including the timing and amount of our future income. As a result,
even in the absence of a change of control or an election to terminate the tax receivable agreement, payments under the tax receivable
agreement could be in excess of Medley Management Inc.’s actual cash tax savings.
Accordingly, it is possible that the actual cash tax savings realized by Medley Management Inc. may be significantly less
than the corresponding tax receivable agreement payments. There may be a material negative effect on our liquidity if the payments
under the tax receivable agreement exceed the actual cash tax savings that Medley Management Inc. realizes in respect of the tax
attributes subject to the tax receivable agreement and/or distributions to Medley Management Inc. by Medley LLC are not sufficient
to permit Medley Management Inc. to make payments under the tax receivable agreement after it has paid taxes and other expenses.
Based upon the $9.90 closing price of our Class A common stock on December 31, 2016 and interest rate of 2.7%, we estimate
that, if Medley Management Inc. were to have exercised its termination right on December 31, 2016, the aggregate amount of
these termination payments would have been approximately $101.1 million. The foregoing number is merely an estimate and the
actual payments could differ materially. We may need to incur additional indebtedness to finance payments under the tax receivable
agreement to the extent our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the tax receivable agreement as a result
of timing discrepancies or otherwise.
Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law might discourage or delay acquisition
attempts for us that you might consider favorable.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make
the merger or acquisition of our company more difficult without the approval of our board of directors. Among other things, these
provisions:
•
•

authorize the issuance of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and the shares of which
may be issued without stockholder approval, and which may include super voting, special approval, dividend, or
other rights or preferences superior to the rights of the holders of Class A common stock;
prohibit Class A common stockholders from acting by written consent unless such action is recommended by all
directors then in office, but permit Class B common stockholders to act by written consent without requiring any
such recommendation;
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•

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our bylaws and that our stockholders
may only amend our bylaws with the approval of 80% or more of all of the outstanding shares of our capital stock
entitled to vote; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board or for proposing matters that can
be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Further, as a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, which may impair a takeover
attempt that our stockholders may find beneficial. These anti-takeover provisions and other provisions under Delaware law could
discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company, including actions that our stockholders
may deem advantageous, or negatively affect the trading price of our Class A common stock. These provisions could also discourage
proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and to cause us to take
other corporate actions you desire.
Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock
The market price of our Class A common stock may decline due to the large number of shares of Class A common
stock eligible for exchange and future sale.
The market price of shares of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of
Class A common stock in the market or the perception that such sales could occur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales
may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell shares of Class A common stock in the future at a time and at a price
that we deem appropriate.
In addition, we and our pre-IPO owners have entered into an exchange agreement under which they (or certain permitted
transferees thereof) have the right (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement), to exchange their LLC Units for shares of our
Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments. Subject to the terms of the
exchange agreement, an aggregate of 23,333,333 LLC Units may be exchanged for shares of our Class A common stock and,
subject to the transfer restrictions set forth in the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Medley LLC, sold. The market price
of shares of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of the exchange or the perception that an exchange could occur.
These exchanges, or the possibility that these exchanges may occur, also might make it more difficult for holders of our Class A
common stock to sell such stock in the future at a time and at a price that they deem appropriate.
The disparity in the voting rights among the classes of our capital stock may have a potential adverse effect on the
price of our Class A common stock.
Each share of our Class A common stock entitles its holder to one vote on all matters to be voted on by stockholders
generally. Medley Group LLC, as the holder of our Class B common stock, has a number of votes equal to 10 times the number
of LLC Units held by all non-managing members of Medley LLC for so long as our pre-IPO owners and then-current Medley
personnel hold at least 10% of the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock and LLC Units (excluding the LLC Units
held by Medley Management Inc.). The difference in voting rights could adversely affect the value of our Class A common stock
by, for example, delaying or deferring a change of control or if investors view, or any potential future purchaser of our company
views, the superior voting rights of the Class B common stock to have value.
We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the NYSE’s rules and, as a result, qualify for, and intend to
rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. You do not have the same protections afforded to
stockholders of companies that are subject to such requirements.
Medley Group LLC, an entity owned by our pre-IPO owners holds a majority of the combined voting power of all classes
of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors. In addition, because Medley Group LLC, as the holder of our
Class B common stock, has a number of votes equal to 10 times the number of LLC Units held by all non-managing members of
Medley LLC for so long as our pre-IPO owners and then-current Medley personnel hold at least 10% of the aggregate number of
shares of Class A common stock and LLC Units (excluding the LLC Units held by Medley Management Inc.), we anticipate that
Medley Group LLC will continue to have at least a majority of the combined voting power of our Class A and Class B common
stock even when our pre-IPO owners own less than a majority economic interest in our company. As a result, we are a “controlled
company” within the meaning of the corporate governance standards of the New York Stock Exchange. Under these rules, a
company of which more than 50% of the voting power in the election of directors is held by an individual, group or another
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company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements. For example,
controlled companies:
•

are not required to have a board that is composed of a majority of “independent directors,” as defined under the rules
of such exchange;

•

are not required to have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors; and

•

are not required to have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent
directors.

We are utilizing these exemptions. As a result, a majority of the directors on our board are not independent. In addition,
our compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees do not consist entirely of independent directors.
Accordingly, you will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate
governance requirements of the New York Stock Exchange.
We are an emerging growth company, and any decision on our part to comply with certain reduced reporting and
disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our Class A common stock less attractive to
investors.
We are an emerging growth company and, for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we currently
intend to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to
emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to have our independent registered public accounting
firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the SarbanesOxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our registration statements, periodic reports and
proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an emerging growth company until
December 31, 2019. We will cease to be an emerging growth company upon the earliest of: (i) December 31, 2019; (ii) the first
fiscal year after our annual gross revenues are $1.0 billion or more; (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous three-year
period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities; or (iv) the end of any fiscal year in which we become a
“large accelerated filer,” which means that we have been public for at least 12 months, have filed at least one annual report and
the market value of our Class A common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last day of our then most
recently completed second fiscal quarter. We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive if we
choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to
reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A common stock and the price of our Class A
common stock may be more volatile.
Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such
time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this accommodation
allowing for delayed adoption of new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised
accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately
report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, stockholders could lose confidence in our financial and other public
reporting, which would harm our business and the trading price of our common stock.
Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together
with adequate disclosure controls and procedures, are designed to prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved
controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. In addition,
any testing by us conducted in connection with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or any subsequent testing by our
independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting that are
deemed to be material weaknesses or that may require prospective or retroactive changes to our financial statements or identify
other areas for further attention or improvement. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our
reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock.
We are required to disclose changes made in our internal controls and procedures on a quarterly basis and our management
is required to assess the effectiveness of these controls annually. However, our independent registered public accounting firm is
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not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until the first annual report
required to be filed with the SEC following the date we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart
Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. We cannot assure you that there will not be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in our internal controls in the future. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which
could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
Medley LLC’s tax treatment depends on its status as a partnership for United States federal and state income tax
purposes. If the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) were to treat Medley LLC as a corporation for United States federal income
tax purposes, which would subject it to entity-level taxation, or if Medley LLC were subjected to a material amount of additional
entity-level taxation by individual states, then Medley LLC’s cash available for distributions to us could be substantially reduced.
It is possible, in certain circumstances, for Medley LLC to be taxed as a corporation for United States federal income tax
purposes. Although we do not believe that Medley LLC is or will be (or should have been) so treated, if Medley LLC were treated
as a “publicly traded partnership,” Medley LLC might be taxed as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes. If
Medley LLC were taxed as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes, it would pay United States federal income
tax on its taxable income at the corporate tax rate, which is currently a maximum of 35%, and would likely pay state and local
income tax at varying rates. Therefore, Medley LLC’s treatment as a corporation would result in a material reduction in its anticipated
cash flow and could materially adversely affect its ability to make cash distributions to us. In addition, changes in current state
law may subject Medley LLC to additional entity-level taxation by individual states. Because of widespread state budget deficits
and other reasons, several states are evaluating ways to subject partnerships to entity-level taxation through the imposition of state
income, franchise and other forms of taxation. Imposition of any such taxes may substantially reduce Medley LLC’s cash available
for distributions to us.
Recent legislation could subject Medley LLC to federal income tax liability, which may adversely affect its ability to
make cash distributions to us.
Pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, if the IRS makes audit adjustments
to Medley LLC’s federal income tax returns, it may assess and collect any taxes (including any applicable penalties and interest)
resulting from such audit adjustment directly from Medley LLC. If, as a result of any such audit adjustment, Medley LLC is
required to make payments of taxes, penalties and interest, Medley LLC’s cash available for distributions to us may be substantially
reduced. These rules are not applicable to Medley LLC for tax years beginning on or prior to December 31, 2017.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they downgrade their
recommendations regarding our Class A common stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities
analysts publish about us or our business. If any of the analysts who cover us downgrades our Class A common stock or publishes
inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our Class A common stock price may decline. If analysts cease coverage
of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our Class
A common stock price or trading volume to decline and our Class A common stock to be less liquid.
The market price of shares of our Class A common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, which could cause
the value of your investment to decline.
The market price of our common stock has historically experienced and may continue to experience significant volatility.
From January 2015 through December 2016, the market price of our common stock has fluctuated from a high of $15.14 per share
in the first quarter of 2015 to a low of $3.43 per share in the first quarter of 2016. Securities markets worldwide experience
significant price and volume fluctuations. This market volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions could
reduce the market price of shares of our Class A common stock in spite of our operating performance. In addition, our operating
results could be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors due to a number of potential factors, including
variations in our quarterly operating results or dividends, if any, to stockholders, additions or departures of key management
personnel, failure to meet analysts’ earnings estimates, publication of research reports about our industry, litigation and government
investigations, changes or proposed changes in laws or regulations or differing interpretations or enforcement thereof affecting
our business, adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we may incur or securities we may issue in the future, changes in market
valuations of similar companies or speculation in the press or investment community, announcements by our competitors of
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significant contracts, acquisitions, dispositions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments, adverse publicity
about the industries we participate in or individual scandals, and in response the market price of shares of our Class A common
stock could decrease significantly. You may be unable to resell your shares of Class A common stock at or above the initial public
offering price.
In the past few years, stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. In the past, following
periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often
been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of
our management’s attention and resources.
You may be diluted by the future issuance of additional Class A common stock or LLC Units in connection with our
incentive plans, acquisitions or otherwise.
As of December 31, 2016, we had 2,993,957,950 shares of Class A common stock authorized but unissued, including
approximately 23,333,333 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exchange of LLC Units that will be held by the nonmanaging members of Medley LLC. Our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue these shares of Class A common stock
and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to Class A common stock for the consideration and on the terms and
conditions established by our board of directors in its sole discretion, whether in connection with acquisitions or otherwise. Similarly,
the limited liability company agreement of Medley LLC permits Medley LLC to issue an unlimited number of additional limited
liability company interests of Medley LLC with designations, preferences, rights, powers and duties that are different from, and
may be senior to, those applicable to the LLC Units, and which may be exchangeable for shares of our Class A common stock.
Additionally, we have reserved an aggregate of 4,500,000 shares of Class A common stock and LLC Units for issuance under our
2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan, including 1,652,483 shares issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units granted as of December
31, 2016. Any Class A common stock that we issue, including under our 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan or other equity incentive
plans that we may adopt in the future, would dilute the percentage ownership held by investors who purchase Class A common
stock.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2.

Properties

Our principal executive offices are located in leased office space at 280 Park Avenue, New York, New York, 10017. We
also lease the space of our other office in San Francisco. We do not own any real property. We consider these facilities to be suitable
and adequate for the management and operation of our business.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings, lawsuits and claims incidental to the conduct of our
business. Our business is also subject to extensive regulation, which may result in regulatory proceedings against us. Except as
described below, we are not currently party to any material legal proceedings.
MCC Advisors LLC was named as a defendant in a lawsuit on May 29, 2015, by Moshe Barkat and Modern VideoFilm
Holdings, LLC (“MVF Holdings”) against MCC, MOF II, MCC Advisors LLC, Deloitte Transactions and Business Analytics LLP
A/K/A Deloitte ERG (“Deloitte”), Scott Avila (“Avila”), Charles Sweet, and Modern VideoFilm, Inc. (“MVF”). The lawsuit is
pending in the California Superior Court, Los Angeles County, Central District, as Case No. BC 583437. The lawsuit was filed
after MCC, as agent for the lender group, exercised remedies following a series of defaults by MVF and MVF Holdings on a
secured loan with an outstanding balance at the time in excess of $65 million. The lawsuit sought damages in excess of $100
million. Deloitte and Avila have settled the claims against them in exchange for payment of $1.5 million. Following a separate
lawsuit by Mr. Barkat against MVF’s D&O insurance carrier, the carrier, Charles Sweet and MVF have settled the claims against
them. On June 6, 2016, the court granted the defendants’ demurrers on several counts and dismissed Mr. Barkat’s claims with
prejudice except with respect to his claim for intentional interference with contract. MCC and the other defendants continue to
dispute the remaining allegations and are vigorously defending the lawsuit while pursuing affirmative counterclaims against Mr.
Barkat and MVF Holdings. On August 29, 2016, MVF Holdings filed another lawsuit in the California Superior Court, Los Angeles
County, Central District, as Case No. BC 631888 (the “Derivative Action”), naming MCC Advisors LLC and certain of Medley’s
employees as defendants, among others. In the Derivative Action, MVF Holdings reasserts substantially the same claims that were
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previously asserted in each of their three prior complaints. MCC Advisors LLC and the other defendants believe the outstanding
claims for alleged interference with Mr. Barkat’s employment contract, and the other causes of action asserted in the Derivative
Action are without merit and all defendants intend to continue to assert a vigorous defense.
CK Pearl Fund, Ltd. and CK Pearl Fund, LP v. Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C., Rothstein-Kass P.A., Rothstein Kass &
Co. LLC and Rothstein, Kass & Company (Cayman); Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C., Rothstein-Kass P.A., Rothstein Kass &
Co. LLC and Rothstein, Kass & Company (Cayman) v. Medley Capital LLC, filed on September 19, 2016, in the Superior Court
of New Jersey Law Division: Essex County, as Docket No. L-5196-15. On September 28, 2016, Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C.,
Rothstein-Kass P.A., Rothstein Kass & Co. LLC and Rothstein, Kass & Company (Cayman); Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C.,
Rothstein-Kass P.A. (the “Rothstein Companies”) notified Medley Capital LLC that they had filed a Third-Party Complaint naming
Medley Capital LLC as an additional defendant in the pending lawsuit between CK Pearl Fund, Ltd. and CK Pearl Fund, LP (the
“CK Pearl Funds”) and the Rothstein Companies. The CK Pearl Funds’ lawsuit against Rothstein Kass was commenced on July
23, 2015. Medley Capital LLC was not named as a defendant in the CK Pearl Funds’ lawsuit. In their First Amended Complaint,
the CK Pearl Funds alleged that the Rothstein Companies failed to exercise reasonable care and diligence in conducting audits of
the CK Pearl Funds’ financial statements from 2008 to 2013. More specifically, the CK Pearl Funds allege that asset valuations
prepared by independent third-party valuation firms and Medley Capital LLC were overstated and the Rothstein Kass Companies
should not have issued audit opinions stating that the CK Pearl Funds’ financial statements were fairly presented. The CK Pearl
Funds alleged that, as a result, they paid Medley Capital LLC greater management fees than were otherwise due and that the CK
Pearl Funds lost money on follow-on investments that they otherwise would not have made. The CK Pearl Funds’ complaint seeks
damages in excess of $125 million. From 2007 through 2014, the CK Pearl Funds were named Medley Opportunity Fund Ltd and
Medley Opportunity Fund LP and Medley Capital LLC acted as investment manager to the CK Pearl Funds. On September 19,
2016, the Rothstein Companies filed an answer denying the CK Pearl Funds’ allegations and a cross-complaint against the CK
Pearl Funds and a third-party complaint against Medley Capital LLC. The complaints filed by the Rothstein Companies allege
that the CK Pearl Funds and/or Medley Capital LLC were responsible for valuations and, if any financial statements or any
valuations were overstated, the CK Pearl Funds and/or Medley Capital LLC, not the Rothstein Companies, were responsible.
Medley Capital LLC is demanding indemnification pursuant to its contractual agreements with the CK Pearl Funds and contribution
from both the CK Pearl Funds and their independent directors with respect to the claims asserted by the Rothstein Companies.
Medley Capital LLC disputes the allegations and intends to defend the case vigorously.
Medley Capital LLC v. CK Pearl Fund, Ltd., filed on November 28, 2016, in the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands in
the Financial Services Division, as Cause No. FSD 196 of 2016. On November 28, 2016, Medley Capital LLC commenced a
lawsuit against CK Pearl Fund Ltd. seeking declaratory relief with respect its right to indemnification in connection with the
Rothstein litigation and advancement of its expenses in connection with defending the same. CK Pearl Fund Ltd. has indicated
that it is prepared to acknowledge Medley Capital LLC's right to advancement of costs and expenses defending the Rothstein
litigation.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.

PART II.
Item 5.

Market For Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information
Our Class A common stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol “MDLY.” Our Class A common stock began trading
on the NYSE on September 24, 2014.
The number of holders of record of our Class A stock as of March 15, 2017 was 4. This does not include the number of
shareholders that hold shares in “street name” through banks, brokers and other financial institutions. There is no publicly traded
market for our Class B common stock, which is held by Medley Group, LLC.
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The following table sets forth the high and low intra-day sales prices per share of our Class A common stock, for the
periods indicated, as reported by the NYSE:
Sales Price
2016

High

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

Low

6.55
8.25
8.72
10.65

$
$
$
$

3.43
5.12
5.55
8.16

Sales Price
2015

High

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

15.14
12.30
12.10
8.10

Low
$
$
$
$

9.74
10.40
5.86
4.46

Dividend Policy
During fiscal year 2016 we paid four dividends of $0.20 per share to holders of our Class A common stock on March 4,
2016, June 2, 2016, September 6, 2016 and December 5, 2016, and we declared an additional dividend of $0.20 per share to holders
of our Class A common stock in respect of the fourth quarter of 2016, which was paid on March 6, 2017. During fiscal year 2015
we paid four dividends of $0.20 per share to holders of our Class A common stock on January 5, 2015, May 5, 2015, September
4, 2015 and December 4, 2015.
The declaration, amount and payment of any future dividends on shares of our Class A common stock will be at the sole
discretion of our board of directors and we may reduce or discontinue entirely the payment of such dividends at any time. Our
board of directors may take into account general and economic conditions, our financial condition and operating results, our
available cash and current and anticipated cash needs, capital requirements, contractual, legal, tax and regulatory restrictions and
implications on the payment of dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us, and such other factors as our board
of directors may deem relevant.
Medley Management Inc. is a holding company and has no material assets other than its ownership of LLC Units in
Medley LLC. We intend to cause Medley LLC to make distributions to us in an amount sufficient to cover cash dividends, if any,
declared by us. If Medley LLC makes such distributions to Medley Management Inc., the holders of LLC Units will also be entitled
to receive distributions pro rata in accordance with the percentages of their respective limited liability company interests.
Any financing arrangements that we enter into in the future may include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to pay
dividends. In addition, Medley LLC is generally prohibited under Delaware law from making a distribution to a member to the
extent that, at the time of the distribution, after giving effect to the distribution, liabilities of Medley LLC (with certain exceptions)
exceed the fair value of its assets. Subsidiaries of Medley LLC are generally subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to
make distributions to Medley LLC. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility limits the ability of Medley LLC to pay distributions
to us. See “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Debt Instruments — Revolving Credit Facility.”
Because Medley Management Inc. must pay taxes and make payments under the tax receivable agreement, amounts
ultimately distributed to holders of our Class A common stock are expected to be less than the amounts distributed by Medley
LLC to its members on a per LLC Unit basis.
Medley LLC's historical distributions include compensatory payments and other benefits paid to our senior professionals
who are members of Medley LLC, which have historically been accounted for as distributions on the equity held by such senior
professionals rather than as employee compensation. Following our IPO, guaranteed payments and other benefits paid to our senior
professionals who are members of Medley LLC are accounted for as employee compensation.
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, Medley LLC made distributions to our pre-IPO owners in the
amount of $22.7 million, $32.7 million and $121.5 million, respectively.
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Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative stockholder return from September 24, 2014, the date our Class A common
stock began trading on the NYSE, through December 31, 2016, with that of the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index and the Russell
2000 Financial Services Index. The graph assumes that the value of the investment in our Class A common stock and each index
was $100 on September 24, 2014 and that all dividends and other distributions were reinvested.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
During the quarter ended December 31, 2016, we did not purchase any of our equity securities that are registered under
Section 12 of the Exchange Act.
Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data presents selected data on the financial condition and results of operations
of Medley Management Inc., and for periods prior to September 29, 2014, the financial condition and results of operations of
Medley LLC, the predecessor of Medley Management Inc. Medley LLC is considered the predecessor of Medley Management
Inc. for accounting purposes, and its consolidated financial statements are the historical financial statements of Medley Management
Inc. During fiscal year 2015, we adopted new consolidation guidance which resulted in the deconsolidation of our Consolidated
Funds, effective January 1, 2015. Prior to January 1, 2015, we consolidated certain funds in our consolidated financial statements
which had a significant gross-up effect on our assets, liabilities and cash flows but no effect on the net income attributable to
Medley Management Inc. and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC. This financial data should be read together with
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the historical financial statements
and related notes thereto included in this Form 10-K.
We derived the following selected consolidated financial data of Medley Management Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and
2015 and for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 from the audited consolidated financial statements included in
this Form 10-K. The following selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
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2012 and the selected financial condition data as of December 31, 2012 were derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements not included in this Form 10-K. The following selected financial condition data as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
were derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Form 10-K, which were adjusted for the
adoption of ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. Effective January 1, 2016, we adopted this new
guidance and retrospectively presented debt issuance costs related to our long-term debt as a deduction from the carrying amount
of the associated debt on our consolidated balance sheets. As a result of this adoption, we reclassified $2.2 million and $0.3 million
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, of debt issuance costs from other assets to debt obligations. See Note 2, “Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies,” to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for a description
of the new guidance.
For periods prior to the reorganization and IPO on September 29, 2014, all payments made to our senior professionals
who are members of Medley LLC, including guaranteed payments, were reflected as distributions from members' capital.
Subsequent to the reorganization and IPO, all guaranteed payments made to our senior professionals who are members of Medley
LLC are recognized as compensation expense. Prior to our reorganization and IPO, our business was organized as a partnership
for tax purposes and was not subject to United States federal, state and local corporate income taxes. A provision for income taxes
was made for certain entities that were subject to New York City's unincorporated business tax. As a result of the corporate
reorganization and IPO, Medley Management Inc. is subject to United States federal, state and local corporate income tax on its
allocable portion of the income of Medley LLC at prevailing corporate tax rates.
Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for any future period.
For the Years Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013

2016

2012

(Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues
Management fees
Performance fees
Other revenues and fees
Total revenues

$

65,496
2,421
8,111
76,028

$

75,675 $
(15,685)
7,436
67,426

61,252
2,050
8,871
72,173

27,800
(319)
—

26,768
(8,049)

20,322
(1,543)

—

28,540
56,021

16,836
35,555

$

36,446
2,412
5,011
43,869

$

25,325
765
2,152
28,242

Expenses
Compensation and benefits
Performance fee compensation
Consolidated Funds expenses
General, administrative and other
expenses
Total expenses
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1,670

13,712
7,192
1,225

11,477
5,148
1,653

16,312
36,761

12,655
34,784

9,679
27,957

For the Years Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013

2016

2012

(Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts)
Other income (expense)
Dividend income
Interest expense
Other income (expenses), net
Interest and other income of
Consolidated Funds
Interest expense of Consolidated Funds
Net realized gain (loss) on investments
of Consolidated Funds
Net change in unrealized appreciation
(depreciation) on investments of
Consolidated Funds
Net change in unrealized depreciation
(appreciation) on secured borrowings
of Consolidated Funds
Total other income (expense), net

1,304
(9,226)
(1,070)
—
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

—

Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income
taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in Consolidated
Funds
Net income (loss) attributable to
redeemable non-controlling interests
and non-controlling interests in
consolidated subsidiaries
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in Medley LLC
Net income attributable to Medley
Management Inc.

886
(8,469)
(1,641)

(8,992)
11,015

886
(5,520)
(1,773)

886
(1,479)
(483)

245
(831)
(552)

71,468
(9,951)

52,550
(2,638)

39,001
(2,666)

(16,080)

(1,600)

(3,361)

(10,103)

789
(20,557)

—
(9,224)

787

22,647

36,516
71,928

29,089
38,174

24,281
24,566

1,063
9,952

2,015
20,632

2,528
69,400

1,639
36,535

1,087
23,479

—

—

29,717

12,898

11,561

(885)

1,933

—

—

2,549
6,406

18,406

36,055

$

997

$

3,111

$

1,695

Per common stock data:
Dividends declared per Class A common
stock
$

0.80

$

0.60

$

0.20

0.02

$

0.46

$

0.24

Net income per Class A common stock Basic and Diluted
$
Weighted average shares outstanding Basic and Diluted

(306)

1,174

5,804,042

6,002,422

$

23,637

$

11,918

(1)

6,000,000

____________
(1) Based on net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. for the period September 29, 2014 through December 31,
2014.

42

2016

2015

As of December 31,
2014

2013

2012

(Amounts in thousands)
Statement of Balance Sheet Data:
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value
Management fees receivable
Performance fees receivable
Other assets

$

49,666
4,897
31,904
12,630
4,961
18,311

$

71,688
—
16,360
16,172
2,518
13,015

$

87,206
—
9,901
15,173
5,573
7,058

$

5,395
—
10,173
8,921
3,339
5,021

$

1,292
—
9,929
4,672
928
3,530

Assets of Consolidated Funds:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value
Interest and dividends receivable
Other assets
Total assets

$

—
—
—

—
—
—

38,111
734,870
6,654

60,355
453,396
2,969

74,133
356,619
3,100

—
122,369

—
119,753

3,681
908,227

436
550,005

229
454,432

$

$

$

$

Liabilities and Equity
Loans payable
$
Senior unsecured debt
Accounts payable, accrued expenses
and other liabilities
Performance fee compensation payable

52,178
49,793

$

100,871
—

$

100,885
—

$

27,703
—

$

6,514
—

36,270
985

34,746
1,823

27,583
11,807

17,613
16,225

12,666
10,858

Accounts payable, accrued expenses
and other liabilities
Secured borrowings
Total liabilities

—
—
139,226

—
—
137,440

5,767
141,135
287,177

1,325
41,178
104,044

1,084
16,374
47,496

Redeemable Non-controlling Interests

30,805

—

—

—

—

(1,853)

(39)

—

—

625,548

464,475

407,353

1,526

40

40

(3,972)

—

—

Liabilities of Consolidated Funds:

Equity
Total stockholders' equity (deficit),
Medley Management Inc.
Non-controlling interests in
Consolidated Funds
Non-controlling interests in consolidated
subsidiaries
Non-controlling interests in Medley
LLC
Medley LLC members' deficit prior to
reorganization
Total equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity
$

—

—

(1,717)

(459)

(44,092)

(17,189)

—
(47,662)

—
(17,687)

122,369

(2,052)

$

119,753
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(18,554)

—
621,050
$

908,227

(457)

445,961
$

550,005

406,936
$

454,432

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements
and related notes as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 included in this
Form 10-K.
Overview
We are an asset management firm offering yield solutions to retail and institutional investors. We focus on credit-related
investment strategies, primarily originating senior secured loans to private middle market companies in the U.S. that have revenues
between $50 million and $1 billion. We generally hold these loans to maturity. Our national direct origination franchise, with over
85 people, provides capital to the middle market in the U.S. Over the past 15 years, we have provided capital to over 350 companies
across 35 industries in North America.
We manage two permanent capital vehicles, both of which are BDCs, as well as long-dated private funds and SMAs,
focusing on senior secured credit.
•
•

Permanent capital vehicles: MCC and SIC, have a total AUM of $2.5 billion as of December 31, 2016.
Long-dated private funds and SMAs: MOF II, MOF III, MCOF, Aspect and SMAs, have a total AUM of $2.8
billion as of December 31, 2016.

As of December 31, 2016, we had over $5.3 billion of AUM in two business development companies, MCC and SIC, as
well as private investment vehicles. Our year over year AUM growth as of December 31, 2016 was 12% and was driven in large
part by the growth of our long-dated private funds and SMAs. Our compounded annual AUM growth rate from December 31,
2010 through December 31, 2016 was 32% and our compounded annual Fee Earning AUM growth rate of 23%, both of which
have been driven in large part by the growth in our permanent capital vehicles. Since September 2015, we received over $1.5
billion of new institutional capital commitments, bringing AUM to over $5.3 billion. Typically the investment periods of our
institutional commitments range from 18 to 24 months and we expect our Fee Earning AUM to increase as capital commitments
included in AUM are invested.
In general, our institutional investors do not have the right to withdraw capital commitments and, to date, we have not
experienced any withdrawals of capital commitments. For a description of the risk factor associated with capital commitments,
see “Risk Factors – Third-party investors in our private funds may not satisfy their contrac tual obligation to fund capital calls
when requested, which could adversely affect a fund’s operations and performance.”
Direct origination, careful structuring and active monitoring of the loan portfolios we manage are important success
factors in our business, which can be adversely affected by difficult market and political conditions, such as the turmoil in the
global capital markets from 2007 to 2009. Since our inception in 2006, we have adhered to a disciplined investment process that
employs these principles with the goal of delivering strong risk-adjusted investment returns while protecting investor capital. We
believe that our ability to directly originate, structure and lead deals enables us to consistently lend at higher yields with better
terms. In addition, the loans we manage generally have a contractual maturity of between three and seven years and are typically
floating rate, which we believe positions our business well for rising interest rates.
Our senior management team has, on average, over 20 years of experience in credit, including originating, underwriting,
principal investing and loan structuring. We have made significant investments in our corporate infrastructure and have over 85
employees, including over 45 investment, origination and credit management professionals, and over 40 operations, accounting,
legal, compliance and marketing professionals, each with extensive experience in their respective disciplines.
The significant majority of our revenue is derived from management fees, which include base management fees earned
on all of our investment products as well as Part I incentive fees earned from our permanent capital vehicles and from certain of
our long-dated private funds. Our base management fees are generally calculated based upon fee earning assets and paid quarterly
in cash. Our Part I incentive fees are typically calculated based upon net investment income, subject to a hurdle rate, and are also
paid quarterly in cash.
We also generally earn performance fees from our long-dated private funds and SMAs. Typically, these performance fees
are 15.0% to 20.0% of the total return above a hurdle rate. These performance fees are accrued quarterly and paid after return of
all invested capital and an amount sufficient to achieve the hurdle rate of return.
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We also receive incentive fees related to realized capital gains in our permanent capital vehicles and certain of our longdated private funds that we refer to as Part II incentive fees. Part II incentive fees are payable annually and are calculated at the
end of each applicable year by subtracting (i) the sum of cumulative realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation
from (ii) cumulative aggregate realized capital gains. If the amount calculated is positive, then the Part II incentive fee for such
year is equal to 20% of such amount, less the aggregate amount of Part II incentive fees paid in all prior years. If such amount is
negative, then no Part II incentive fee will be payable for such year. As our investment strategy is focused on generating yield
from senior secured credit, historically we have not generated Part II incentive fees.
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, 89%, 89% and 88%, respectively, of our revenues were generated
from management fees and performance fees derived primarily from net interest income on senior secured loans.
Our primary expenses are compensation to our employees, performance fee compensation and general, administrative
and other expenses. Compensation includes salaries, discretionary bonuses, stock-based compensation and benefits paid and
payable to our employees. Performance fee compensation is related to performance fees, generally consisting of incentive
allocations in our long-dated private funds that we grant to certain of our professionals. General and administrative expenses
include costs primarily related to professional services, office rent and related expenses, expense support agreement expenses
related to SIC, depreciation and amortization, travel and related expenses, information technology, communication and information
services, placement fees and third-party marketing expenses and other general operating items.
Reorganization and Initial Public Offering
Medley Management Inc. was incorporated on June 13, 2014 and commenced operations on September 29, 2014 upon
the completion of its IPO of its Class A common stock. We raised $100.4 million, net of underwriting discounts, through the
issuance of 6,000,000 shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $18.00 per share. The offering proceeds were
used to purchase 6,000,000 newly issued LLC Units from Medley LLC. Prior to the IPO, Medley Management Inc. had not engaged
in any business or other activities except in connection with its formation and IPO.
In connection with the IPO, Medley Management Inc. issued 100 shares of Class B common stock to Medley Group LLC
(“Medley Group”), an entity wholly owned by the pre-IPO members of Medley LLC. For so long as the pre-IPO members and
then-current Medley personnel hold at least 10% of the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock and LLC Units
(excluding those LLC Units held by Medley Management Inc.) then outstanding, the Class B common stock entitles Medley Group
to a number of votes that is equal to 10 times the aggregate number of LLC Units held by all non-managing members of Medley
LLC that do not themselves hold shares of Class B common stock and entitle each other holder of Class B common stock, without
regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by such other holder, to a number of votes that is equal to 10 times
the number of membership units held by such holder.
In connection with the IPO, Medley LLC amended and restated its limited liability agreement to modify its capital
structure by reclassifying the 23,333,333 interests held by the pre-IPO members into a single new class of units. The pre-IPO
members also entered into an exchange agreement under which they (or certain permitted transferees thereof) have the right,
subject to the terms of the exchange agreement, to exchange their LLC Units for shares of Medley Management Inc.’s Class A
common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and
reclassifications. In addition, pursuant to the amended and restated limited liability agreement, Medley Management Inc. became
the sole managing member of Medley LLC.
Our Structure
Medley Management Inc. is a holding company and its sole asset is a controlling equity interest in Medley LLC. Medley
Management Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs and consolidates the financial results of Medley LLC and
its subsidiaries. We and our pre-IPO owners have also entered into an exchange agreement under which they (or certain permitted
transferees) have the right (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement), to exchange their LLC Units for shares of our Class
A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and
reclassifications.
Medley Group LLC, an entity wholly-owned by our pre-IPO owners, holds all 100 issued and outstanding shares of our
Class B common stock. For so long as our pre-IPO owners and then-current Medley personnel hold at least 10% of the aggregate
number of shares of Class A common stock and LLC Units (excluding those LLC Units held by Medley Management Inc.), which
we refer to as the “Substantial Ownership Requirement,” the Class B common stock entitles Medley Group LLC, without regard
to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by it, to a number of votes that is equal to 10 times the aggregate number
of LLC Units held by all non-managing members of Medley LLC that do not themselves hold shares of Class B common stock
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and entitle each other holder of Class B common stock, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by
such other holder, to a number of votes that is equal to 10 times the number of LLC Units held by such holder. For purposes of
calculating the Substantial Ownership Requirement, (1) shares of Class A common stock deliverable to our pre-IPO owners and
then-current Medley personnel pursuant to outstanding equity awards will be deemed then outstanding and (2) shares of Class A
common stock and LLC Units held by any estate, trust, partnership or limited liability company or other similar entity of which
any pre-IPO owner or then-current Medley personnel, or any immediate family member thereof, is a trustee, partner, member or
similar party will be considered held by such pre-IPO owner or other then-current Medley personnel. From and after the time that
the Substantial Ownership Requirement is no longer satisfied, the Class B common stock will entitle Medley Group LLC, without
regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by it, to a number of votes that is equal to the aggregate number of
LLC Units held by all non-managing members of Medley LLC that do not themselves hold shares of Class B common stock and
entitle each other holder of Class B common stock, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by such
other holder, to a number of votes that is equal to the number of LLC Units held by such holder. At the completion of our IPO,
our pre-IPO owners were comprised of all of the non-managing members of Medley LLC. However, Medley LLC may in the
future admit additional non-managing members that would not constitute pre-IPO owners. If at any time the ratio at which LLC
Units are exchangeable for shares of our Class A common stock changes from one-for-one as set forth in the Exchange Agreement,
the number of votes to which Class B common stockholders are entitled will be adjusted accordingly. Holders of shares of our
Class B common stock will vote together with holders of our Class A common stock as a single class on all matters on which
stockholders are entitled to vote generally, except as otherwise required by law.
Other than Medley Management Inc., holders of LLC Units, including our pre-IPO owners, are, subject to limited
exceptions, prohibited from transferring any LLC Units held by them upon consummation of our IPO, or any shares of Class A
common stock received upon exchange of such LLC Units, until the third anniversary of our IPO without our consent. Thereafter
and prior to the fourth and fifth anniversaries of our IPO, such holders may not transfer more than 33 1/3% and 66 2/3%, respectively,
of the number of LLC Units held by them upon consummation of our IPO, together with the number of any shares of Class A
common stock received by them upon exchange therefor, without our consent. While this agreement could be amended or waived
by us, our pre-IPO owners have advised us that they do not intend to seek any waivers of these restrictions.
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The diagram below depicts our organizational structure (excluding those operating subsidiaries with no material operations
or assets) as of March 15, 2017:

____________
(1) The Class B common stock provides Medley Group LLC with a number of votes that is equal to 10 times the aggregate number
of LLC Units held by all non-managing members of Medley LLC. From and after the time that the Substantial Ownership
Requirement is no longer satisfied, the Class B common stock will provide Medley Group LLC with a number of votes that
is equal to the aggregate number of LLC Units held by all non-managing members of Medley LLC that do not themselves
hold shares of Class B common stock.
(2) If our pre-IPO owners exchanged all of their LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock, they would hold 80.07% of the
outstanding shares of Class A common stock, entitling them to an equivalent percentage of economic interests and voting
power in Medley Management Inc., Medley Group LLC would hold no voting power or economic interests in Medley
Management Inc. and Medley Management Inc. would hold 100% of outstanding LLC Units and 100% of the voting power
in Medley LLC.
(3) Strategic Capital Advisory Services, LLC owns 20% of SIC Advisors LLC and is entitled to receive distributions of up to
20% of the gross cash proceeds received by SIC Advisors LLC from the management and incentive fees payable by Sierra
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(4)
(5)

(6)
(7)

Income Corporation to SIC Advisors LLC, net of certain expenses, as well as 20% of the returns of the investments held at
SIC Advisors LLC.
Medley LLC holds 96.5% of the Class B economic interests in each of MCOF Management LLC, and Medley (Aspect)
Management LLC.
Pursuant to the Master Investment Agreement among Medley LLC, Medley Seed Funding I LLC, Medley Seed Funding II
LLC, Medley Seed Funding III LLC, DB MED Investor I LLC and DB MED Investor II LLC, dated June 3, 2016, Medley
LLC holds 100% of the outstanding Common Interest and DB MED Investor I LLC holds 100% of the outstanding Preferred
Interest in this entity.
As of March 1, 2017, certain employees, former employees and former members of Medley LLC hold approximately 40%
of the limited liability company interests in MOF II GP LLC, the entity that serves as general partner of MOF II, entitling the
holders to share the performance fees earned from MOF II.
Medley GP Holdings LLC holds 96.5% of the Class B economic interests in each of MCOF GP LLC, and Medley (Aspect)
GP LLC.

Trends Affecting Our Business
We believe that our disciplined investment philosophy contributes to the stability of our firm’s performance. Our results
of operations, including the fair value of our AUM, are affected by a variety of factors, including conditions in the global financial
markets as well as economic and political environments, particularly in the U.S.
During the first half of fiscal year 2016, economic conditions continued to be unpredictable and volatile as it was during
fiscal year 2015. However, during the second half of fiscal year 2016, broad economic markets showed stability and loan volumes
across the lending spectrum improved. Loan funds received significant inflows while CLO issuances continued to increase in the
second half of 2016. Both these factors drove significant volume in the loan market and drove pricing lower. As a result, the
opportunity set for appropriate risk-adjusted investments reduced. Our platform provides us the ability to lend across the capital
structure and at varying interest rates providing our firm access to a larger borrower subset over time; however, we believe the
deployment of capital during fiscal year 2016, was prudent and cautious in-light of the prevailing market conditions.
In addition to these macroeconomic trends and market factors, our future performance is dependent on our ability to
attract new capital. We believe the following factors will influence our future performance:
•

The extent to which investors favor directly originated private credit investments. Our ability to attract additional
capital is dependent on investors’ views of directly originated private credit investments relative to traditional assets.
We believe fundraising efforts will continue to be impacted by certain fundamental asset management trends that
include: (i) the increasing importance of directly originated private credit investment strategies for institutional
investors; (ii) increasing demand for directly originated private credit investments from retail investors; (iii)
recognition by the consultant channel, which serves endowment and pension fund investors, that directly originated
private credit is an important component of asset allocation; (iv) increasing demand from insurance companies
seeking alternatives to investing in the liquid credit markets; and (v) de-leveraging of the global banking system,
bank consolidation and increased bank regulatory requirements.

•

Our ability to generate strong, stable returns and retain investor capital throughout market cycles. The capital we
are able to attract and retain drives the growth of our AUM, fee earning AUM and management fees. We believe we
are well positioned to invest through market cycles given our AUM is in either permanent capital vehicles or longdated private funds and SMAs.

•

Our ability to source investments with attractive risk-adjusted returns. Our ability to grow our revenue is dependent
on our continued ability to source attractive investments and deploy the capital that we have raised. We believe that
the current economic environment provides attractive investment opportunities. Our ability to identify attractive
investments and execute on those investments is dependent on a number of factors, including the general
macroeconomic environment, valuation, size and the liquidity of these investment opportunities. A significant
decrease in the quality or quantity of investment opportunities in the directly originated private credit market, a
substantial increase in corporate default rates, an increase in competition from new entrants providing capital to the
private debt market and a decrease in recovery rates of directly originated private credit could adversely affect our
ability to source investments with attractive risk-adjusted returns.

•

The attractiveness of our product offering to investors. We believe defined contribution plans, retail investors, public
institutional investors, pension funds, endowments, sovereign wealth funds and insurance companies are increasing
exposure to directly originated private credit investment products to seek differentiated returns and current yield.
Our permanent capital vehicles and long-dated private funds and SMAs benefit from this demand by offering
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institutional and retail investors the ability to invest in our private credit investment strategy. We believe that the
breadth, diversity and number of investment vehicles we offer allow us to maximize our reach with investors.
•

The strength of our investment process, operating platform and client servicing capabilities. Following the most
recent financial crisis, investors in alternative investments, including those managed by us, have heightened their
focus on matters such as manager due diligence, reporting transparency and compliance infrastructure. Since
inception, we have invested heavily in our investment monitoring systems, compliance and enterprise risk
management systems to proactively address investor expectations and the evolving regulatory landscape. We believe
these investments in operating infrastructure will continue to support our growth in AUM.

Components of Our Results of Operations
Management Fees. Management fees include both base management fees as well as Part I incentive fees.
•

Base Management Fees. Base management fees are generally based on a defined percentage of (i) average or total
gross assets, including assets acquired with leverage, (ii) total commitments, (iii) net invested capital, (iv) NAV or
(v) lower of cost or market value of a fund’s portfolio investments. These fees are calculated quarterly and are paid
in cash in advance or in arrears depending on each specific fund. Base management fees are recognized as revenue
in the period advisory services are rendered, subject to our assessment of collectability.
In addition, we also receive non asset-based management fees that may include special fees such as origination fees,
transaction fees and similar fees paid to us in connection with portfolio investments of our funds. These fees are
specific to particular transactions and the contractual terms of the portfolio investments, and are recognized when
earned.

•

Part I Incentive Fees. We also include Part I incentive fees that we receive from our permanent capital vehicles and
certain of our long-dated private funds in management fees. Part I incentive fees are paid quarterly, in cash, and are
driven primarily by net interest income on senior secured loans. Effective January 1, 2016, as it relates to MCC,
these fees are subject to netting against realized and unrealized losses. We are primarily an asset manager of yieldoriented products and our incentive fees are primarily derived from spread income rather than trading or capital
gains. In addition, we also carefully manage interest rate risk. We are generally positioned to benefit from a raising
rate environment, which should benefit fees paid to us from our vehicles and funds.

Performance Fees. Our long-dated private funds and SMAs may have industry standard carried interest performance fee
structures and are typically 15% to 20% of the total return over a 6.0% to 8.0% annualized preferred return. We record these fees
on an accrual basis, to the extent such amounts are contractually due but not paid, and we present this revenue as a separate line
item on our consolidated statements of operations. These fees are subject to repayment (clawback).
The timing and amount of performance fees generated by our funds is uncertain. If we were to have a realization event
in a particular quarter or year, it may have a significant impact on our results for that particular quarter or year that may not be
replicated in subsequent periods. Refer to “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and Industry.”
Generally, if at the termination of a fund (and sometimes at interim points in the life of a fund), the fund has not achieved
investment returns that (in most cases) exceed the preferred return threshold or (in all cases) the general partner receives net profits
over the life of the fund in excess of its allocable share under the applicable partnership agreement, we will be obligated to repay
an amount equal to the extent to which carried interest that was previously distributed to us exceeds the amounts to which we are
ultimately entitled. Medley had not received any distributions of performance fees through December 31, 2016, other than tax
distributions, a portion of which is subject to clawback. As of December 31, 2016, we accrued $7.1 million for clawback obligations
that would need to be paid if the funds were liquidated at fair value as of the end of the reporting period. Our actual obligation,
however, would not become payable or realized until the end of a fund’s life.
For any given period, performance fee revenue on our consolidated statements of operations may include reversals of
previously recognized performance fees due to a decrease in the value of a particular fund that results in a decrease of cumulative
performance fees earned to date. Since fund return hurdles are cumulative, previously recognized fees also may be reversed in a
period of appreciation that is lower than the particular fund's hurdle rate. For the year ended December 31, 2016, we did not reverse
previously recognized performance fees. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we reversed $24.0 million of previously recognized
performance fees. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we reversed $4.4 million and $2.3 million of previously recognized
performance fees on a standalone and consolidated basis, respectively. As of December 31, 2016, we recognized cumulative
performance fees of $7.1 million.
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•

Part II Incentive Fees. For our permanent capital vehicles and certain of our long-dated private funds, Part II incentive
fees generally represent 20.0% of each fund’s cumulative realized capital gains (net of realized capital losses and
unrealized capital depreciation). We have not received these fees historically, and do not expect such fees to be
material in the future given our focus on senior secured lending.

Other Revenues and Fees. We provide administrative services to certain of our vehicles that are reported as other revenues
and fees. Such fees are recognized as revenue in the period that administrative services are rendered. These fees are generally
based on expense reimbursements for the portion of overhead and other expenses incurred by certain professionals directly
attributable to each respective fund. These fees are reported within total revenues in our audited consolidated financial statements
included in this Form 10-K.
In certain cases, the entities that receive management and incentive fees from our funds are owned by Medley LLC
together with other persons. See “Critical Accounting Policies” and Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to our
audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for additional information regarding the manner in which
management fees, performance fees and other fees are generated.
Expenses
Compensation and Benefits. Compensation and benefits generally includes salaries, discretionary bonuses and benefits
paid and payable to our employees. Compensation also includes stock-based compensation associated with the grants of equitybased awards to our employees. Compensation expense relating to restricted stock units that are expected to vest are measured at
fair value as of the grant date, and are expensed over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Bonuses are accrued over the
service period to which they relate.
Guaranteed payments made to our senior professionals who are members of Medley LLC are recognized as compensation
expense. The guaranteed payments to our Co-Chief Executive Officers are performance based and periodically set subject to
maximums based on our total assets under management. Such maximums aggregated to $5.0 million, $3.0 million and $3.0 million
for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. Commencing with the fourth quarter of 2014 and for the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015, neither of our Co-Chief Executive Officers received any guaranteed payments.
Performance Fee Compensation. Performance fee compensation includes compensation related to performance fees,
which generally consists of profit interests that we grant to our employees. Depending on the nature of each fund, the performance
fee participation is generally structured as a fixed percentage or as an annual award. The liability is recorded subject to the vesting
of the profit interests granted and is calculated based upon the net present value of the projected performance fees. Payments to
profit interest holders are payable when the performance fees are paid to Medley LLC by the respective fund. It is possible that
we may record performance fee compensation during a period in which we do not record any performance fee revenue or we have
a reversal of previously recognized performance fee revenue. We have an obligation to pay our employees a portion of the
performance fees earned from certain funds.
Consolidated Funds Expenses. Consolidated Funds expenses consist primarily of costs incurred by our Consolidated
Funds during the year ended December 31, 2014, including professional fees, research expenses, trustee fees and other costs
associated with administering these funds. These expenses are generally attributable to the related funds’ limited partners and are
allocated to non-controlling interests. As such, these expenses have no material impact on the net income attributable to Medley
and its consolidated subsidiaries.
General, Administrative and Other Expenses. General and administrative expenses include costs primarily related to
professional services, office rent, depreciation and amortization, general insurance, recruiting, travel and related expenses,
information technology, communication and information services, placement fees, SIC expenses under an investment advisory
and expense support and reimbursement agreements and other general operating items.
Other Income (Expense)
Dividend Income. Dividend income consists of dividends associated with our equity method investment in SIC and our
available-for-sale securities. Dividends are recognized on an accrual basis to the extent that such amounts are declared and expected
to be collected.
Interest Expense. Interest expense consists primarily of interest expense relating to debt incurred by us.
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Other Income (Expenses), Net. Other income (expenses), net consists primarily of expenses associated with our revenue
share payable, equity income (loss) and unrealized gains (losses) associated with our equity method investments.
Interest and Other Income of Consolidated Funds. Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds relates to interest
and dividend income generated from the underlying investments securities. Interest and other income are recognized on an accrual
basis to the extent such amounts are expected to be collected. These sources of revenue are generally attributable to the related
funds’ limited partners and are allocated to non-controlling interests. As such, these sources of revenue have no direct material
impact on the net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC.
Interest Expense of Consolidated Funds. Interest expense of Consolidated Funds relates to interest and dividend income
generated from the underlying investments securities attributable to the counterparty to the loan participations. Interest expense
on secured borrowings of our Consolidated Funds is recognized on the same basis as the underlying interest and other income. As
such, this interest expense has no direct material impact on the net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and noncontrolling interests in Medley LLC.
Net Realized Gain (Loss) on Investments of Consolidated Funds. Net realized gain (loss) on investments of Consolidated
Funds consists of realized gains and losses arising from dispositions of investments held by our Consolidated Funds. Substantially
all of the net investment gains (losses) of our Consolidated Funds are generally attributable to the related funds’ limited partners
and allocated to non-controlling interests.
Net Change in Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation) on Investments of Consolidated Funds. Net change in unrealized
appreciation (depreciation) on investments of Consolidated Funds reflects both unrealized gains and losses on investments from
periodic changes in fair value of investments held by our Consolidated Funds and the reversal upon disposition of investments of
unrealized gains and losses previously recognized for those investments. The net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation)
on investments of Consolidated Funds is generally attributable to the related funds’ limited partners and allocated to non-controlling
interests.
Net Change in Unrealized Depreciation (Appreciation) on Secured Borrowings of Consolidated Funds. Net change in
unrealized depreciation (appreciation) on secured borrowings of Consolidated Funds reflects both unrealized gains and losses
from periodic changes in the fair value of these secured borrowings attributable to loan participations of our Consolidated Funds
and the reversal upon repayments of these secured borrowings of unrealized gains and losses previously recognized for these
secured borrowings. The net change in unrealized depreciation (appreciation) on secured borrowings of Consolidated Funds is
attributable to the counterparty to the loan participations. As such, these unrealized gains and losses have no material impact on
the net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC.
Provision for (Benefit From) Income Taxes. Prior to our Reorganization and IPO, our business was organized as a
partnership for tax purposes and was not subject to United States federal, state and local corporate income taxes. A provision for
income taxes was made for certain entities that were subject to New York City's unincorporated business tax. As a result of the
Reorganization and IPO, Medley Management Inc. is subject to U.S. federal, state and local corporate income taxes on its allocable
portion of the income of Medley LLC at prevailing corporate tax rates. Medley LLC and its subsidiaries are not subject to U.S.
federal, state and local corporate income taxes since all gains and losses are passed through to its members. However, Medley
LLC and its subsidiaries are subject to New York City’s unincorporated business tax on its taxable income allocated to New York
City. Our effective income tax rate is dependent on many factors, including the impact of nondeductible items and a rate benefit
attributable to the fact that a portion of our earnings are not subject to corporate level taxes.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. To the extent it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be recognized,
a valuation allowance is provided to offset their benefit.
We recognize the benefit of an income tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained
upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benefit is recognized. The tax benefits
recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. Interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters are recognized as a component of the provision for income
taxes.
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Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Funds. Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in Consolidated Funds represents the ownership interests that third parties hold in Consolidated Funds that
are consolidated in our financial statements.
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests and Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated
Subsidiaries. Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable non-controlling interests and non-controlling interests in consolidated
subsidiaries represents the ownership interests that third parties hold in our consolidated subsidiaries.
Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Medley LLC. Net income attributable to non-controlling interests
in Medley LLC represents the ownership interests that non-managing members’ hold in Medley LLC.
Our private funds are closed-end funds, and accordingly do not permit investors to redeem their interests other than in
limited circumstances that are beyond our control, such as instances in which retaining the limited partnership interest could cause
the limited partner to violate a law, regulation or rule. In addition, SMAs for a single investor may allow such investor to terminate
the investment management agreement at the discretion of the investor pursuant to the terms of the applicable documents. We
manage assets for MCC and SIC, both of which are BDCs. The capital managed by MCC and SIC is permanently committed to
these funds and cannot be redeemed by investors.
Managing Business Performance
Non-GAAP Financial Information
In addition to analyzing our results on a GAAP basis, management also makes operating decisions and assesses business
performance based on the financial and operating metrics and data that are presented without the impact of consolidation of any
funds. Core Net Income, Core EBITDA, Core Net Income Per Share and Core Net Income Margin are non-GAAP financial
measures that are used by management to assess the performance of our business. There are limitations associated with the use of
non-GAAP financial measures as compared to the use of the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure and these
measures supplement and should be considered in addition to and not in lieu of the results of operations discussed further under
‘‘— Results of Operations,’’ which are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Furthermore, such measures may be inconsistent
with measures presented by other companies. For a reconciliation of these measures to the most comparable measure in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, see ‘‘— Reconciliation of Certain Non-GAAP Performance Measures to Consolidated U.S. GAAP Financial
Measures.’’
Core Net Income. Core Net Income is an income measure that is used by management to assess the performance of our
business through the removal of non-core items, as well as non-recurring expenses associated with our IPO. It is calculated by
adjusting net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Medley
LLC to exclude reimbursable expenses associated with the launch of funds, amortization of stock-based compensation expense
associated with grants of restricted stock units at the time of our IPO, other non-core items, the income tax impact of these
adjustments and, for periods prior to January 1, 2015, adjustments to reverse the effect of the consolidation of Consolidated Funds.
Core Earnings Before Interest, Income Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (Core EBITDA). Core EBITDA is an income
measure also used by management to assess the performance of our business. Core EBITDA is calculated as Core Net Income
before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.
Pro-Forma Weighted Average Shares Outstanding. The calculation of Pro-Forma Weighted Average Shares Outstanding
assumes the conversion by the pre-IPO holders of 23,333,333 LLC Units for 23,333,333 shares of Class A common stock at the
beginning of each period presented, the vesting of the weighted average number of restricted stock units during each of the periods
presented and, at the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2014, the issuance of 6,000,000 shares of Class A common stock
in connection with our IPO.
Core Net Income Per Share. Core Net Income Per Share is Core Net Income adjusted for corporate income taxes assuming
that all of our pre-tax earnings are subject to federal, state and local corporate income taxes, divided by Pro-Forma Weighted
Average Shares Outstanding (as defined above). In determining corporate income taxes we used an annual effective corporate tax
rate of 43.0%. Please refer to the calculation of Core Net Income Per Share in “— Reconciliation of Certain Non-GAAP Performance
Measures to Consolidated U.S. GAAP Financial Measures.”
Core Net Income Margin. Core Net Income Margin equals Core Net Income Per Share divided by total revenue per share
and, for periods prior to January 1, 2015, total standalone revenue per share.
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Prior to January 1, 2015, under U.S. GAAP, we were required to consolidate entities in which we hold a majority voting
interest or have majority ownership and control over the operational, financial and investing decisions of that entity, including
affiliated funds, for which we are the general partner and are presumed to have control, and entities that we conclude are VIEs,
for which we are deemed the primary beneficiary. See “Critical Accounting Policies — Principles of Consolidation” and Note 2,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. We
refer to “standalone financial information” or information presented on a “standalone basis” as information derived from our
consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations for periods prior to January 1, 2015 that has been adjusted to eliminate
the effects of the Consolidated Funds on our statements of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2014 , revenues from
management fees, performance fees and investment income on a standalone basis were greater than those presented on a
consolidated basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP because certain revenues recognized from Consolidated Funds were eliminated
in consolidation. Furthermore, for that year, expenses on a standalone basis were lower than related amounts presented on a
consolidated basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP due to the exclusion of the expenses of the Consolidated Funds.
Key Performance Indicators
When we review our performance we focus on the indicators described below:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(Amounts in thousands, except AUM, share and
per share amounts)
Consolidated Financial Data:
Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and
non-controlling interests in Medley LLC
Net income per Class A common stock (1)
Net Income Margin (2)
Weighted average shares - Basic and Diluted

$
$

Non-GAAP Data:
Core Net Income(3)
Core EBITDA
Core Net Income Per Share
Core Net Income Margin
Pro-Forma Weighted Average Shares Outstanding

7,403
$
21,517
$
37,750
0.02
$
0.46
$
0.24
9.7%
31.9%
45.7%
5,804,042
6,002,422
6,000,000

$

25,531
$
29,747
$
40,882
38,481
41,721
47,957
$
0.54
$
0.61
$
0.79
21.7%
27.7%
29.2%
30,689,412
30,459,958
30,491,417

Other Data (at period end, in millions):
AUM
Fee Earning AUM

$

5,335
3,190

$

4,779
3,302

$

3,682
3,058

____________
(1) With respect to the year ended December 31, 2014, Net income per Class A common stock is based on net income attributable
to Medley Management Inc. for the period September 29, 2014 through December 31, 2014.
(2) Net Income Margin equals Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC
divided by total revenue and, for periods prior to January 1, 2015, total standalone revenue.
(3) With respect to the year ended December 31, 2014, Core Net Income includes a pro-forma adjustment to reflect guaranteed
payments to Medley LLC members as compensation expense. Prior to the Company's Reorganization and IPO these payments
were recorded as distributions from members' capital.
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AUM
AUM refers to the assets of our funds. We view AUM as a metric to measure our investment and fundraising performance
as it reflects assets generally at fair value plus available uncalled capital. For our funds, our AUM equals the sum of the following:
•

Gross asset values or NAV of such funds;

•

the drawn and undrawn debt (at the fund-level, including amounts subject to restrictions); and

•

uncalled committed capital (including commitments to funds that have yet to commence their investment periods).

The table below provides the roll forward of AUM.

Beginning balance, December 31, 2013
Commitments (1)
Capital reduction (2)
Distributions (3)
Change in fund value (4)
Ending balance, December 31, 2014
Commitments (1)
Capital reduction (2)
Distributions (3)
Change in fund value (4)
Ending balance, December 31, 2015
Commitments (1)
Capital reduction (2)
Distributions (3)
Change in fund value (4)
Ending balance, December 31, 2016

Long-dated
Permanent
Private
Capital
Funds
Vehicles
and SMAs
(Dollars in millions)
$
1,279 $
1,004 $
1,037
704
(185)
—
(33)
(109)
(61)
46
$
2,253 $
1,429 $
485
874
(17)
(23)
(75)
(137)
$

$

(32)
2,546 $
33
(12)
(125)
85
2,527 $

22
2,233 $
858
—
(315)
32
2,808

$

Total

% of AUM
Long-dated
Permanent
Private
Capital
Funds
Vehicles
and SMAs

2,283
1,741
(185)
(142)
(15)
3,682
1,359
(40)
(212)
(10)

56%

44%

61%

39%

4,779
891
(12)
(440)

53%

47%

47%

53%

117
5,335

____________
(1) With respect to permanent capital vehicles, represents increases during the period through equity and debt offerings, subject
to restrictions, as well as any increases in available undrawn borrowings or capital commitments. With respect to long-dated
private funds and SMAs, represents new commitments or gross inflows, respectively, as well as any increases in available
undrawn borrowings.
(2) Represents the permanent reduction in equity or leverage during the period.
(3) With respect to permanent capital vehicles, represents distributions of income. With respect to long-dated private funds and
SMAs, represents return of capital, given our funds’ stage in their respective life cycle and the prioritization of capital
distributions.
(4) Includes interest income, realized and unrealized gains (losses), fees and/or expenses.
AUM increased by $555.2 million, or 12%, to $5.3 billion as of December 31, 2016 compared to AUM as of December
31, 2015. Our permanent capital vehicles remained consistent at $2.5 billion as of December 31, 2016. Our long-dated private
funds and SMAs increased AUM by $575.1 million, or 26%, primarily associated with new capital commitments from our longdated private funds and SMAs, partly offset by distributions by our long-dated private funds and SMAs as some of our vehicles
are no longer in the investment period.
AUM increased by $1.1 billion, or 30%, to $4.8 billion as of December 31, 2015 compared to AUM as of December 31,
2014. Our permanent capital vehicles increased AUM by $293.0 million, or 13%, primarily associated with new equity issuances
at SIC and increased leverage capacity at both MCC and SIC during the period. Our long-dated private funds and SMAs increased
AUM by $804.3 million, or 56%, primarily associated with new capital commitments from our SMAs.
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AUM increased by $1.4 billion, or 61%, to $3.7 billion as of December 31, 2014 compared to AUM as of December 31,
2013. Our permanent capital vehicles increased AUM by $974.9 million, or 76%, primarily associated with new equity issuances
and increased leverage capacity at both MCC and SIC during the period. Our long-dated private funds and SMAs increased AUM
by $424.4 million, or 42%, primarily associated with new capital commitments from our SMAs.
Fee Earning AUM
Fee earning AUM refers to assets under management on which we directly earn base management fees. We view fee
earning AUM as a metric to measure changes in the assets from which we earn management fees. Our fee earning AUM is the
sum of all the individual fee earning assets of our funds that contribute directly to our management fees and generally equals the
sum of:
•

for our permanent capital vehicles, the average or total gross asset value, including assets acquired with the proceeds
of leverage (see “Fee earning AUM based on gross asset value” in the “Components of Fee Earning AUM” table
below for the amount of this component of fee earning AUM as of each period);

•

for certain funds within the investment period in the long-dated private funds, the amount of limited partner capital
commitments (see “Fee earning AUM based on capital commitments” in the “Components of Fee Earning AUM”
table below for the amount of this component of fee earning AUM as of each period); and

•

for the aforementioned funds beyond the investment period and certain managed accounts within their investment
period, the amount of limited partner invested capital or the NAV of the fund (see “Fee earning AUM based on
invested capital or NAV” in the “Components of Fee Earning AUM” table below for the amount of this component
of fee earning AUM as of each period).

Our calculations of fee earning AUM and AUM may differ from the calculations of other asset managers and, as a result,
this measure may not be comparable to similar measures presented by others. In addition, our calculations of fee earning AUM
and AUM may not be based on any definition of fee earning AUM or AUM that is set forth in the agreements governing the
investment funds that we advise.
Components of Fee Earning AUM

Fee earning AUM based on gross asset value
Fee earning AUM based on capital commitments
Fee earning AUM based on invested capital or NAV
Total fee earning AUM

$

$

As of December 31,
2016
2015
(Amounts in millions)
2,207 $
2,238
113
113
870
951
3,190 $
3,302

As of December 31, 2016, fee earning AUM based on gross asset value decreased by $31.5 million, or 1%, compared to
December 31, 2015. The decrease in fee earning AUM based on gross asset value was due primarily to a decrease at MCC that
resulted from lower leverage capacity, a decline in portfolio asset valuations and share repurchases, partly offset by new equity
issuances at SIC.
As of December 31, 2016, fee earning AUM based on capital commitments remained consistent compared to December 31,
2015.
As of December 31, 2016, fee earning AUM based on invested capital or NAV decreased by $80.7 million, or 8%,
compared to December 31, 2015. The decrease in fee earning AUM based on invested capital or NAV was due primarily to
distributions of income and return of capital by our long-dated private funds and SMAs as some of our vehicles are no longer in
the investment period, partly offset by new capital commitments from our long-dated private funds and SMAs.
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The table below presents the roll forward of Fee Earning AUM.

Beginning balance, December 31, 2013
Commitments (1)
Capital reduction (2)
Distributions (3)
Change in fund value (4)
Ending balance, December 31, 2014
Commitments (1)
Capital reduction (2)
Distributions (3)
Change in fund value (4)
Ending balance, December 31, 2015
Commitments (1)
Capital reduction (2)
Distributions (3)
Change in fund value (4)
Ending balance, December 31, 2016

Long-dated
Permanent
Private
Capital
Funds
Vehicles
and SMAs
(Dollars in millions)
$
1,072 $
934 $
1,036
439
(253)
—
(49)
(107)
(60)
46
$

$

$

2,047 $
383
(23)
(137)
(32)
2,238 $
22
(12)
(126)
85
2,207 $

Total

% of Fee Earning AUM
Long-dated
Permanent
Private
Capital
Funds
Vehicles
and SMAs

2,006
1,475
(253)
(156)
(14)

53%

47%

1,011 $
221
(17)
(95)
(56)

3,058
604
(40)
(232)
(88)

67%

33%

1,064 $
194
—
(285)

3,302
216
(12)
(411)

68%

32%

69%

31%

10
983

$

95
3,190

____________
(1) With respect to permanent capital vehicles, represents increases or temporary reductions during the period through equity and
debt offerings, as well as any increases in capital commitments. With respect to long-dated private funds and SMAs, represents
new commitments or gross inflows, respectively.
(2) Represents the permanent reduction in equity or leverage during the period.
(3) Represents distributions of income, return of capital and return of portfolio investment capital to the fund.
(4) Includes interest income, realized and unrealized gains (losses), fees and/or expenses.
Total fee earning AUM decreased by $112.2 million, or 3%, to $3.2 billion as of December 31, 2016 compared to total
fee earning AUM as of December 31, 2015, due primarily to distributions of income and return of capital by our long-dated private
funds and SMAs as some of our vehicles are no longer in the investment period.
Total fee earning AUM increased by $243 million, or 8%, to $3.3 billion as of December 31, 2015 compared to total fee
earning AUM as of December 31, 2014 and was due primarily to increased commitments from SIC and SMAs.
Total fee earning AUM increased by $1.0 billion, or 52%, to $3.0 billion as of December 31, 2014 compared to total fee
earning AUM as of December 31, 2013 and was due primarily to increased commitments from permanent capital vehicles.
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Returns
The following section sets forth historical performance for our active funds.
Sierra Income Corporation (SIC)
We launched SIC, our first public non-traded permanent capital vehicle, in April 2012. SIC primarily focuses on direct
lending to middle market borrowers in the U.S. Since inception, we have provided capital for a total of 253 investments and have
invested a total of $1.6 billion. As of December 31, 2016, the fee earning AUM was $1.2 billion. The performance for SIC as of
December 31, 2016 is summarized below:
Annualized Net Total Return(1):
Annualized Realized Losses on Invested Capital:
Average Recovery:

6.6%
0.6%
75.6%

Medley Capital Corporation (MCC)
We launched MCC, our first permanent capital vehicle in January 2011. MCC primarily focuses on direct lending to
private middle market borrowers in the U.S. Since inception, we have provided capital for a total of 173 investments and have
invested a total of $1.9 billion. As of December 31, 2016, excluding Medley SBIC LP, the fee earning AUM was $796 million.
The performance for MCC as of December 31, 2016 is summarized below:
Annualized Net Total Return(2):
Annualized Realized Losses on Invested Capital:
Average Recovery(3):

6.7%
1.3%
NM

Medley SBIC LP (Medley SBIC)
We launched Medley SBIC in March 2013 as a wholly owned subsidiary of MCC. Medley SBIC lends to smaller middle
market private borrowers that we otherwise would not target in our other funds, due primarily to size. Since inception, we have
provided capital for a total of 31 investments and have invested a total of $330 million. As of December 31, 2016, the fee earning
AUM was $237 million. The performance for Medley SBIC fund as of December 31, 2016 is summarized below:
Gross Portfolio Internal Rate of Return(4):
Net Investor Internal Rate of Return(5):
Annualized Realized Losses on Invested Capital:
Average Recovery:

14.0%
16.0%
0.0%
N/A

Medley Opportunity Fund II LP (MOF II)
MOF II is a long-dated private investment fund that we launched in December 2010. MOF II lends to middle market
private borrowers, with a focus on providing senior secured loans. Since inception, we have provided capital for a total of 68
investments and have invested a total of $903 million. As of December 31, 2016, the fee earning AUM was $409 million. MOF
II is currently fully invested and actively managing its assets. The performance for MOF II as of December 31, 2016, is summarized
below:
Gross Portfolio Internal Rate of Return(4):
Net Investor Internal Rate of Return(6):
Annualized Realized Losses on Invested Capital:
Average Recovery(3):

11.6%
7.0%
1.7%
NM
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Medley Opportunity Fund III LP (MOF III)
MOF III is a long-dated private investment fund that we launched in December 2014. MOF III lends to middle market
private borrowers in the U.S., with a focus on providing senior secured loans. Since inception, we have provided capital for a total
of 23 investments and have invested a total of $129 million. As of December 31, 2016, the fee earning AUM was $113 million.
The performance for MOF III as of December 31, 2016 is not meaningful given the fund’s limited operations and capital invested
to date.
Other Long-Dated Private Funds
We launched Medley Credit Opportunity Fund (“MCOF”) in July 2016 to meet the current demand for equity capital
solutions in the traditional corporate debt-backed collateralized loan obligation (“CLO”) market. Its investment objective is to
generate current income, and also to generate capital appreciation through investing in CLO equity, as well as, equity and junior
debt tranches trading in the secondary market.
We launched Aspect-Medley Investment Platform A LP (“Aspect”) in November 2016 to meet the current demand for
equity capital solutions in the traditional corporate debt-backed collateralized loan obligation (“CLO”) market. Its investment
objective is to generate current income, and also to generate capital appreciation through investing in CLO equity, as well as,
equity and junior debt tranches trading in the secondary market.
The performance of MCOF and Aspect as of December 31, 2016 is not meaningful given the funds' limited operations
and capital invested to date.
Separately Managed Accounts (SMAs)
In the case of our SMAs, the investor, rather than us, may control the assets or investment vehicle that holds or has custody
of the related investments. Certain subsidiaries of Medley LLC serve as the investment adviser for our SMAs. Since inception,
we have provided capital for a total of 116 investments and have invested a total of $705 million. As of December 31, 2016, the
fee earning AUM in our SMAs was $420 million. The aggregate performance of our SMAs as of December 31, 2016, is summarized
below:
Gross Portfolio Internal Rate of Return(4):
Net Investor Internal Rate of Return(7):
Annualized Realized Losses on Invested Capital:
Average Recovery(3):

9.7%
7.7%
0.2%
NM

____________
(1) Annualized Net Total Return for SIC represents the annualized return assuming an investment at the initial public offering
price, reinvestments of all dividends and distributions at prices obtained under SIC’s dividend reinvestment plan and selling
at the NAV as of the measurement date.
(2) Annualized Net Total Return for MCC, including Medley SBIC, represents the annualized return assuming an investment at
the initial public offering price, reinvestments of all dividends and distributions at prices obtained under MCC's dividend
reinvestment plan and selling at NAV as of the measurement date.
(3) Average Recovery includes only those realized investments in which we experience a loss of principal on a cumulative cash
flow basis and is calculated by dividing the total actual cash inflows for each respective investment, including all interest,
principal and fee note repayments, dividends and transactions fees, if applicable, by the total actual cash outflows for each
respective investment. For MCC, MOF II and the SMAs, we have presented the Average Recovery as “NM” or “Not
Meaningful” because we believe the number of realized losses for each respective vehicle is not sufficient to provide an
accurate representation of the expected Average Recovery for each vehicle.
(4) For MOF II, SMAs and Medley SBIC, the Gross Portfolio Internal Rate of Return represents the cumulative investment
performance from inception of each respective fund through December 31, 2016. The Gross Portfolio Internal Rate of Return
includes both realized and unrealized investments and excludes the impact of base management fees, incentive fees and other
fund related expenses. For realized investments, the investment returns were calculated based on the actual cash outflows and
inflows for each respective investment and include all interest, principal and fee note repayments, dividends and transactions
fees, if applicable. For unrealized investments, the investment returns were calculated based on the actual cash outflows and
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inflows for each respective investment and include all interest, principal and fee note repayments, dividends and transactions
fees, if applicable. The investment return assumes that the remaining unrealized portion of the investment is realized at the
investment’s most recent fair value, as calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. There can be no assurance that the investments
will be realized at these fair values and actual results may differ significantly.
(5) Earnings from Medley SBIC are paid to MCC. The Net Internal Rate of Return for Medley SBIC was calculated based upon
i) the actual cash contribution and distributions to/from MCC and Medley SBIC ii) an allocable portion of MCC’s management
and incentive fees and general fund related expenses and iii) assumes the NAV as of the measurement date is distributed to
MCC. As of December 31, 2016, Medley SBIC Net Internal Rate of Return as described above assuming only the inclusion
of management fees was 21.0%.
(6) Net Investor Internal Rate of Return for MOF II was calculated net of all management fees and carried interest allocation
since inception and was computed based on the actual dates of capital contributions and the ending aggregate partners’ capital
at the end of the period.
(7) Net Investor Internal Rate of Return for our SMAs was calculated using the Gross Portfolio Internal Rate of Return, as described
in note 4, and includes the actual management fees, incentive fees and general fund related expenses.
Results of Operations
The following table and discussion sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.
The consolidated financial statements of Medley have been prepared on substantially the same basis for all historical
periods presented; however, for the year ended December 31, 2014, our results of operations included the impact of our Consolidated
Funds. Effective January 1, 2015, we deconsolidated our Consolidated Funds as a result of the early adoption of ASU 2015-02,
Consolidation (Topic 810) - Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we consolidated
funds where through our management contract and other interests we were deemed to have the power, through voting or similar
rights, to direct the activities of the legal entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance. As previously
described, the consolidation of these funds had the impact of increasing interest and other income of Consolidated Funds, interest
and other expenses of Consolidated Funds and net investment gains (losses) of Consolidated Funds, but had no net effect on the
net income attributable to our consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2014.

59

For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(Amounts in thousands, except AUM data)
Revenues
Management fees
Performance fees
Other revenues and fees
Total revenues

$

65,496
2,421
8,111
76,028

$

75,675
(15,685)
7,436
67,426

61,252
2,050
8,871
72,173

27,800
(319)

26,768
(8,049)

20,322
(1,543)

—
28,540

—
16,836

1,670
16,312

56,021

35,555

36,761

Dividend income
Interest expense
Other income (expenses), net
Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds
Interest expense of Consolidated Funds
Net realized gain (loss) on investments of Consolidated Funds
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments of
Consolidated Funds
Net change in unrealized depreciation (appreciation) on secured
borrowings of Consolidated Funds
Total other income (expense), net

1,304
(9,226)
(1,070)

886
(8,469)
(1,641)

886
(5,520)
(1,773)

—
(8,992)

—
(9,224)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net income (loss)

11,015
1,063
9,952
—

22,647
2,015
20,632
—

Expenses
Compensation and benefits
Performance fee compensation
Consolidated Funds expenses
General, administrative and other expenses
Total expenses
Other income (expense)

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Consolidated Funds
Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable non-controlling interests and
non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Medley LLC
Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc.
$

—
—
—

—
—
—

71,468
(9,951)

—

—

(20,557)

2,549
6,406
997

5,335
3,190

789

1,174
36,516
71,928
2,528
69,400
29,717

(885)
$

18,406
3,111

$

1,933
36,055
1,695

$
$

4,779
3,302

$
$

3,682
3,058

Other data (at period end, in millions):
AUM
Fee earning AUM

$
$

We refer to “standalone financial information” or information presented on a “standalone basis” as information derived
from our consolidated statements of operations for the period prior to January 1, 2015 that has been adjusted to eliminate the effects
of the Consolidated Funds on our consolidated statements of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2014, revenues from
management fees, performance fees and investment income on a standalone basis were greater than those presented on a consolidated
basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP because certain revenues recognized from Consolidated Funds were eliminated in
consolidation. Furthermore, during this period, expenses on a standalone basis were lower than related amounts presented on a
consolidated basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP due to the exclusion of the expenses of the Consolidated Funds.
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The following table reconciles the Company's standalone results to its consolidated results for the year ended December
31, 2014.

Standalone

Consolidation
and
Reconciling
Items

Consolidated

(Amounts in thousands)
Revenues
Management fees
Performance fees
Other revenues and fees
Total revenues

$

65,765
7,884
8,871
82,520

$

(4,513) $
(5,834)
(10,347)

61,252
2,050
8,871
72,173

Expenses
Compensation and benefits

20,322
(1,543)

Performance fee compensation
Consolidated Funds expenses
General, administrative and other expenses
Total expenses

—

20,322
(1,543)

—
1,670
—
1,670

—
16,312
35,091

1,670
16,312
36,761

Other income (expense)
Dividend income
Interest expense
Other income (expenses), net
Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds
Interest expense of Consolidated Funds
Net realized gain (loss) on investments of Consolidated Funds
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments of
Consolidated Funds
Net change in unrealized depreciation (appreciation) on secured
borrowings of Consolidated Funds
Total other expense, net

886
(5,520)
(2,097)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Consolidated Funds
Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable non-controlling interests and
non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Medley LLC
Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc.
$

—
—
324
71,468
(9,951)

—
—
—

886
(5,520)
(1,773)
71,468
(9,951)

789

789

(20,557)

(20,557)

40,698
1,015
39,683
—

1,174
43,247
31,230
1,513
29,717
29,717

1,174
36,516
71,928
2,528
69,400
29,717

1,933
36,055
1,695

—
—
—

1,933
36,055
1,695

—
—
(6,731)

$

$

Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015
Revenues
Management Fees. Total management fees decreased by $10.2 million, or 13%, to $65.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015.
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•

Our management fees from permanent capital vehicles decreased by $8.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2016 compared to the same period in 2015. Management fees from SIC increased by $7.6 million due to an increase
in Part I incentive fees and an 16% increase in average fee earning AUM for the year ended December 31, 2016
compared to the same period in 2015. Management fees from MCC decreased by $15.7 million due to a decrease in
Part I incentive fees and a 14% decrease in average fee earning AUM for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared
to the same period in 2015.

•

Our management fees from long-dated private funds and SMAs decreased by $2.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016, compared to the same period in 2015. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in origination
fees, partly offset by an increase in base management fees.

Performance Fees. Performance fees increased to $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to a
reversal of performance fees of $15.7 million for the same period in 2015. The increase was due to an increase in SMA performance
fees accrual for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to a reversal of performance fees of MOF II and SMAs for the year
ended December 31, 2015, which was the result of a decline in the underlying fund values.
Other Revenues and Fees. Other revenues and fees increased by $0.7 million, or 9%, to $8.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015. The increase was due primarily to an increase in administrative fees
from our permanent capital vehicles.
Expenses
Compensation and Benefits. Compensation and benefits increased by $1.0 million, or 4% to $27.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015. The increase was due primarily to an increase in salaries, that
resulted from an increase in headcount, and an increase in stock-based compensation expense, partly offset by a decrease in
discretionary compensation during the year ended December 31, 2016
Performance Fee Compensation. There was a reversal in performance fee compensation of $0.3 million during the year
ended December 31, 2016 as compared to a reversal of performance fee compensation of $8.0 million for the same period in 2015.
The variance in performance fee compensation was due primarily to changes in projected future payments.
General, Administrative and Other Expenses. General, administrative and other expenses increased by $11.7 million to
$28.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015. The increase was due primarily to an
increase in expense support agreement expenses related to SIC. The expense support agreement with SIC expired on December
31, 2016, as such, we will no longer be responsible for expenses under the expense support agreement relating to SIC.
Other Income (Expense)
Dividend Income. Dividend income increased by $0.4 million to $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016
compared to the same period in 2015. The increase was due to dividend income from our investment in available-for-sale securities
which were acquired during the year ended December 31, 2016.
Interest Expense. Interest expense increased by $0.8 million, or 9%, to $9.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2016 compared to the same period in 2015. The increase was primarily due to an acceleration of amortization of debt issuance
costs and discount relating to prepayments made on our Term Loan Facility as a result of the refinancing of our indebtedness from
the issuance of senior unsecured debt. Average debt outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $106.0
million and $105.9 million, respectively.
Other Income (Expenses), net. Other expenses, net decreased by $0.6 million to $1.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015. The decrease was due primarily to changes in fair value of our investment
in SIC.
Provision for Income Taxes
Our effective income tax rate was 9.7% and 8.9% for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Our tax
rate is affected by recurring items, such as permanent differences and income allocated to non-controlling interests which is not
subject to U.S. federal, state and local corporate income taxes. It is also affected by discrete items that may occur in any given
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year, but are not consistent from year to year. The increase in the effective tax rate during the year ended December 31, 2016 as
compared to the same period in 2015 was primarily attributed to the variance in the reversal of performance compensation which
is not included in taxable income.
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests and Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries
Net income attributable to redeemable non-controlling interests and non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries
increased by $3.4 million to $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015. The increase
was due primarily to a reversal of MOF II performance fees for the year ended December 31, 2015, a portion of which was allocated
to non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries.
Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2014
Revenues
Management Fees. Total management fees increased by $14.4 million, or 24%, to $75.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014.
•

Our permanent capital vehicles generated an additional $12.4 million in management fees for the year ended December
31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014. Management fees from SIC increased $12.7 million due to a 43%
increase in fee earning AUM over that period and due to an increase in Part I incentive fees. Management fees from
MCC decreased $0.2 million due to a decrease in Part I incentive fees, partially offset by a $2.2 million increase in
base management fees over that period.

•

Our management fees from long-dated private funds and SMAs increased by $2.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014. As previously discussed, the adoption of new consolidation guidance
led to the deconsolidation of our Consolidated Funds effective January 1, 2015. As a result of the deconsolidation,
management fees increased by $4.5 million compared to the same period in 2014. This increase was partially offset
by a decrease in origination fees.

Performance Fees. Performance fees decreased by $17.7 million to $(15.7) million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to the same period in 2014. The decrease was due primarily to the reversal of MOF II performance fees as a result of a
decrease in the asset values within the underlying MOF II portfolio. The decrease was partially offset by an increase of $5.8 million
in performance fees as a result of the deconsolidation of our Consolidated Funds for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared
to the same period in 2014.
Other Revenues and Fees. Other revenues and fees decreased by $1.4 million, or 16%, to $7.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014. The decrease was due primarily to a $3.8 million decrease in
reimbursements from SIC for organizational and offering expense. As of October 31, 2014, we were fully reimbursed by SIC, as
such there was no revenue associated with these reimbursements during the year ended December 31, 2015. The decrease was
partially offset by an increase in administrative fees from our permanent capital vehicles.
Expenses
Compensation and Benefits. Compensation and benefits increased by $6.4 million, or 32% to $26.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014. The increase was due primarily to increases in base salaries, stock
compensation incurred with the grant of restricted stock units in connection with our IPO and compensation associated with
guaranteed payments to Medley LLC members that, prior to the Company’s Reorganization and IPO, were recorded as distributions
from members’ capital. The increase in base salaries were primarily the result of a 20% increase in average headcount for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014.
Performance Fee Compensation. Performance fee compensation decreased by $6.5 million to $(8.0) million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014. The variance in performance fee compensation was due primarily
to a decrease in our performance fee compensation payable that resulted from a decrease in projected future payments.
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Consolidated Funds Expenses. Consolidated Funds expenses decreased by $1.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2015 compared to the same period in 2014 due to the deconsolidation of MOF I and MOF II as of January 1, 2015. There were
no Consolidated Funds expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015.
General, Administrative and Other Expenses. General, administrative and other expenses increased by $0.5 million, or
3%, to $16.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014. The increase was due primarily
to an increase in expense support agreement expenses related to SIC and an overall increase in general, administrative and other
expenses due to an overall growth of our business. The increase was partially offset by a decrease in organization and offering
expenses of SIC as a result of Medley not being liable for these expenses as of June 2, 2014.
Other Income (Expense)
When evaluating the changes in other income (expense), we separately analyze the returns generated by our investment
portfolio from the investment returns generated by our Consolidated Funds.
Dividend Income. Dividend income of $0.9 million remained consistent during the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to the same period in 2014.
Interest Expense. Interest expense increased by $2.9 million to $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to the same period in 2014. The increase was a direct result of our $110.0 million debt refinancing with Credit Suisse
AG Cayman Islands Branch. Average debt outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $105.9 million
and $70.5 million, respectively.
Other Income (Expenses), net. Other income (expenses), net decreased by $0.1 million to $1.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014. The decrease was due primarily to the deconsolidation of MOF I and
MOF II for the year ended December 31, 2015, a decrease in expense associated with our revenue share payable and a decrease
in loss from our investments in MOF I. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in unrealized loss from our investment in
SIC.
Investments of Consolidated Funds
Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds, excluding the amount attributable to loan participations, decreased by
$61.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014 due to the deconsolidation of MOF I
and MOF II as of January 1, 2015. There were no Consolidated Funds expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Net unrealized and realized gain (loss) on investments of Consolidated Funds, excluding the amount attributable to loan
participations, decreased by $18.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the same period in 2014 due to the
deconsolidation of MOF I and MOF II as of January 1, 2015. There was no unrealized or realized gain (loss) on investments of
Consolidated Funds for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Provision for Income Taxes
Our effective income tax rate was 8.9% and 3.5% for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The
increase in the effective tax rate was due primarily to the impact of the consolidation of MOF II for the year ended December 31,
2014, as MOF II earnings flow through to its owners and is not subject to federal or state income taxes at the entity level. In
addition, the Company was subject to federal, state and local income taxes on net income attributed to Medley Management Inc.
from September 29, 2014 through December 31, 2014. Prior to September 29, 2014, the Company was only subject to New York
City’s unincorporated business tax.
Non-Controlling Interests
Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Funds. Net income attributable to non-controlling
interests in Consolidated Funds decreased by $29.7 million to zero for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the same
period in 2014. As a result of the deconsolidation of our Consolidated Funds effective January 1, 2015, we no longer record net
income attributable to non-controlling interests in Consolidated Funds.
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Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries decreased by $2.8 million to $(0.9) million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to the same period in 2014. The decrease was primarily due to the reversal of performance fees of MOF II.
Reconciliation of Certain Non-GAAP Performance Measures to Consolidated U.S. GAAP Financial Measures
In addition to analyzing our results on a GAAP basis, management also makes operating decisions and assesses business
performance based on the financial and operating metrics and data that are presented without the impact of the consolidation of
any funds. Management believes that these measures provide analysts, investors and management with helpful information
regarding our underlying operating performance and our business, as they remove the impact of items management believes are
not reflective of underlying operating performance. These non-GAAP measures are also used by management for planning purposes,
including the preparation of internal budgets; and for evaluating the effectiveness of operational strategies. Additionally, we believe
these non-GAAP measures provide another tool for investors to use in comparing our results with other companies in our industry,
many of whom use similar non-GAAP measures. There are limitations associated with the use of non-GAAP financial measures
as compared to the use of the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure and these measures supplement and should
be considered in addition to and not in lieu of the results of operations discussed below. Furthermore, such measures may be
inconsistent with measures presented by other companies.
Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC is the U.S. GAAP
financial measure most comparable to Core Net Income and Core EBITDA. The following table is a reconciliation of net income
attributable to Medley Management Inc. and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC on a consolidated basis to Core Net Income
and Core EBITDA.
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per
share amounts)
$
997 $
3,111 $
1,695

Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc.
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in
Medley LLC
Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and
non-controlling interests in Medley LLC
Reimbursable fund startup expenses
IPO date award stock-based compensation
Adjustment for pre-IPO guaranteed payments to members (1)
Other non-core items (2)
Income tax benefit (expense) on adjustments
Core Net Income

$

Interest expense
Income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Core EBITDA
Core Net Income Per Share
Pro-Forma Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (3)

6,406

18,406

36,055

7,403
16,329
2,811
—
1,348
(2,360)

21,517
6,378
2,585
—
303
(1,036)

37,750
5,811
845
(3,380)
(5)
(139)

$

$

25,531
8,614
3,423
913
38,481

$

0.54
30,689,412

$

$

29,747
8,469
3,051
454
41,721

$

40,882
5,520
1,154
401
47,957

$

0.61

$

0.79

30,459,958

30,491,417

____________
(1) Represents a pro-forma adjustment to reflect guaranteed payments to Medley LLC members as compensation expense. Prior
to the Company's Reorganization and IPO, these payments were recorded as distributions from members' capital.
(2) For year ended December 31, 2016, other non-core items consist of a $0.6 million acceleration of amortization of debt issuance
costs and discount relating to prepayments made on our Term Loan Facility as a result of the refinancing of our indebtedness
from the issuance of senior unsecured debt, a $0.5 million impairment loss on our investment in CK Pearl Fund and a $0.2
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million severance cost to former employees. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, other non-core items consist
of severance costs to former employees.
(3) Assumes the conversion by the pre-IPO holders of 23,333,333 LLC Units for 23,333,333 shares of Class A common stock at
the beginning of each period presented, the vesting of the weighted average number of restricted stock units during each of
the periods presented and, at the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2014, the issuance of 6,000,000 shares of Class
A common stock in connection with our IPO.
The calculation of Core Net Income Per Share is presented in the table below:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per
share amounts)
Numerator
Core Net Income
Add: Income taxes
Pre-Tax Core Net Income

$
$

Denominator
Class A common stock
Conversion of LLC Units to Class A common stock
Restricted stock units
Pro-Forma Weighted Average Shares Outstanding
Pre-Tax Core Net Income Per Share
Less: corporate income taxes per share (1)
Core Net Income Per Share

25,531
3,423
28,954

$
$

29,747
3,051
32,798

$
$

40,882
1,154
42,036

5,804,042
6,002,422
6,000,000
23,333,333
23,333,333
23,333,333
1,552,037
1,124,203
1,158,084
30,689,412
30,459,958
30,491,417
$
0.94 $
1.08 $
1.38
(0.40)
(0.47)
(0.59)
$
0.54 $
0.61 $
0.79

____________
(1) Assumes that all of our pre-tax earnings are subject to federal, state and local corporate income taxes. In determining corporate
income taxes, we used a combined effective corporate tax rate of 43.0%.
Net Income Margin is the U.S. GAAP financial measure most comparable to Core Net Income Margin. Net Income margin
is equal to Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC divided by total
revenue and for the year ended December 31, 2014, total standalone revenue. The following table is a reconciliation of Net Income
Margin to Core Net Income Margin.
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
Net Income Margin
Reimbursable fund startup expenses (1)
IPO date award stock-based compensation (1)
Adjustment for pre-IPO guaranteed payments to members (1)(2)
Other non-core items (1)(3)
Provision for income taxes (1)
Corporate income taxes (4)
Core Net Income Margin

9.7 %
21.5 %
3.7 %
—%
1.8 %
1.4 %
(16.4)%
21.7 %

31.9 %
9.5 %
3.8 %
—%
0.4 %
3.0 %
(20.9)%
27.7 %

45.7 %
7.0 %
1.0 %
(4.0)%
0.0 %
1.3 %
(21.8)%
29.2 %

____________
(1) Adjustments to Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC to calculate
Core Net Income are presented as a percentage of total revenue, and, for the year ended December 31, 2014, total standalone
revenue.
(2) Represents a pro-forma adjustment to reflect guaranteed payments to Medley LLC members as compensation expense. Prior
to the Company's Reorganization and IPO, these payments were recorded as distributions from members' capital.
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(3) For year ended December 31, 2016, other non-core items consist of a $0.6 million acceleration of amortization of debt issuance
costs and discount relating to prepayments made on our Term Loan Facility as a result of the refinancing of our indebtedness
from the issuance of senior unsecured debt, a $0.5 million impairment loss on our investment in CK Pearl Fund and a $0.2
million severance cost to former employees. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, other non-core items consist
of severance costs to former employees.
(4) Assumes that all our pre-tax earnings, including adjustments above, are subject to federal, state and local corporate income
taxes. In determining corporate income taxes, we used a combined effective corporate tax rate of 43.0% and presented the
calculation as a percentage of total revenue.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary cash flow activities involve: (i) generating cash flow from operations, which largely includes management
fees; (ii) making distributions to our owners; and (iii) borrowings, interest payments and repayments under our debt facilities. As
of December 31, 2016, our cash and cash equivalents were $49.7 million and our restricted cash equivalents balance was $4.9
million.
Our material source of cash from our operations is management fees, which are collected quarterly. We primarily use
cash flows from operations to pay compensation and benefits, general, administrative and other expenses, federal, state and local
corporate income taxes, debt service costs and distributions to our owners. Our cash flows, together with the proceeds from equity
and debt issuances, are also used to fund investments in limited partnerships, purchase of available-for-sale securities, acquisition
of fixed assets and other capital items. If cash flow from operations were insufficient to fund distributions, we expect that we
would suspend paying such distributions.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, our consolidated financial statements reflect the cash flows of our operating
business, and the results of our Consolidated Funds. The assets of our Consolidated Funds, on a gross basis, are significantly larger
than the assets of our operating business and therefore have a substantial effect on our reported cash flows. The primary cash flow
activities of our Consolidated Funds include: (i) raising capital from third-party investors, which is reflected as non-controlling
interests of our Consolidated Funds; (ii) purchasing and selling investment securities; (iii) collecting interest and dividend income;
(iv) generating cash through the realization of certain investments; and (v) distributing cash to investors. Our Consolidated Funds
are treated as investment companies for financial accounting purposes under U.S. GAAP; therefore, the character and classification
of all Consolidated Fund transactions are presented as cash flows from operations.
Debt Instruments
Senior Unsecured Debt
2026 Notes
On August 9, 2016, Medley LLC completed a registered public offering of $25.0 million of an aggregate principal amount
of 6.875% senior notes due 2026 (the “2026 Notes”) at a public offering price of 100% of the principal amount. On October 18,
2016, Medley LLC completed a registered public offering of an additional $28.6 million in aggregate principal amount of the 2026
Notes at a public offering price of $24.45 for each $25.00 principal amount of notes. We used the net proceeds from these offerings
to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan Facility. Collectively, these offerings compose the senior
unsecured debt balance as of December 31, 2016.
The 2026 Notes mature on August 15, 2026 and interest is payable quarterly commencing on November 15, 2016. The
2026 Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part at any time or from time to time, at our option, on or after August 15,
2019 at a redemption price per security equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest
payments. The 2026 Notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trade thereon under the trading symbol “MDLX.”
As of December 31, 2016, the outstanding senior unsecured debt balance was $49.8 million, which is reflected net of
unamortized discount and debt issuance costs of $3.8 million.
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2024 Notes
On January 18, 2017, Medley LLC completed a public offering of $34.5 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.25%
senior notes due 2024 (the “2024 Notes”) at a public offering price of 100% of the principal amount of notes. On February 22,
2017, Medley LLC completed a public offering of an additional $34.5 million in aggregate principal amount of 2024 Notes at a
public offering price of $25.25 for each $25.00 principal amount of notes. We used the net proceeds from the offering to repay the
remaining outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan Facility and for general corporate purposes.
The 2024 Notes mature on January 30, 2024 and interest is payable quarterly commencing on April 30, 2017. The senior
unsecured debt is subject to redemption in whole or in part at any time or from time to time, at our option, on or after January 30,
2020 at a redemption price per security equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest
payments. The 2024 Notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trade thereon under the trading symbol “MDLQ.”
Revolving Credit Facility
On August 19, 2014, we entered into a $15.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility with City National Bank (as
amended, the “Revolving Credit Facility”), as administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder, and the lenders from time to
time party thereto, which will mature on August 19, 2017, with a one-year extension at the option of the borrower, provided certain
conditions are met. On May 3, 2016, the Revolving Credit Facility was amended to permit us to issue additional indebtedness.
The amendment also provided for the creation and funding of certain future funds, as well as for certain other technical changes
to the Revolving Credit Facility. We intend to use any proceeds of borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility for general
corporate purposes, including funding our working capital needs. We have not incurred any borrowings under the Revolving Credit
Facility through the date of this filing.
Term Loan Facility
On August 14, 2014, we entered into a $110.0 million senior secured term loan credit facility (as amended, the “Term
Loan Facility”) with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder, Credit
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as bookrunner and lead arranger, and the lenders from time to time party thereto, which was scheduled
to mature on June 15, 2019. On May 3, 2016, the Term Loan Facility was amended to permit us to issue additional indebtedness
with proceeds of such indebtedness to be used to prepay loans outstanding under the Term Loan Facility. The amendment also
provided for the creation and funding of certain future funds, as well as for certain other technical changes to the Term Loan
Facility. Medley LLC was the borrower under the Term Loan Facility.
In February 2017, borrowings under this facility were paid off using the proceeds from the issuance of the 2024 Notes,
without penalty, which resulted in the termination of the Term Loan Facility.
Interest Rate and Fees
Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either (1) a Eurodollar
margin over an adjusted LIBOR rate or (2) a base rate margin over an adjusted base rate determined by reference to the highest
of (a) the term loan administrative agent’s prime rate; (b) the federal funds effective rate in effect on such day plus 0.5%; and (c)
an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 1.0%. The applicable margins for the Revolving Credit Facility are (i) if the ratio of net debt to Core
EBITDA is less than 1.0 to 1.0, 1.5% in the case of adjusted base rate loans, and, in the case of Eurodollar loans, (x) 3.0% until
maturity; and (ii) if the ratio of net debt to Core EBITDA is greater than or equal to 1.0 to 1.0, 2.50% in the case of adjusted base
rate loans, and, in the case of Eurodollar loans, (x) 3.25% until maturity. In addition to paying interest on any outstanding principal
under the Revolving Credit Facility, we are required to pay an unused line fee of 0.25% per annum of the unused portion of the
commitments.
Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bore interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either (i) a Eurodollar margin over
an adjusted LIBOR rate (with a “floor” of 1.0%) or (ii) a base rate margin over an adjusted base rate determined by reference to
the highest of (a) the term loan administrative agent’s prime rate; (b) the federal funds effective rate in effect on such day plus
0.5%; and (c) an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 1.0%. The applicable margins for the Term Loan Facility was 5.5%, in the case of
Eurodollar loans and 4.5%, in the case of adjusted base rate loans.
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Guarantees and Collateral
Any obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by certain of Medley
LLC’s subsidiaries, including Medley Capital LLC, MOF II Management LLC, MOF III Management LLC, Medley SMA Advisors
LLC, Medley GP Holdings LLC, and Medley GP LLC (the “credit agreement guarantors”). In addition, any outstanding borrowings
are collateralized by first priority or equivalent security interests in (i) all the capital stock of, or other equity interests in, the
borrower and each of the borrower’s and credit agreement guarantors’ direct or indirect domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the
capital stock of, or other equity interests in, each of the borrower’s or any subsidiary guarantors’ direct wholly owned first-tier
restricted foreign subsidiaries, and (ii) certain tangible and intangible assets of the borrower and the credit agreement guarantors
(subject to certain exceptions and qualifications).
None of our non-wholly owned domestic subsidiaries are obligated to guarantee the Revolving Credit Facility. Such
subsidiaries include MCC Advisors LLC, SIC Advisors LLC, MOF II GP LLC and MOF III GP LLC.
Certain Covenants and Events of Default
The Revolving Credit Facility contains a number of significant affirmative and negative covenants and customary events
of default. Such covenants, among other things, will limit or restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the ability of the borrower and
its restricted subsidiaries to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

incur additional indebtedness, make guarantees and enter into hedging arrangements;
create liens on assets;
enter into sale and leaseback transactions;
engage in mergers or consolidations;
make fundamental changes;
pay dividends and distributions or repurchase our capital stock;
make investments, loans and advances, including acquisitions;
engage in certain transactions with affiliates;
make changes in the nature of their business; and
make prepayments of junior debt.

In addition, the credit agreement governing our Revolving Credit Facility contains a financial covenant that requires us
to maintain, with respect to each four quarter period, a ratio of net debt to Core EBITDA not greater than 3.5 to 1.0. The ratio of
net debt to Core EBITDA in respect of the Revolving Credit Facility is calculated using our financial results and includes the
adjustments made to calculate Core EBITDA.
Our Revolving Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative covenants and events
of default. If an event of default occurs, the lender under the Revolving Credit Facility will be entitled to take various actions,
including the acceleration of any amounts due under the Revolving Credit Facility and all actions permitted to be taken by a secured
creditor.
Non-Recourse Promissory Notes
In April 2012, we borrowed $5.0 million under a non-recourse promissory note with a foundation, and $5.0 million under
a non-recourse promissory note with a trust. Proceeds from the borrowings were used to purchase 1,108,033 shares of common
stock of SIC, which were pledged as collateral for the obligations. Interest on the notes is paid monthly and is equal to the dividends
received by us related to the pledged shares. We may prepay the notes in whole or in part at any time without penalty. The notes
are scheduled to mature in March 2019. The proceeds from the notes were recorded net of issuance costs of $3.8 million and are
being accrued, using the effective interest method, over the term of the non-recourse promissory notes.
Notes Payable
In March 2014, we issued a promissory note in the amount of $2.5 million to a former Medley member in connection
with the purchase of his membership interests. The promissory note carried no interest, had quarterly amortization payments of
$0.3 million and matured in March 2016.
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Cash Flows
The significant captions and amounts from our consolidated financial statements, which for the year ended December
31, 2014, include the effects of our Consolidated Funds in accordance with U.S. GAAP, are summarized below. Negative amounts
represent a net outflow, or use of cash.
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(Amounts in thousands)
Statements of cash flows data
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

14,420 $
(17,072)
(14,473)
(17,125) $

24,063 $
(299)
(39,282)
(15,518) $

(196,426)
(521)
278,758
81,811

Operating Activities
Our net cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities was $14.4 million, $24.1 million and $(196.4) million for
the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, net
cash flow provided by operating activities was due to net income of $10.0 million, $20.6 million and $69.4 million, respectively,
non-cash adjustments of $6.7 million, $17.4 million and $2.4 million, respectively, and changes in operating assets and liabilities
of $(2.3) million, $(14.0) million and $5.9 million, respectively.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, net cash flow used in operating activities also includes net purchases of investments
by our Consolidated Funds, of $293.7 million and change in cash and cash equivalents of the Consolidated Funds of $22.2 million.
These amounts represent the significant variances between net income and cash flows from operations and are reflected as operating
activities pursuant to investment company accounting guidance. The growth of our business is reflected by the increase in net cash
provided by operating activities of our core segment, while the fund-related activities requirements vary based upon the specific
investment activities being conducted during such period. The movements within our Consolidated Funds do not adversely impact
our liquidity or earnings trends. We believe that our ability to generate cash from operations provides us the necessary liquidity
to manage short-term fluctuations in working capital as well as to meet our short-term commitments.
Investing Activities
Our investing activities generally reflect cash used for acquisitions of fixed assets, distributions received from our equity
method investments and, in 2016, purchases of available-for-sale securities. Purchases of fixed assets were $1.9 million, $0.8
million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Distributions received from equity
method investments were $1.7 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Purchases
of available-for-sale securities were $16.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. There were no purchases of availablefor-sale securities for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Financing Activities
Dividends paid are presented as a use of cash of $5.5 million and $4.1 million, respectively for the years ended December
31, 2016 and 2015. Distributions to members and redeemable non-controlling interests are presented as a use of cash from financing
activities and were $23.7 million, $32.7 million and $119.4 million, for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.. Capital contributions from non-controlling interests and redeemable non-controlling interests resulted in an inflow
of cash of $17.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Repurchases of Class A common stock represented a use of cash
from financing activities of $1.2 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
On August 9, 2016, we completed our first registered public offering of senior unsecured debt and on October 18, 2016
we completed our second registered public offering of senior unsecured debt. The proceeds from these offerings, net of offering
expenses payable by us, amounted to $49.7 million. The net proceeds from the offering were used to repay a portion of the
outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan Facility. Repayments of debt obligations resulted in an outflow of cash of $50.5
million, $1.3 million and $51.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Proceeds from the
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issuance of debt obligations provided an inflow of cash of $52.6 million and $123.9 million, for the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2014, respectively. There were no proceeds from issuance of debt obligations for the year ended December 31, 2015.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, net contributions from non-controlling interests in our Consolidated Funds were
$131.4 million and net proceeds from secured borrowings were $100.6 million. There was no impact on our cash flows relating
to our Consolidated Funds for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
On September 29, 2014, we completed our IPO pursuant to which we sold 6,000,000 shares of common stock at a price
of $18.00 per share. Total proceeds from the offering, net of offering expenses payable by us were $96.7 million.
Sources and Uses of Liquidity
Our sources of liquidity are (i) cash on hand, (ii) net working capital, (iii) cash flows from operations, (iv) realizations
on our investments, (v) net proceeds from borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and issuances of publicly-registered
debt and (vi) other potential financings. We believe that these sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our working capital
requirements and to meet our commitments in the foreseeable future. We expect that our primary liquidity needs will be comprised
of cash to (i) provide capital to facilitate the growth of our existing investment management business, (ii) fund our commitments
to funds that we advise, (iii) provide capital to facilitate our expansion into business that are complementary to our existing
investment management business, (iv) pay operating expenses, including cash compensation to our employees and payments under
the TRA, (v) fund capital expenditures, (vi) pay income taxes, and (vii) make distributions to our shareholders in accordance with
our dividend policy.
We intend to use a portion of our available liquidity to fund cash dividends to our common shareholders on a quarterly
basis. Our ability to fund cash dividends to our common shareholders is dependent on a myriad of factors, including among others:
general economic and business conditions; our strategic plans and prospects; our business and investment opportunities; timing
of capital calls by our funds in support of our commitments; our financial condition and operating results; working capital
requirements and other anticipated cash needs; contractual restrictions and obligations; legal, tax and regulatory restrictions;
restrictions on the payment of distributions by our subsidiaries to us; and other relevant factors.
Critical Accounting Policies
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In applying many of these accounting
principles, we need to make assumptions, estimates or judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses in our consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and other
assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. These assumptions, estimates or judgments, however, are
both subjective and subject to change, and actual results may differ from our assumptions and estimates. If actual amounts are
ultimately different from our estimates, the revisions are included in our results of operations for the period in which the actual
amounts become known. We believe the following critical accounting policies could potentially produce materially different results
if we were to change underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments. See Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,”
to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for a summary of our significant accounting policies.
Principles of Consolidation
In accordance with ASC 810, Consolidation, we consolidate those entities where we have a direct and indirect controlling
financial interest based on either a variable interest model or voting interest model. As such, we consolidate entities that we conclude
are VIEs, for which we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary and entities in which we hold a majority voting interest or have
majority ownership and control over the operational, financial and investing decisions of that entity.
In February 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810)
– Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis, which changes the consolidation analysis that a reporting entity must perform to
determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. We elected to early adopt this new guidance using the
modified retrospective method effective January 1, 2015. As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02, we determined that we are
no longer the primary beneficiary of the funds. Therefore, we deconsolidated certain funds that had been previously consolidated
under previous guidance effective January 1, 2015. Restatement of periods prior to January 1, 2015 was not required.
For legal entities evaluated for consolidation, we must determine whether the interests that it holds and fees paid to it
qualify as a variable interest in an entity. This includes an evaluation of the management fees and performance fees paid to us
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when acting as a decision maker or service provider to the entity being evaluated. Under the new guidance, fees received by us
that are customary and commensurate with the level of services provided, and we don’t hold other economic interests in the entity
that would absorb more than an insignificant amount of the expected losses or returns of the entity, would not be considered a
variable interest. We factor in all economic interests including proportionate interests through related parties, to determine if fees
are considered a variable interest. Prior to the adoption of the new consolidation guidance, these fees were considered variable
interests by us.
An entity in which we hold a variable interest is a VIE if any one of the following conditions exist: (a) the total equity
investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the legal entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support, (b) the holders of equity investment at risk have the right to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact
the legal entity’s economic performance, (c) the voting rights of some investors are disproportionate to their obligation to absorb
losses or rights to receive returns from a legal entity. Under the new guidance, for limited partnerships and other similar entities,
non-controlling investors must have substantive rights to either dissolve the fund or remove the general partner (“kick-out rights”)
in order to qualify as a VIE.
For those entities that qualify as a VIE, the primary beneficiary is generally defined as the party who has a controlling
financial interest in the VIE. We are generally deemed to have a controlling financial interest if we have the power to direct the
activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and the obligation to absorb losses or receive
benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. We determine whether we are the primary beneficiary of a
VIE at the time we become initially involved with the VIE and we reconsider that conclusion continuously. The primary beneficiary
evaluation is generally performed qualitatively on the basis of all facts and circumstances. However, quantitative information may
also be considered in the analysis, as appropriate. These assessments require judgments. Each entity is assessed for consolidation
on a case-by-case basis.
For those entities evaluated under the voting interest model, we consolidate the entity if we have a controlling financial
interest. We have a controlling financial interest in a voting interest entity (“VOE”) if we own a majority voting interest in the
entity. Prior to the new guidance, we consolidated VOE’s where we were the general partner and as such, were presumed to have
control, regardless of our ownership.
Consolidated Funds
With respect to the Consolidated Funds, which represent limited partnerships, Medley LLC earns a fixed management
fee based on either (i) limited partners’ capital commitments to the funds, (ii) invested capital, (iii) NAV, or (iv) lower of cost or
market value of a fund’s portfolio investments. In addition, Medley earns a performance fee based upon the investment returns in
excess of a stated hurdle rate. We considered the accounting treatment under ASU 2010-10, Amendments for Certain Investment
Funds, and determined that the funds were not VIEs for the year ended December 31, 2014. However, as the general partner, and
due to the lack of substantive kick out or participating rights of the limited partners, these funds were consolidated under the voting
interest model in accordance with ASC 810-20, Control of Partnerships and Similar Entities, for the year ended December 31,
2014.
Deconsolidated Funds
Certain funds that have historically been consolidated in the financial statements are no longer consolidated. We had
consolidated MOF I in our consolidated financial statements under the voting interest model in accordance with ASC 810-20, as
we were the general partner and the limited partners lacked substantive kick out or participating rights. Effective January 1, 2015,
we completed our role as investment manager of this fund and transitioned the management of the residual assets of this fund to
another asset manager. As a result of this transition, we deconsolidated the financial statements of this fund, on January 1, 2015.
There was no gain or loss recognized upon deconsolidation. In addition, on January 1, 2015, we deconsolidated the one remaining
consolidated fund as a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02.
Performance Fees
Performance fees are based on certain specific hurdle rates as defined in the funds’ applicable investment management
or partnership agreements. Performance fees are recorded on an accrual basis to the extent such amounts are contractually due.
We have elected to adopt Method 2 of ASC 605, Revenue Recognition, for revenue based on a formula. Under this method,
we are entitled to performance-based fees that can amount to as much as 20.0% of a fund's profits, subject to certain hurdles.
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Performance-based fees are assessed as a percentage of the investment performance of the funds. The performance fee for any
period is based upon an assumed liquidation of the fund's net assets on the reporting date, and distribution of the net proceeds in
accordance with the fund 's income allocation provisions. The performance fees may be subject to reversal to the extent that the
performance fees recorded exceeds the amount due to the general partner or investment manager based on a fund's cumulative
investment returns.
Performance fees receivable is presented separately in our audited consolidated statements of financial condition included
in this Form 10-K and represents performance fees recognized but not yet collected. The timing of the payment of performance
fees due to the general partner or investment manager varies depending on the terms of the applicable fund agreements.
If applicable, we record an accrual for the potential repayment of previously received performance fees which represents
amounts that would need to be repaid to the underlying funds if these funds were to be liquidated based on the current fair value
of the underlying funds’ investments as of the reporting date. Our actual obligation, however, would not become payable or realized
until the end of a fund’s life.
Performance Fee Compensation Payable
We have an obligation to pay our professionals a portion of the performance fees earned from certain funds. These amounts
are accounted for as compensation expense in conjunction with the recognition of the related performance fee revenue and, until
paid, are recognized as performance fee compensation payable. Performance fee compensation is recognized in the same period
that the related performance fees are recognized. Performance fee compensation can be reversed during periods when there is a
decline in performance fees that were previously recognized.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes using the asset and liability approach, which requires the recognition of tax benefits or
expenses for temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance
is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized. We also recognize a tax benefit
from uncertain tax positions only if it is “more likely than not” that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits. Our
policy is to recognize interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions and other tax matters as a component of income tax expense.
For interim periods, we account for income taxes based on its estimate of the effective tax rate for the year. Discrete items and
changes in its estimate of the annual effective tax rate are recorded in the period they occur.
Medley Management Inc., is subject to U.S. federal, state and local corporate income taxes on its allocable portion of
income of Medley LLC at prevailing corporate tax rates, which are reflected in our consolidated financial statements. Medley
LLC and its subsidiaries are not subject to federal, state and local corporate income taxes since all income, gains and losses are
passed through to its members. However, Medley LLC and its subsidiaries are subject to New York City’s unincorporated business
tax, which is also included in our provision for income taxes.
We analyze our tax filing positions in all of the U.S. federal, state and local tax jurisdictions where we are required to file
income tax returns, as well as for all open tax years in these jurisdictions. If, based on this analysis, we determine that uncertainties
in tax positions exist, a liability is established.
Prior to our Reorganization and IPO, our business was organized as a partnership for tax purposes and was not subject
to United States federal, state and local income taxes. A provision for income taxes was made for certain entities that were subject
to New York City’s unincorporated business tax.
Stock-based Compensation
We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation. Under
the fair value recognition provision of this guidance, share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the
fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period.
Stock-based compensation expense is based on awards ultimately expected to vest and have been reduced for estimated
forfeitures. ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if
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actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The effect of such change in estimated forfeitures is recognized through a cumulative
catch-up adjustment that is included in the period of the change in estimate.
The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as a component of compensation
and benefits over the requisite service periods in our consolidated statements of operations. We elected to use the straight-line
method for all awards with graded vesting features.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Information regarding recent accounting pronouncements and their impact on us can be found in Note 2, “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies,” to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
In the normal course of business, we may engage in off-balance sheet arrangements, including transactions in guarantees,
commitments, indemnifications and potential contingent repayment obligations.
See Note 9, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form
10-K for a discussion of our commitments and contingencies.
Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth information relating to our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2016.
Less than
1 year
Medley Obligations
Operating lease obligations (1)
Loans payable (2)
Senior unsecured debt (3)
Interest obligations on debt (4)
Revenue share payable
Capital commitments to funds (5)
Total

$

$

2,683
—
—
6,637
1,168
525
11,013

1-3
years

$

$

4-5
More than
years
5 years
(Amounts in thousands)

5,414
54,800
—
11,664
2,478
—
74,356

$

$

5,263
—
—
7,369
2,044
—
14,676

$

$

4,254
—
53,595
17,042
439
—
75,330

Total

$

$

17,614
54,800
53,595
42,712
6,129
525
175,375

____________
(1) We lease office space in New York and San Francisco under non-cancelable lease agreements. In August 2015, the Company
signed a new lease for its office space in New York City. The Company’s obligations under the current terms of these leases
extend through September 2023. The amounts in this table represent the minimum lease payments required over the term of
the lease, and include operating leases for office equipment.
(2) We have included all loans described in Note 6, “Loans Payable,” to our consolidated financial statements included in this
Form 10-K. The amounts in this table include $44.8 million relating to our Term Loan Facility which was repaid in full in
February 2017 using the proceeds from the issuance of additional senior unsecured debt.
(3) We have included all loans described in Note 7, “Senior Unsecured Debt,” to our consolidated financial statements included
in this Form 10-K.
(3) Our future interest obligations on debt outstanding assume an interest rate of 6.5% on our Term Loan balance and an interest
of 6.875% on our senior unsecured debt balance.
(4) Represents equity commitments by us to certain long-dated private funds managed by us. These amounts are generally due
on demand and are therefore presented in the less than one year category.
Tax Receivable Agreement. Holders of Medley LLC Units (other than Medley Management Inc.) may, subject to certain
conditions and transfer restrictions applicable to such members as set forth in the operating agreement of Medley LLC, from and
after the first anniversary of the date of the completion of the IPO (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement), exchange their
LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock of Medley Management Inc. on a one-for-one basis. Medley LLC intends to make
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an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations thereunder (the “Code”)
effective for each taxable year in which an exchange of LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock occurs, which is expected
to result in increases to the tax basis of the assets of Medley LLC at the time of an exchange of LLC Units. The exchanges are
expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Medley LLC. These increases in tax basis
may reduce the amount of tax that Medley Management Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in the future. We have entered
into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of LLC Units that provides for the payment by Medley Management Inc. to
exchanging holders of LLC Units of 85% of the benefits, if any, that Medley Management Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of
these increases in tax basis and of certain other tax benefits related to our entering into the tax receivable agreement, including tax
benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement. This payment obligation is an obligation of Medley
Management Inc. and not of Medley LLC. For purposes of the tax receivable agreement, the cash tax savings in income tax will
be computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of Medley Management Inc. (calculated with certain assumptions) to
the amount of such taxes that Medley Management Inc. would have been required to pay had there been no increase to the tax
basis of the assets of Medley LLC as a result of the exchanges and had Medley Management Inc. not entered into the tax receivable
agreement. Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the tax receivable agreement is by its nature imprecise,
insofar as the calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of factors. While the actual increase in tax basis, as well as the
amount and timing of any payments under the tax receivable agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including
the timing of exchanges, the price of shares of our Class A common stock at the time of the exchange, the extent to which such
exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of our income. See “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions Tax Receivable Agreement” described in our Prospectus. We anticipate that we will account for the effects of these increases in
tax basis and associated payments under the tax receivable agreement arising from future exchanges as follows:
•

we will record an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increases in tax basis
based on enacted federal and state tax rates at the date of the exchange;

•

to the extent we estimate that we will not realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset, based on an
analysis that will consider, among other things, our expectation of future earnings, we will reduce the deferred tax
asset with a valuation allowance; and

•

we will record 85% of the estimated realizable tax benefit (which is the recorded deferred tax asset less any
recorded valuation allowance) as an increase to the liability due under the tax receivable agreement and the
remaining 15% of the estimated realizable tax benefit as an increase to additional paid-in capital.

All of the effects of changes in any of our estimates after the date of the exchange will be included in net income. Similarly,
the effect of subsequent changes in the enacted tax rates will be included in net income.
Indemnifications
In the normal course of business, we enter into contracts that contain indemnities for our affiliates, persons acting on our
behalf or such affiliates and third parties. The terms of the indemnities vary from contract to contract and the maximum exposure
under these arrangements, if any, cannot be determined and has neither been recorded in our consolidated financial statements. As
of December 31, 2016, we have not had prior claims or losses pursuant to these contracts and expect the risk of loss to be remote.
Contingent Obligations
The partnership documents governing our funds generally include a clawback provision that, if triggered, may give rise
to a contingent obligation that may require the general partner to return amounts to the fund for distribution to investors. Therefore,
performance fee revenue, generally, is subject to reversal in the event that the funds incur future losses. These losses are limited
to the extent of the cumulative performance fee revenue recognized in income to date, net of a portion of taxes paid. Due in part
to our investment performance and the fact that our performance fee revenue is generally determined on a liquidation basis, as of
December 31, 2016, we accrued $7.1 million for clawback obligations that would need to be paid had the funds been liquidated
as of that date. There can be no assurance that we will not incur additional clawback obligations in the future. If all of the existing
investments were valued at $0, the amount of cumulative performance fee revenue that have been recognized would be reversed.
We believe that the possibility of all of the existing investments becoming worthless is remote. At December 31, 2016, had we
assumed all existing investments were valued at $0, the net amount of performance fee revenue subject to additional reversal would
have been approximately $7.1 million.
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Performance fee revenue is also affected by changes in the fair values of the underlying investments in the funds that we
advise. Valuations, on an unrealized basis, can be significantly affected by a variety of external factors including, but not limited
to, bond yields and industry trading multiples. Under the governing agreements of certain of our funds, we may have to fund
additional amounts on account of clawback obligations beyond what we received in performance fee compensation on account of
distributions of performance fee payments made to current or former professionals from such funds if they do not fund their
respective shares of such clawback obligations. We will generally retain the right to pursue any remedies that we have under such
governing agreements against those carried interest recipients who fail to fund their obligations.
Additionally, at the end of the life of the funds, there could be a payment due to a fund by us if we have recognized more
performance fee revenue than was ultimately earned. The general partner obligation amount, if any, will depend on final realized
values of investments at the end of the life of the fund.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Our primary exposure to market risk is related to our role as general partner or investment adviser to our investment funds
and the sensitivity to movements in the fair value of their investments, including the effect on management fees, performance fees
and investment income.
The market price of investments may significantly fluctuate during the period of investment. Investments may decline
in value due to factors affecting securities markets generally or particular industries represented in the securities markets. The
value of an investment may decline due to general market conditions which are not specifically related to such investment, such
as real or perceived adverse economic conditions, changes in the general outlook for corporate earnings, changes in interest or
currency rates or adverse investor sentiment generally. They may also decline due to factors that affect a particular industry or
industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions within an industry.
Effect on Management Fees
Management fees are generally based on a defined percentage of gross asset values, total committed capital, net invested
capital and NAV of the investment funds managed by us as well as a percentage of net interest income over a performance hurdle.
Management fees calculated based on fair value of assets or net investment income are affected by short-term changes in market
values.
The overall impact of a short-term change in market value may be mitigated by fee definitions that are not based on
market value including invested capital and committed capital, market value definitions that exclude the impact of realized and/
or unrealized gains and losses, market value definitions based on beginning of the period values or a form of average market value
including daily, monthly or quarterly averages, as well as monthly or quarterly payment terms.
As such, based on an incremental 10% short-term increase in fair value of the investments in our permanent capital
vehicles, long-dated private funds and SMAs’ as of December 31, 2016, we calculated a $0.8 million increase in management fees
for the year ended December 31, 2016. In the case of a 10% short-term decline in fair value of the investments in our permanent
capital, long-dated funds and SMAs’ as of December 31, 2016, we calculated a $1.0 million decrease in management fees for the
year ended December 31, 2016.
Effect on Performance Fees
Performance fees are based on certain specific hurdle rates as defined in the funds' applicable investment management
or partnership agreements. The performance fees for any period are based upon an assumed liquidation of the fund's net assets on
the reporting date, and distribution of the net proceeds in accordance with the fund's income allocation provisions, which can result
in a performance-based fee to us, subject to certain hurdles and benchmarks. The performance fees may be subject to reversal to
the extent that the performance fees recorded exceed the amount due to the general partner or investment manager based on a
fund's cumulative investment returns.
Short-term changes in the fair values of funds' investments may materially impact accrued performance fees depending
on the respective funds' performance relative to applicable hurdles. The overall impact of a short-term change in market value may
be mitigated by a number of factors including, but not limited to, the way in which carried interest performance fees are calculated,
which is not ultimately dependent on short-term moves in fair market value, but rather realize cumulative performance of the
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investments through the end of the long-dated private funds and SMAs’ lives. However, short-term moves can meaningfully impact
our ability to accrue performance fees and receive cash payments in any given period.
As such, based on an incremental 10% short-term increase in fair value of the investments in our long-dated private funds
and SMAs’ as of December 31, 2016, we calculated a $36.5 million increase in performance fees for the year ended December
31, 2016. In the case of a 10% short-term decline in fair value of investments in our long-dated private funds and SMAs’ as of
December 31, 2016, we calculated a $4.8 million decrease in performance fees for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Effect on Part I and Part II Incentive Fees
Incentive fees are based on certain specific hurdle rates as defined in our permanent capital vehicles' applicable investment
management agreements. The Part II incentive fees are based upon realized gains netted against cumulative realized and unrealized
losses. The Part I incentive fees are not subject to clawbacks as our carried interest performance fees are.
Short-term changes in the fair values of the investments of our permanent capital vehicles may materially impact Part II
incentive fees depending on the respective vehicle's performance relative to applicable hurdles to the extent there were realized
gains that we would otherwise earn Part II incentive fees on.
As such, based on an incremental 10% short-term increase in fair value of the investments in our permanent capital
vehicles as of December 31, 2016, we calculated a $5.3 million increase in Part I and II incentive fees for year ended December
31, 2016. In the case of a 10% short-term decline in fair value of the investments in our permanent capital vehicles as of December
31, 2016, we calculated a $0.4 million increase in Part I incentive fees for the year ended December 31, 2016, respectively.
Interest Rate Risk
As of December 31, 2016, we had $101.6 million of debt outstanding, presented as debt obligations on our audited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The annual interest rate on our Term Loan Facility was
6.50% compared to fixed rate of 6.875% on our Senior Unsecured Debt as of December 31, 2016.
Based on the floating rate component of our loans payable as of December 31, 2016, we estimate that in the event of a
change of 100 basis point in interest rates and the outstanding balance as of December 31, 2016, interest expense related to variable
rates would increase or decrease by 15% or $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
As credit-oriented investors, we are also subject to interest rate risk through the securities we hold in our funds. A 100
basis point increase in interest rates would be expected to negatively affect prices of securities that accrue interest income at fixed
rates and therefore negatively impact net change in unrealized appreciation on the funds' investments. The actual impact is dependent
on the average duration of such holdings. Conversely, securities that accrue interest at variable rates would be expected to benefit
from a 100 basis points increase in interest rates because these securities would generate higher levels of current income and
therefore positively impact interest and dividend income, subject to LIBOR. In the cases where our funds pay management fees
based on NAV, we would expect management fees to experience a change in direction and magnitude corresponding to that
experienced by the underlying portfolios.
Credit Risk
We are party to agreements providing for various financial services and transactions that contain an element of risk in
the event that the counterparties are unable to meet the terms of such agreements. In such agreements, we depend on the respective
counterparty to make payment or otherwise perform. We generally endeavor to minimize our risk of exposure by limiting to
reputable financial institutions the counterparties with which we enter into financial transactions. In other circumstances, availability
of financing from financial institutions may be uncertain due to market events, and we may not be able to access these financing
markets.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Medley Management Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Medley Management Inc. (prior to September 29, 2014, Medley
LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity and redeemable non-controlling interests, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2016. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal
control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Medley Management Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
/s/ RSM US LLP
New York, New York
March 16, 2017
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Medley Management Inc.
(Prior to September 29, 2014, Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
As of December 31,
2016
2015
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value
Management fees receivable
Performance fees receivable
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

49,666
4,897
31,904
12,630
4,961
18,311
122,369

$

52,178
49,793
36,270
985
139,226

$

$

71,688
—
16,360
16,172
2,518
13,015
119,753

Liabilities and Equity
Loans payable
Senior unsecured debt
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Performance fee compensation payable
Total liabilities

$

100,871
—
34,746
1,823
137,440

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Redeemable Non-controlling Interests

30,805

—

58

60

Equity
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 3,000,000,000 shares authorized; 6,042,050
and 6,010,646 issued as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively; 5,809,130 and
5,993,941 outstanding as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; 100 shares
issued and outstanding
Additional paid in capital (capital deficit)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Total stockholders' equity (deficit), Medley Management Inc.
Non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Non-controlling interests in Medley LLC
Total equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interests and equity

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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—
3,310
33
(5,254)
(1,853)
(1,717)
(44,092)
(47,662)
122,369 $

—
631
—
(730)
(39)
(459)
(17,189)
(17,687)
119,753

Medley Management Inc.
(Prior to September 29, 2014, Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC)

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
Revenues
Management fees (includes Part I incentive fees of
$14,209, $21,487 and $19,507, respectively)
Performance fees
Other revenues and fees
Total revenues

$

65,496
2,421
8,111
76,028

$

75,675
(15,685)
7,436
67,426

61,252
2,050
8,871
72,173

27,800
(319)

26,768
(8,049)

20,322
(1,543)

—
28,540
56,021

—
16,836
35,555

1,670
16,312
36,761

Dividend income
Interest expense
Other income (expenses), net
Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds
Interest expense of Consolidated Funds
Net realized gain (loss) on investments of Consolidated Funds
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments of
Consolidated Funds
Net change in unrealized depreciation (appreciation) on secured
borrowings of Consolidated Funds
Total other income (expense), net

1,304
(9,226)
(1,070)

886
(8,469)
(1,641)

886
(5,520)
(1,773)

—
(8,992)

—
(9,224)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net income (loss)

11,015
1,063
9,952

22,647
2,015
20,632

1,174
36,516
71,928
2,528
69,400

—

—

29,717

(885)

$
$

2,549
6,406
997
0.80

$
$

18,406
3,111
0.60

$
$

1,933
36,055
1,695
0.20

$
$

0.02
0.02

$
$

0.46
0.46

$
$

0.24
0.24

Expenses
Compensation and benefits
Performance fee compensation
Consolidated Funds expenses
General, administrative and other expenses
Total expenses
Other income (expense)

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Consolidated
Funds
Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable non-controlling interests
and non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Medley LLC
Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc.
Dividends declared per Class A common stock

—
—
—

—
—
—

71,468
(9,951)

—

—

(20,557)

789

Net income per Class A common stock:
Basic (Note 11)
Diluted (Note 11)
Weighted average shares outstanding - Basic and Diluted

5,804,042

6,002,422

6,000,000

____________
(1) Based on net income attributable to Medley Management Inc. for the period September 29, 2014 through December 31,
2014.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
F-3

(1)
(1)

Medley Management Inc.
(Prior to September 29, 2014, Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Amounts in thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in fair value of available-for-sale securities
Total comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests in
Consolidated Funds
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to redeemable non-controlling
interests and non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Comprehensive income attributable to Medley LLC
Comprehensive income attributable to Medley Management Inc.

$

$

9,952

$

20,632

$

69,400

194
10,146

—
20,632

—
69,400

—

—

29,717

(885)

1,933
36,055
1,695

2,577
6,539
1,030

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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$

18,406
3,111

$

Medley Management Inc.
(Prior to September 29, 2014, Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC)
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Redeemable Non-controlling Interests
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC

Balance at January 1, 2014
Contributions
Distributions
Net income
Balance prior to September 29, 2014
Effects of Reorganization and Offering
Balance at September 29, 2014
Net income subsequent to September 29, 2014
Issuance of Class A shares in Initial Public Offering, net of
underwriters discount
Issuance of Class B shares
Initial Public Offering costs
Dilution assumed with Initial Public Offering
Stock-based compensation

Noncontrolling
Interests in
Consolidated
Funds
$
464,475
120,318
(22,688)
22,902
585,007
—
585,007
6,815

Dividends declared on Class A common stock ($0.20 per
share)
Contributions
Distributions
Balance at December 31, 2014
Deconsolidation of MOF I LP
Deconsolidation of MOF II LP
Net income
Stock-based compensation
Dividends on Class A common stock ($0.60 per share)
Excess tax benefit from dividends paid to RSU holders
Issuance of Class A common stock related to vesting of
restricted stock units
Repurchases of Class A common stock

Noncontrolling
Interests in
Consolidated
Subsidiaries
$
40
928
—
2,055
3,023
—
3,023
(122)

$

(18,554)
—
(120,621)
26,753
(112,422)
112,422
—
—

Class A
Common Stock
Shares
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Dollars
$

—
—
—
—

Class B
Common Stock
—
—
—
—
—
—

Shares
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Dollars
$

—
—
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
1,695

—

—

—

6,000,000

60

—

—

100,380

—

—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

100
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
(103,658)
894

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
6,000,000
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
60
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
100
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

33,726
—
625,548
(15,321)
(610,227)
—
—
—
—

—
(1,375)
1,526
—
—
(885)
—
—
—

—
—
—
(2,384)
—
—
—
3,052
—
64

—

(1,423)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
272
—
—
3,111
—
(4,113)
—

Noncontrolling
Interests in
Medley
LLC
$
—
—
—
—
—
(112,422)
(112,422)
9,302
—
—
(3,715)
103,658
—
—
—
(795)
(3,972)
—
—
18,406
—
—
21

Total
Equity
$445,961
121,246
(143,309)
51,710
475,608
—
475,608
17,690

Redeemable
Noncontrolling
Interests
$

100,440

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
(3,715)
—
894

—
—
—
—

(1,423)

—

33,726
(2,170)
621,050
(15,321)
(610,227)
20,632
3,052
(4,113)
85

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

—

—

10,646

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(16,705)

—

—

—

(101)

—

—

—

(101)

—

—
—
5,993,941
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
60
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
100
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
(32,744)
(17,687)
7,387
166
3,811
(5,521)
84

—
—
—
2,565
28
—
—
—

—

Contributions
Distributions
Balance at December 31, 2015
Net income (loss)
Change in fair value of available-for-sale securities
Stock-based compensation
Dividends on Class A common stock ($0.80 per share)
Excess tax benefit from dividends paid to RSU holders
Issuance of Class A common stock related to vesting of
restricted stock units
Repurchases of Class A common stock

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Contributions
Distributions
Reclassification of redeemable non-controlling interest
Issuance of non-controlling interests, at fair value
Balance at December 31, 2016

—
—
—
—
—

$

Members'
Equity
(Deficit)

Medley Management Inc.
Additional
Paid in
Capital
(Capital
Deficit)
$
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
(1,100)
(459)
(16)
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

—

—

31,404

—

—

—

(216,215)

$

12
(1,547)
(41)
334
(1,717)

$

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
5,809,130

$

—
—
631
—
—
3,811
—
64

—
—
—
—
33
—
—
—

—

—
—
(730)
997
—
—
(5,521)
—

—
(31,644)
(17,189)
6,406
133
—
—
20

—

—

—

—

—

(2)

—

—

(1,196)

—

—

—

—
—
—
—
58

—
—
—
—
100

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
3,310

—
—
—
—
33

$

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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$

$

—
—
—
—
(5,254)

$

—
(21,115)
(12,155)
(192)
(44,092)

—

—

(1,198)
12
(22,662)
(12,196)
142
$ (47,662)

—

$

17,010
(994)
12,196
—
30,805

Medley Management Inc.
(Prior to September 29, 2014, Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Amounts in thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Non-cash stock-based compensation
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Accretion of debt discount
Provision for (benefit from) deferred taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Net change in unrealized depreciation (appreciation) on investments
Loss (income) from equity method investments
Other non-cash amounts
Operating adjustments related to Consolidated Funds:
Provision for (benefit from) deferred taxes
Interest income paid-in-kind
Accretion of original issue discount
Net realized (gain) loss on investments
Net change in unrealized depreciation (appreciation) on investments
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on secured borrowings
of Consolidated Funds
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Management fees receivable
Performance fees receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Performance fee compensation payable
Changes in operating assets and liabilities of Consolidated Funds:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cost of investments purchased
Proceeds from sales and repayments of investments
Other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of fixed assets
Distributions received from equity method investments
Purchases of available-for-sale securities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

$

9,952

3,811
1,018
958
(267)
913
(27)
93
169

$

20,632

3,052
545
776
(904)
454
885
12,578
—

69,400

894
752
604
(483)
401
272
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

(243)
(5,264)
(1,760)
(789)
20,556

—

—

(1,174)

3,542
(2,443)
(1,617)
(844)
(838)

(999)
3,055
(4,915)
(1,112)
(9,984)

—
—
—
—
—
14,420

—
—
—
—
—
24,063

(1,935)
1,678
(16,815)
(17,072)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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(795)
496
—
(299)

(6,252)
(2,234)
(1,671)
8,693
(4,418)
22,244
(448,258)
154,549
(6,784)
4,539
(196,426)
(521)
—
—
(521)

Medley Management Inc.
(Prior to September 29, 2014, Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Amounts in thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of debt obligations
Proceeds from issuance of debt obligations
Proceeds from Initial Public Offering
Initial Public Offering costs
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests in consolidated
subsidiaries and redeemable non-controlling interests
Distributions to members and redeemable non-controlling interests
Debt issuance costs
Dividends paid
Repurchases of Class A common stock
Capital contributions to equity method investments
Financing activities of Consolidated Funds
Contributions from non-controlling interest holders
Distributions to non-controlling interest holders
Proceeds from secured borrowings
Repayments on secured borrowings
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash equivalents, end of period
$
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash equivalents
reported on the consolidated balance sheets to the total of such amounts
reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash equivalents
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash equivalents
Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities
Investment in MOF I LP attributed to deconsolidation
Investment in MOF II LP attributed to deconsolidation
Fixed assets
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities
Issuance of non-controlling interest, at fair value
Reclassification of redeemable non-controlling interest
Non-cash distribution to members
Non-cash debt
Dividends declared but not paid
Transfer of membership interests to non-controlling interests in consolidated
subsidiaries

$

(50,513)
52,588
—
—

(1,250)
—
—
—

(51,937)
123,900
100,440
(3,715)

17,022
(23,656)
(2,916)
(5,521)
(1,198)
(279)

—
(32,744)
—
(4,113)
(101)
(1,074)

—
(119,363)
(2,546)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
(14,473)
(17,125)
71,688
54,563 $

—
—
—
—
(39,282)
(15,518)
87,206
71,688 $

49,666
4,897
54,563

$

$

7,992
2,085

$

$

$

154,044
(22,688)
115,439
(14,816)
278,758
81,811
5,395
87,206

71,688
—
71,688

$

$

6,576
4,982

$

3,900
2,411

—
—
2,293

$

1,768
10,474
—

$

—
—
—

192
12,155
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

—
—
3,428
2,500
1,423

—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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$

—

$

87,206
—
87,206

928

Medley Management Inc.
(Prior to September 29, 2014, Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1.

ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Medley Management Inc. is an asset management firm offering yield solutions to retail and institutional investors. The
corporation’s national direct origination franchise provides capital to the middle market in the U.S. Medley Management Inc.,
through its consolidated subsidiary, Medley LLC, provides investment management services to permanent capital vehicles, longdated private funds and separately managed accounts and serves as the general partner to the private funds, which are generally
organized as pass-through entities. Medley LLC is headquartered in New York City and has an office in San Francisco.
The Company’s business is currently comprised of only one reportable segment, the investment management segment,
and substantially all of the Company operations are conducted through this segment. The investment management segment provides
investment management services to permanent capital vehicles, long-dated private funds and separately managed accounts. The
Company conducts its investment management business in the U.S., where substantially all its revenues are generated.
Initial Public Offering of Medley Management Inc.
Medley Management Inc. was incorporated on June 13, 2014 and commenced operations on September 29, 2014 upon
the completion of its initial public offering (“IPO”) of its Class A common stock. Medley Management Inc. raised $100.4 million,
net of underwriting discount, through the issuance of 6,000,000 shares of Class A common stock at an offering price to the public
of $18.00 per share. Medley Management Inc. used the offering proceeds to purchase 6,000,000 newly issued LLC Units (defined
below) from Medley LLC. Prior to the IPO, Medley Management Inc. had not engaged in any business or other activities except
in connection with its formation and IPO.
In connection with the IPO, Medley Management Inc. issued 100 shares of Class B common stock to Medley Group LLC
(“Medley Group”), an entity wholly owned by the pre-IPO members of Medley LLC. For as long as the pre-IPO members and
then-current Medley personnel hold at least 10% of the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock and LLC Units
(defined below) (excluding those LLC Units held by Medley Management Inc.) then outstanding, the Class B common stock
entitles Medley Group to a number of votes that is equal to 10 times the aggregate number of LLC Units held by all non-managing
members of Medley LLC that do not themselves hold shares of Class B common stock and entitle each other holder of Class B
common stock, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by such other holder, to a number of votes
that is equal to 10 times the number of membership units held by such holder. The Class B common stock does not participate in
dividends and does not have any liquidation rights.
Medley LLC Reorganization
In connection with the IPO, Medley LLC amended and restated its limited liability agreement to modify its capital structure
by reclassifying the 23,333,333 interests held by the pre-IPO members into a single new class of units (“LLC Units”). The preIPO members also entered into an exchange agreement under which they (or certain permitted transferees thereof) have the right,
subject to the terms of an exchange agreement, to exchange their LLC Units for shares of Medley Management Inc.’s Class A
common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and
reclassifications. In addition, pursuant to the amended and restated limited liability agreement, Medley Management Inc. became
the sole managing member of Medley LLC.
The pre-IPO owners are, subject to limited exceptions, prohibited from transferring any LLC Units held by them or any
shares of Class A common stock received upon exchange of such LLC Units, until the third anniversary of the date of the closing
of the IPO without the Company’s consent. Thereafter and prior to the fourth and fifth anniversaries of the closing of the IPO,
such holders may not transfer more than 33 1/3% and 66 2/3%, respectively, of the number of LLC Units held by them, together
with the number of any shares of Class A common stock received by them upon exchange therefor, without the Company’s consent.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of Medley Management Inc., Medley LLC
and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, “Medley” or the “Company”) and, for the year ended December 31, 2014, certain
funds (individually “Consolidated Funds,” collectively, the “Company”).
The Consolidated Funds have been consolidated in the accompanying financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2014 in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Including the results of the Consolidated Funds significantly increases the reported
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Medley Management Inc.
(Prior to September 29, 2014, Medley LLC and Medley GP Holdings LLC)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
amounts of the revenues, expenses and cash flows of the Company; however, the Consolidated Funds' results included herein have
no direct effect on the net income attributable to members or on total equity. The economic ownership interests of the investors
in the Consolidated Funds are reflected as “Non-controlling interests in Consolidated Funds” and as “Net income attributable to
non-controlling interests in Consolidated Funds” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Prior to the Reorganization and IPO on September 29, 2014, all compensation for services rendered by senior Medley
LLC professionals were reflected as distributions from members' capital rather than as compensation expense. Subsequent to the
Reorganization and IPO, all guaranteed payments made to these senior professionals are recognized as compensation expense.
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation
In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidation, the Company consolidates those
entities where it has a direct and indirect controlling financial interest based on either a variable interest model or voting interest
model. As such, the Company consolidates entities that the Company concludes are variable interest entities (“VIEs”), for which
the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary and entities in which it holds a majority voting interest or has majority
ownership and control over the operational, financial and investing decisions of that entity.
In February 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810)
– Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis, which changes the consolidation analysis that a reporting entity must perform to
determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. The Company elected to early adopt this new guidance
using the modified retrospective method effective January 1, 2015. As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company
determined that it is no longer the primary beneficiary of certain funds it manages. Therefore, the Company deconsolidated certain
funds that had been consolidated under previous guidance effective January 1, 2015.
For legal entities evaluated for consolidation, the Company must determine whether the interests that it holds and fees
paid to it qualify as a variable interest in an entity. This includes an evaluation of the management fees and performance fees paid
to the Company when acting as a decision maker or service provider to the entity being evaluated. Under the new guidance, if fees
received by the Company are customary and commensurate with the level of services provided, and the Company does not hold
other economic interests in the entity that would absorb more than an insignificant amount of the expected losses or returns of the
entity, the interest that the Company holds would not be considered a variable interest. The Company factors in all economic
interests including proportionate interests through related parties, to determine if fees are considered a variable interest. Prior to
the adoption of the new consolidation guidance, these fees were considered variable interests by the Company.
An entity in which the Company holds a variable interest is a VIE if any one of the following conditions exist: (a) the
total equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the legal entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated
financial support, (b) the holders of equity investment at risk have the right to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly
impact the legal entity’s economic performance, (c) the voting rights of some investors are disproportionate to their obligation to
absorb losses or rights to receive returns from a legal entity. Under the new guidance, for limited partnerships and other similar
entities, non-controlling investors must have substantive rights to either dissolve the fund or remove the general partner (“kickout rights”) in order to not qualify as a VIE.
For those entities that qualify as a VIE, the primary beneficiary is generally defined as the party who has a controlling
financial interest in the VIE. The Company is generally deemed to have a controlling financial interest if it has the power to direct
the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and the obligation to absorb losses or
receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The Company determines whether it is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes initially involved with the VIE and reconsiders that conclusion continuously. The
primary beneficiary evaluation is generally performed qualitatively on the basis of all facts and circumstances. However, quantitative
information may also be considered in the analysis, as appropriate. These assessments require judgments. Each entity is assessed
for consolidation on a case-by-case basis.
For those entities evaluated under the voting interest model, the Company consolidates the entity if it has a controlling
financial interest. The Company has a controlling financial interest in a voting interest entity (“VOE”) if it owns a majority voting
interest in the entity. Prior to the new guidance, the Company consolidated VOE’s where it was the general partner and as such,
was presumed to have control, regardless of its ownership interest.
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Consolidated Variable Interest Entities
Medley Management Inc. is the sole managing member of Medley LLC and, as such, it operates and controls all of the
business and affairs of Medley LLC and, through Medley LLC, conducts its business. Under ASC 810, Medley LLC meets the
definition of a VIE because the equity of Medley LLC is not sufficient to permit activities without additional subordinated financial
support. Medley Management Inc. has the obligation to absorb expected losses that could be significant to Medley LLC and holds
100% of the voting power, therefore Medley Management Inc. is considered to be the primary beneficiary of Medley LLC.
As a result, Medley Management Inc. consolidates the financial results of Medley LLC and its subsidiaries and records
a non-controlling interest for the economic interest in Medley LLC held by the non-managing members. Medley Management
Inc.’s and the non-managing members’ economic interests in Medley LLC are 19.9% and 80.1%, respectively, as of December 31,
2016 and 20.4% and 79.6%, respectively, as of December 31, 2015. Net income attributable to the non-controlling interests in
Medley LLC on the consolidated statements of operations represents the portion of earnings attributable to the economic interest
in Medley LLC held by its non-managing members. Non-controlling interests in Medley LLC on the consolidated balance sheets
represents the portion of net assets of Medley LLC attributable to the non-managing members based on total LLC Units of Medley
LLC owned by such non-managing members.
As of December 31, 2016, Medley LLC has three majority owned subsidiaries, SIC Advisors LLC, Medley Seed Funding
I LLC and STRF Advisors LLC, all of which are consolidated VIEs. Each of these entities was organized as a limited liability
company and was legally formed to either manage a designated fund or strategically invest capital as well as isolate business risk.
As of December 31, 2016, total assets and total liabilities, after eliminating entries, of these VIEs reflected in the consolidated
balance sheets were $51.7 million and $22.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2015, Medley had only one majority owned
subsidiary, SIC Advisors LLC, which was a consolidated VIE. As of December 31, 2015, total assets and total liabilities, after
eliminating entries, of this VIE reflected in the consolidated balance sheets were $31.1 million and $21.2 million, respectively.
Except to the extent of the assets of these VIEs that are consolidated, the holders of the consolidated VIEs’ liabilities generally do
not have recourse to the Company.
Seed Investments
The Company accounts for seed investments through the application of the voting interest model under ASC 810-10-25-1
through 25-14 and consolidates a seed investment when the investment advisor holds a controlling interest, which is, in general,
50% or more of the equity in such investment. For seed investments for which the Company does not hold a controlling interest,
the Company accounts for such seed investment under the equity method of accounting, at its ownership percentage of such seed
investment’s net asset value.
Consolidated Funds
With respect to the Consolidated Funds, which represent limited partnerships, Medley LLC earns a fixed management
fee based on either (i) limited partners' capital commitments to the funds, (ii) invested capital, (III) net asset value (“NAV”), or
(iv) lower of cost or market value of a fund's portfolio investments. In addition, Medley earns a performance fee based upon the
investment returns in excess of a stated hurdle rate. The Company considered the accounting treatment under ASU 2010-10,
Amendments for Certain Investment Funds, and determined that the funds were not VIEs for the year ended December 31, 2014.
However, as the general partner, and due to the lack of substantive kick out or participating rights of the limited partners, these
funds were consolidated under the voting interest model in accordance with ASC 810-20, Control of Partnerships and Similar
Entities, for the year ended December 31, 2014.
Deconsolidated Funds
Certain funds that have historically been consolidated in the financial statements are no longer consolidated. The Company
had consolidated MOF I in its consolidated financial statements in accordance with ASC 810-20, as the Company was the general
partner and the limited partners lacked substantive kick out or participating rights. Effective January 1, 2015, the Company
completed its role as investment manager of this fund and transitioned the management of the residual assets of this fund to another
asset manager. As a result of the transition, the Company deconsolidated the financial statements of this fund, on January 1, 2015.
There was no gain or loss recognized upon deconsolidation.
Prior to January 1, 2015, the Company had consolidated Medley Opportunity Fund II LP (“MOF II”) in its consolidated
financial statements in accordance with ASC 810-20 as the Company was the general partner and the limited partners lacked kick
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out rights or participating rights. Under the guidance of ASU 2015-02, which the Company adopted effective as of January 1,
2015, the Company reconsidered the consolidation conclusion for MOF II and, as a result of the new guidance, determined that,
although MOF II continues to be a VIE, the Company is no longer considered to be the primary beneficiary. Therefore, the Company
deconsolidated MOF II at January 1, 2015 and records its investment in the entity under the equity method of accounting. See
Note 3, “Investments.”
Non-Consolidated Variable Interest Entities
Beginning in November 2006, Medley held a variable interest in an investment fund which was formed under the laws
of the Cayman Islands and organized to make investments in a diversified portfolio of corporate and asset-based investments. The
equity holders (as a group) lack the direct and indirect ability through voting rights or similar rights to make decisions about this
legal entity's activities that have a significant effect on the success of the legal entity. As such, this entity is considered to be a VIE
under the guidance of ASU 2010-10. Medley had a variable interest in the fund through an investment management agreement
pursuant to which Medley managed the investment activities of the fund, received and annual base management fee and was
entitled to receive an incentive fee, subject to the underlying financial performance of the invesment fund. The Company did not
consolidate this entity's expected losses or receive a majority of the entity's returns. Effective October 31, 2014, the investment
management agreement was terminated and Medley transferred its responsibilities to a new investment manager and, therefore,
no longer holds a variable interest in this entity.
The Company received no management fees from this non-consolidated VIE for the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company received management fees from this entity of $1.1 million. As of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no assets recognized in the Company's consolidated balance sheets related to this nonconsolidated VIE and Medley had no exposure to losses from the entity.
The Company holds interests in certain VIEs that are not consolidated because the Company is not deemed the primary
beneficiary. The Company's interest in these entities is in the form of insignificant equity interests and fee arrangements. The
maximum exposure to loss represents the potential loss of assets by the Company relating to these non-consolidated entities.
As of December 31, 2016, the Company recorded investments, at fair value, attributed to these non-consolidated VIEs
of $5.1 million, receivables of $1.9 million included as a component of other assets and a clawback obligation of $7.1 million
included as a component of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
The clawback obligation assumes a hypothetical liquidation of a fund’s investments, at their then current fair values and a portion
of tax distributions relating to performance fees which would need to be returned. As of December 31, 2015, the Company recorded
investments, at fair value of $5.9 million, receivables of $0.9 million included as a component of other assets and a clawback
obligation of $7.1 million included as a component of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s maximum exposure to losses from these entities is $7.0
million.
Concentration of Credit and Market Risk
In the normal course of business, the Company's underlying funds encounter significant credit and market risk. Credit
risk is the risk of default on investments in debt securities, loans and derivatives that result from a borrower's or derivative
counterparty's inability or unwillingness to make required or expected payments. Credit risk is increased in situations where the
Company's underlying funds are investing in distressed assets or unsecured or subordinate loans or in securities that are a material
part of its respective business. Market risk reflects changes in the value of investments due to changes in interest rates, credit
spreads or other market factors.
The Company's underlying funds may make investments outside of the United States. These non-U.S. investments are
subject to the same risks associated with U.S. investments, as well as additional risks, such as fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates, unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, heightened risk of political and economic instability, difficulties
in managing the investments, potentially adverse tax consequences, and the burden of complying with a wide variety of foreign
laws.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
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of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Management’s estimates
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that management believes to be
reasonable under the circumstances. These assumptions and estimates also require management to exercise judgment in the process
of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Significant estimates and assumptions by management affect the carrying value
of investments, performance compensation payable and certain accrued liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates,
and such differences could be material.
Indemnification
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contractual agreements that provide general indemnifications
against losses, costs, claims and liabilities arising from the performance of individual obligations under such agreements. The
Company has not experienced any prior claims or payments pursuant to such agreements. The Company’s individual maximum
exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be made against the Company that
have not yet occurred. However, based on management’s experience, the Company expects the risk of loss to be remote.
Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities
Non-controlling interests in Consolidated Funds represent the component of equity in such consolidated entities held by
third-parties. These interests are adjusted for general partner allocations and for subscriptions and redemptions that occur during
the reporting period.
Non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries represent the component of equity in such consolidated entities
held by third-parties. These interests are adjusted for contributions to and distributions from Medley entities and are allocated
income from Medley entities based on their ownership percentages.
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests
Redeemable non-controlling interests represents interests of certain third parties that are not mandatorily redeemable but
redeemable for cash or other assets at a fixed or determinable price or a fixed or determinable date, at the option of the holder or
upon the occurrence of an event that is not solely within the control of the issuer. These interests are classified in temporary equity.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include liquid investments in money market funds and demand deposits. The Company had
cash balances with financial institutions in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits during the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015. The Company monitors the credit standing of these financial institutions and has not experienced,
and has no expectations of experiencing any losses with respect to such balances.
Restricted Cash Equivalents
Restricted cash equivalents consist of cash held at one of the Company's subsidiaries which was contributed by the
Company and third-party investors. The restricted cash equivalents balance can only be used to purchase investments in new and
existing Medley managed funds.
Adoption of ASU 2016-15
Effective October 1, 2016, the Company early adopted ASU 2016-15, Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments. This guidance was issued to reduce the diversity in practice in how certain cash receipts and payments are classified in
the statement of cash flows, including debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, the settlement of contingent liabilities arising
from a business combination, proceeds from insurance settlements, and distributions from certain equity method investments. As
a result of this guidance, the Company elected to treat distributions received from certain equity method investments using the
cumulative earnings approach. Under the cumulative earnings approach, an investor would compare the distributions
received to its cumulative equity-method earnings since inception. Any distributions received up to the amount of cumulative
equity earnings would be considered a return on investment and classified in operating activities. Any excess distributions
would be considered a return of investment and classified in investing activities. The early adoption of this new guidance did not
have an impact to the presentation of the statement of cash flows for the prior years presented.
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Adoption of ASU 2016-18
Effective October 1, 2016, the Company early adopted ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted
Cash, which requires that the statement of cash flows show the change in the total of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
for the applicable period presented. This new guidance also requires entities to reconcile such total to amounts on the balance sheet
and disclose the nature of the restrictions. The Company early adopted this guidance using the retrospective transition method.
The early adoption of this new guidance did not have an impact to the presentation of the statement of cash flows for the prior
years presented as the Company did not have any restricted cash for those periods presented.
Class A Earnings per Share
The Company computes and presents earnings per share using the two-class method. Under the two-class method, the
Company allocates earnings between common stock and participating securities. The two-class method includes an earnings
allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of common stock according to dividends declared and
undistributed earnings for the period. For purposes of calculating earnings per share, the Company reduces its reported net earnings
by the amount allocated to participating securities to arrive at the earnings allocated to Class A common stockholders. Earnings
are then divided by the weighted average number of Class A common stock outstanding to arrive at basic earnings per share.
Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution beyond shares for basic earnings per share that could occur if securities
or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised, converted into common stock, or resulted in the issuance of common
stock that would have shared in our earnings. Participating securities consist of the Company's unvested restricted stock units that
contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents, whether paid or unpaid, in the number of shares outstanding
in its basic and diluted calculations.
Investments
Investments include equity method investments that are not consolidated but over which the Company exerts significant
influence. The Company measures the carrying value of its public non-traded equity method investment at NAV per share. The
Company measures the carrying value of its privately-held equity method investments by recording its share of the underlying
income or loss of these entities.
Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) resulting from changes in fair value of the equity method investments is reflected
as a component of other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company evaluates its equity method
investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments
may not be recoverable.
The carrying amounts of equity method investments are reflected in investments in the consolidated statements of financial
condition. As the underlying entities that the Company manages and invests in are, for U.S. GAAP purposes, primarily investment
companies which reflect their investments at estimated fair value, the carrying value of the Company’s equity method investments
in such entities approximates fair value. The Company evaluates its equity-method investments for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments may not be recoverable.
Investments also include available-for-sale securities which consist of an investment in publicly traded common stock.
The Company measures the carrying value of its publicly traded investment in available-for-sale securities at the quoted market
price on the primary market or exchange on which they trade. Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) resulting from changes in
fair value of available-for-sale securities is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income, redeemable non-controlling
interests and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC. Realized gains (losses) and declines in value determined to be other than
temporary, if any, are reported in other income (expenses), net. The Company evaluates its investment in available-for-sale securities
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such investment may not be
recoverable.
Prior to January 1, 2015, the Consolidated Funds reflected their investments at fair value with unrealized appreciation
(depreciation) resulting from changes in fair value reflected as a component of net change in unrealized depreciation on investments
of Consolidated Funds in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Fixed Assets
Fixed assets consist primarily of furniture, fixtures, computer equipment, and leasehold improvements and are recorded
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
The Company calculates depreciation expense for furniture, fixtures, and computer equipment using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life used for the respective assets, which generally ranges from three to seven years. Amortization
of leasehold improvements is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the remaining term of the underlying lease or
estimated useful life of the improvement. Useful lives of leasehold improvements range from three to eight years. Expenditures
for major additions and improvements are capitalized, while minor replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged to expense
as incurred. When property is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from accounts
and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in Other Expenses, net in the consolidated statements of operations.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs represent direct costs incurred with obtaining financing and are amortized over the term of the
underlying debt using the effective interest method. Debt issuance costs, and the related amortization expense, are adjusted when
any prepayments of principal are made to the related outstanding debt. Amortization of debt issuance costs is included as a
component of interest expense in the Company's consolidated statement of operations.
Adoption of ASU 2015-03
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which requires that
debt issuance costs be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability,
consistent with debt discounts. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-15, Interest – Imputation of Interest, which updated
ASU 2015-03 guidance to state that the SEC staff would not object to an entity deferring and presenting debt issuance costs relating
to a line of credit arrangement as an asset and subsequently amortizing the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of
the line of credit arrangement, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the line of credit agreement.
The Company adopted the new guidance and retrospectively presented debt issuance costs related to its long-term debt
as a deduction from the carrying amount of the associated debt on its Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and
2015. As a result of the adoption, $1.7 million of debt issuance costs were reclassified from other assets to debt obligations as of
December 31, 2015. The Company continues to present debt issuance costs related to its revolving credit facility as an asset on
its Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. This change did not affect the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations, cash flows or changes in equity.
Revenues
Management Fees
Medley provides investment management services to both public and private investment vehicles. Management fees
include base management fees, other management fees, and Part I incentive fees, as described below.
Base management fees are calculated based on either (i) the average or ending gross assets balance for the relevant period,
(ii) limited partners’ capital commitments to the funds, (iii) invested capital, (iv) NAV or (v) lower of cost or market value of a
fund’s portfolio investments. For the private funds, Medley receives base management fees during a specified period of time,
which is generally ten years from the initial closing date. However, such termination date may be earlier in certain limited
circumstances or later if extended for successive one-year periods, typically up to a maximum of two years. Depending upon the
contracted terms of the investment management agreement, management fees are paid either quarterly in advance or quarterly in
arrears, and are recognized as earned over the period the services are provided.
Certain management agreements provide for Medley to receive other management fee revenue derived from up front
origination fees paid by the portfolio companies of the funds, as well as separately managed accounts. These fees are recognized
when Medley becomes entitled to such fees.
Certain management agreements also provide for Medley to receive Part I incentive fee revenue derived from net interest
income (excluding gains and losses) above a hurdle rate. Effective January 1, 2016, as it relates to Medley Capital Corporation
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(“MCC”), these fees are subject to netting against realized and unrealized losses. Part I incentive fees are paid quarterly and are
recognized as earned over the period the services are provided.
Performance Fees
Performance fees consist principally of the allocation of profits from certain funds and separately managed accounts, to
which Medley provides management services. Medley is generally entitled to an allocation of income as a performance fee after
returning the invested capital plus a specified preferred return as set forth in each respective agreement. Medley recognizes revenues
attributable to performance fees based upon the amount that would be due pursuant to the respective agreement at each period end
as if the funds were terminated at that date. Accordingly, the amount recognized in the Company's consolidated financial statements
reflects Medley’s share of the gains and losses of the associated funds’ underlying investments measured at their current fair values.
Performance fee revenue may include reversals of previously recognized performance fees due to a decrease in the net income of
a particular fund that results in a decrease of cumulative performance fees earned to date. Since fund return hurdles are cumulative,
previously recognized performance fees also may be reversed in a period of appreciation that is lower than the particular fund’s
hurdle rate. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company did not reverse previously recognized performance fees.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company reversed $24.0 million of previously recognized performance fees. For
the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company reversed $4.4 million and $2.3 million of previously recognized performance
fees on a standalone and consolidated basis, respectively. As of December 31, 2016, the Company recognized cumulative
performance fees of $7.1 million.
Performance fees received in prior periods may be required to be returned by Medley in future periods if the funds’
investment performance declines below certain levels. Each fund is considered separately in this regard and, for a given fund,
performance fees can never be negative over the life of a fund. If upon a hypothetical liquidation of a fund’s investments, at their
then current fair values, previously recognized and distributed performance fees would be required to be returned, a liability is
established for the potential clawback obligation. As of December 31, 2016, the Company had not received any performance fee
distributions, except for tax distributions related to the Company’s allocation of net income, which included an allocation of
performance fees. Pursuant to the organizational documents of each respective fund, a portion of these tax distributions is subject
to clawback. As of December 31, 2016, the Company had accrued $7.1 million for clawback obligations that would need to be
paid if the funds were liquidated at fair value as of the end of the reporting period. The Company’s actual obligation, however,
would not become payable or realized until the end of a fund’s life.
Other Revenues and Fees
Medley provides administrative services to certain affiliated funds and is reimbursed for direct and allocated expenses
incurred in providing such administrative services, as set forth in the respective fund agreements. These fees are recognized as
revenue in the period administrative services are rendered.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, included in other revenues and fees are reimbursements received by Medley
from SIC under its investment advisory agreement. Expenses incurred by Medley under this agreement are recorded within general,
administrative, and other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. For additional information on these reimbursements,
refer to Note 10.
Performance Fee Compensation
Medley has issued profit interests in certain subsidiaries to select employees. These profit-sharing arrangements are
accounted for under ASC 710, Compensation — General, which requires compensation expense to be measured at fair value at
the grant date and expensed over the vesting period, which is usually the period over which the service is provided. The fair value
of the profit interests are re-measured at each balance sheet date and adjusted for changes in estimates of cash flows and vesting
percentages. The impact of such changes is recorded in the consolidated statements of operations as an increase or decrease to
performance fee compensation.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation.
Under the fair value recognition provision of this guidance, stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on
the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period.
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Stock-based compensation expense recognized for the periods presented is based on awards ultimately expected to vest
and have been reduced for estimated forfeitures. ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The effect of such change in estimated forfeitures
is recognized through a cumulative catch-up adjustment that is included in the period of the change in estimate.
The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period is included within compensation and benefits on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability approach, which requires the recognition of tax
benefits or expenses for temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities. A valuation
allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized. The Company also
recognizes a tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is “more likely than not” that the position is sustainable based on
its technical merits. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions and other tax matters
as a component of income tax expense. For interim periods, the Company accounts for income taxes based on its estimate of the
effective tax rate for the year. Discrete items and changes in its estimate of the annual effective tax rate are recorded in the period
they occur.
Medley Management Inc. is subject to U.S. federal, state and local corporate income taxes on its allocable portion of the
income of Medley LLC at prevailing corporate tax rates, which are reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Medley LLC and its subsidiaries are not subject to federal, state and local corporate income taxes since all income, gains and losses
are passed through to its members. However, Medley LLC and its subsidiaries are subject to New York City’s unincorporated
business tax, which is included in the Company’s provision for income taxes.
Prior to the Company's Reorganization and IPO, no provision was made for U.S. federal, state and local corporate income
taxes in the accompanying consolidated financial statements since the Company was a group of pass-through entities for U.S. and
state income tax purposes and its profits and losses were allocated to the partners who are individually responsible for reporting
such amounts. A provision for income taxes was made for certain entities that were subject to New York City's unincorporated
business tax.
The Company analyzes its tax filing positions in all of the U.S. federal, state and local tax jurisdictions where it is required
to file income tax returns, as well as for all open tax years in these jurisdictions. If, based on this analysis, the Company determines
that uncertainties in tax positions exist, a liability is established.
Leases
Certain lease agreements contain escalating payments and rent holiday periods. The related rent expense is recorded on
a straight-line basis over the length of the lease term. The difference between rent expense and rent paid is recorded as deferred
rent. Leasehold improvements made by the lessee and funded by landlord allowances or other incentives are also recorded as
deferred rent and are amortized as a reduction in rent expense over the term of the lease. Deferred rent is included as a component
of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
Secured Borrowings of Consolidated Funds
The Consolidated Funds follow the guidance in ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing, when accounting for loan participations
and other partial loan sales. Such guidance provides accounting and reporting standards for transfers and servicing of financial
assets and requires a participation or other partial loan sale to meet the definition of a “participating interest,” as defined in the
guidance. Under ASC 860, the Company applies a control-oriented approach to participating interests whereby control is considered
to have been surrendered only if (i) the transferred financial assets have been isolated from the transferor, (ii) the transferee has
the right to pledge or exchange the transferred financial assets it received, and (iii) the transferor, its consolidated affiliates in the
financial statements being presented, or its agents do not maintain effective control over the transferred financial assets.
Participations or other partial loan sales which do not meet all of these conditions remain on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets and the proceeds are recorded as a secured borrowing until the definition is met. Secured borrowings are carried at fair value
to correspond with the related investments, which are carried at fair value.
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For these participations or partial loan sales accounted for as secured borrowings, the interest income earned on the entire
loan balance is recorded within interest and other income of Consolidated Funds and the interest income earned by the buyer in
the partial loan sale is recorded as interest expense of Consolidated Funds in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. Changes in the fair value of secured borrowings of Consolidated Funds are included in net change in unrealized
depreciation (appreciation) on secured borrowings in the consolidated statements of operations.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which provides that
an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for such goods or services. To achieve this core principle, an
entity should apply the following steps: (1) identify the contracts with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in the
contracts, (3) determine the transaction prices, (4) allocate the transaction prices to the performance obligations in the contracts,
and (5) recognize revenue when, or as, the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The guidance also requires advanced disclosures
regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net), which clarified the implementation guidance on principal versus agent
considerations. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing, which clarified the implementation guidance regarding performance obligations and
licensing arrangements. The new standard will become effective for the Company on January 1, 2018, with early application
permitted to the effective date of January 1, 2017. The Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. However, the adoption of this guidance is expected to impact the timing
of performance fee revenue recognition. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the effect
of the standard on its ongoing financial reporting.
In August 2014, the FASB released ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern, which requires
a company to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
entity's ability to continue as a going concern within the one year period subsequent to the date that the financial statements are
issued or within the one year period subsequent the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. This guidance is
effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual and interim periods thereafter. The Company adopted
this guidance effective January 1, 2017 and the adoption did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall: Recognition and Measurement of
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which requires that all equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity
method of accounting) be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. This guidance eliminates
the available-for-sale classification for equity securities with readily determinable fair values. However, companies may elect to
measure equity investments that do not have readily determinable fair values at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus
changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer.
This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This guidance requires an entity to recognize assets
and liabilities arising from a lease for both financing and operating leases, along with additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosures. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements. However, the
adoption of this guidance is expected to result in a significant increase in total assets and total liabilities, but will not have a
significant impact on the consolidated statement of operations.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee ShareBased Payment Accounting. This guidance simplifies and improves several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment
transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities and classification on
the statement of cash flows. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2016, with early adoption
permitted. Upon initial evaluation, the adoption of ASU 2016-09 will have the following changes to the Company's consolidated
financial statements. First, excess tax benefits and deficiencies will be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations
instead of being recorded to equity, and forfeitures may be accounted for as they occur instead of being estimated. In addition,
excess tax benefits will be classified as cash flows from operating activities, and cash withheld by the Company for employees'
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withholding taxes will be classified as cash flows from financing activities on the Company's consolidated statements of cash
flows.
The Company does not believe any other recently issued, but not yet effective, revisions to authoritative guidance will
have a material effect on its consolidated balance sheets, results of operations or cash flows.
3.

INVESTMENTS
The components of investments are as follows:

Equity method investments, at fair value
Available-for-sale securities
Total investments, at fair value

$
$

As of December 31,
2016
2015
(Amounts in thousands)
14,895 $
16,360
17,009
—
31,904 $
16,360

Equity Method Investments
Medley measures the carrying value of its public non-traded equity method investments at NAV per share. Unrealized
appreciation (depreciation) resulting from changes in NAV per share is reflected as a component of other income (expense) in the
consolidated statements of operations. The carrying value of the Company’s privately-held equity method investments is determined
based on the amounts invested by the Company, adjusted for the equity in earnings or losses of the investee allocated based on
the respective underlying agreements, less distributions received.
The Company evaluates its equity method investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments may not be recoverable. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the
Company assessed that the liquidation value of its investment in CK Pearl Fund was below its carrying value and that such decline
led to an other than temporary impairment. As a result, the Company recorded a $0.5 million loss on its investment in CK Pearl
Fund which is included as a component of other income (expenses), net on the consolidated statements of operations. There were
no impairment losses recorded during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company’s carrying value of its equity method investments was $14.9 million
and $16.4 million, respectively. Included in this balance was $9.0 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 from the Company’s
investment in publicly-held Sierra Income Corporation (“SIC”). The remaining balance as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 relates
primarily to the Company’s investments in MOF II, Medley Opportunity Fund III LP (“MOF III”) and CK Pearl Fund.
Available-For-Sale Securities
As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s carrying value of its available-for-sale securities was $17.0 million and consisted
of 2,264,892 shares of MCC. The Company measures the carrying value of its investment in MCC at fair value based on the quoted
market price on the exchange on which its shares trade. As of December 31, 2016, the cumulative unrealized gains in redeemable
non-controlling interests and non-controlling interests in Medley LLC on the Company's consolidated balance sheets was $0.2
million. There were no impairment charges recorded related to the Company’s investments in available-for-sale securities during
the year ended December 31, 2016.
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4.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company follows the guidance set forth in ASC 820 for measuring the fair value of investments in available-for-sale
securities. Fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. Where available, fair value is based on observable market prices or parameters,
or derived from such prices or parameters. Where observable prices or inputs are not available, valuation models are applied. These
valuation models involve some level of management estimation and judgment, the degree of which is dependent on the price
transparency for the instruments or market and the instruments’ complexity. Financial instruments recorded at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements are categorized for disclosure purposes based upon the level of judgment associated with the
inputs to the valuation of the investment as of the measurement date. The three levels are defined as follows:
•

Level I – Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement
date.

•

Level II – Valuations based on inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level I, which are either
directly or indirectly observable at the measurement date. This category includes quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in non-active markets including bids from third parties for privately held assets or liabilities, and observable
inputs other than quoted prices such as yield curves and forward currency rates that are entered directly into valuation
models to determine the value of derivatives or other assets or liabilities.

•

Level III – Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and where there is little, if any, market activity at the
measurement date. The inputs for the determination of fair value may require significant management judgment or
estimation and is based upon management’s assessment of the assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the assets and liabilities. These investments include debt and equity investments in private companies or
assets valued using the market or income approach and may involve pricing models whose inputs require significant
judgment or estimation because of the absence of any meaningful current market data for identical or similar
investments. The inputs in these valuations may include, but are not limited to, capitalization and discount rates, beta
and EBITDA multiples. The information may also include pricing information or broker quotes that include a
disclaimer that the broker would not be held to such a price in an actual transaction. The non-binding nature of
consensus pricing and/or quotes accompanied by disclaimer would result in classification as Level III information,
assuming no additional corroborating evidence.

When determining the fair value of publicly traded equity securities, the Company uses the quoted market price as of the
valuation date on the primary market or exchange on which they trade. The Company’s investments in available-for-sale securities
are categorized as Level I. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no financial instruments classified as Level II or Level
III.
Our equity method investments for which fair value is measured at NAV per share, or its equivalent, using the practical
expedient, are not categorized in the fair value hierarchy.
A review of the fair value hierarchy classifications is conducted on a quarterly basis. Changes in the observability of
valuation inputs may result in a reclassification for certain financials assets or liabilities. Reclassifications impacting all levels of
the fair value hierarchy are reported as transfers in or out of Level I, II or III category as of the beginning of the quarter during
which the reclassifications occur. There were no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy during the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015.
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5.

OTHER ASSETS
The components of other assets are as follows:

Fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,816 and $1,667, respectively
Security deposits
Administrative fees receivable (Note 10)
Deferred tax assets (Note 12)
Due from affiliates (Note 10)
Prepaid expenses and taxes
Other
Total other assets
6.

As of December 31,
2016
2015
(Amounts in thousands)
4,998 $
1,708
1,975
3,034
2,068
1,654
2,001
1,658
2,133
1,486
3,078
2,293
2,058
1,182
18,311 $
13,015

$

$

LOANS PAYABLE
The Company’s loans payable consist of the following:
As of December 31,
2016
2015
(Amounts in thousands)

Term loans under the Credit Suisse Term Loan Facility, net of unamortized discount and
debt issuance costs of $1,207 and $2,489, respectively
Non-recourse promissory notes, net of unamortized discount and debt issuance costs of
$1,415 and $1,953, respectively
Total loans payable

$

43,593

$

92,511

$

8,585
52,178

$

8,360
100,871

Credit Suisse Term Loan Facility
On August 14, 2014, the Company entered into a $110.0 million senior secured term loan credit facility (as amended,
“Term Loan Facility”) with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder,
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as bookrunner and lead arranger, and the lenders from time-to-time party thereto, which will
mature on June 15, 2019.
Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility, bore interest, at the borrower’s option, at a rate equal to either a Eurodollar
margin over an adjusted LIBOR (with a “floor” of 1.0%) or a base rate margin over an adjusted base rate determined by reference
to the highest of (i) the term loan administrative agent’s prime rate; (ii) the federal funds effective rate in effect on such day plus
0.5%; and (iii) an adjusted LIBOR plus 1.0%. The applicable margins for the Term Loan Facility was 5.5%, in the case of Eurodollar
loans and 4.5%, in the case of adjusted base rate loans. Outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bore interest at a
rate of 6.5% as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. Borrowings were collateralized by substantially all of the equity interests in
Medley LLC’s wholly owned subsidiaries.
The Term Loan Facility required principal repayments in quarterly installments equal to $1.4 million (which amount may
be adjusted as a result of prepayment or incremental term loans drawn), with the remaining amount payable at maturity. The
Company can also make voluntary repayments, without penalty, at any time prior to August 14, 2016, not to exceed $33.0 million
in the aggregate. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, outstanding borrowings under this facility were $43.6 million and $92.5
million, respectively, which is reflected net of unamortized discount and debt issuance costs of $1.2 million and $2.5 million,
respectively. Debt issuance costs and the discount under the term loans were being accreted, using the effective interest method,
over the term of the notes. Total interest expense under this Term Loan Facility, including accretion of the note discount and
amortization of debt issuance costs, was $6.7 million, $7.0 million and $2.8 million for of the years ended December 31, 2016,
2015 and 2014, respectively. The fair value of the outstanding balance of Term Loan Facility approximated its par value as of
December 31, 2016.
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In August and October 2016, the Company voluntarily prepaid $23.5 million and $26.7 million, respectively, of outstanding
term loans under this facility using the net proceeds from the offerings of senior unsecured debt (described in Note 7). The
prepayments were applied against the remaining quarterly installments and a portion of the Term Loan Facility payable at maturity.
The Term Loan Facility also contained a financial covenant that required the Company to maintain a Maximum Net
Leverage Ratio of not greater than 3.5 to 1.0, with which the Company is compliant. This ratio was calculated on a trailing twelve
months basis and was the ratio of Total Net Debt, as defined, to Core EBITDA, as defined, and was calculated using the Company’s
financial results and included the adjustments made to calculate Core EBITDA. Non-compliance with any of the financial or nonfinancial covenants without cure or waiver would constitute an event of default under the Term Loan Facility. The Term Loan
Facility also contains other customary events of default, including defaults based on events of bankruptcy and insolvency,
dissolution, nonpayment of principal, interest or fees when due, breach of specified covenants, change in control and material
inaccuracy of representations and warranties. In February 2017, borrowings under this facility were paid off using the proceeds
from the issuance of additional senior unsecured debt which resulted in the termination of the Term Loan Facility. Refer to Note
17, “Subsequent Events”.
CNB Credit Agreement
On August 19, 2014, the Company entered into a $15.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility with City National
Bank (as amended, the “Revolving Credit Facility”). On May 3, 2016, the Revolving Credit Facility was amended to permit
issuance of additional indebtedness by the Company. The amendment also provided for the creation and funding of certain future
funds, as well as for certain other technical changes to the Revolving Credit Facility. The Company intends to use any proceeds
from borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility for general corporate purposes, including funding of its working capital
needs. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at the option of the Company, either (i) at an Alternate Base
Rate, as defined, plus an applicable margin not to exceed 3.25% or (ii) at an Adjusted LIBOR plus an applicable margin not to
exceed 4.0%. As of and during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no amounts drawn under the Revolving
Credit Facility.
The Revolving Credit Facility also contains a financial covenant that requires the Company to maintain a Maximum Net
Leverage Ratio of not greater than 3.5 to 1.0, with which the Company is compliant. This ratio is calculated on a trailing twelve
months basis and is the ratio of Total Net Debt, as defined, to Core EBITDA, as defined, and is calculated using the Company’s
financial results and includes the adjustments made to calculate Core EBITDA. Non-compliance with any of the financial or nonfinancial covenants without cure or waiver would constitute an event of default under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Revolving
Credit Facility also contains other customary events of default, including defaults based on events of bankruptcy and insolvency,
dissolution, nonpayment of principal, interest or fees when due, breach of specified covenants, change in control and material
inaccuracy of representations and warranties. There were no events of default under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31,
2016.
Non-Recourse Promissory Notes
In April 2012, the Company borrowed $10.0 million under two non-recourse promissory notes. Proceeds from the
borrowings were used to purchase 1,108,033 shares of common stock of SIC, which were pledged as collateral for the obligations.
Interest on the notes is paid monthly and is equal to the dividends received by the Company related to the pledged shares. The
Company may prepay the notes in whole or in part at any time without penalty and the lenders may call the notes if certain conditions
are met. The notes are scheduled to mature in March 2019. The proceeds from the notes were recorded net of issuance costs of
$3.8 million and are being accreted, using the effective interest method, over the term of the non-recourse promissory notes. Total
interest expense under these non-recourse promissory notes, including accretion of the note discount, was $1.4 million for each
of the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. The fair value of the outstanding balance of the notes was $10.2 million
and $10.1 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
In March 2014, the Company issued a promissory note in the amount of $2.5 million to a former Medley member in
connection with the purchase of his membership interests. The promissory note carries no interest, has quarterly amortization
payments of $0.3 million, and matured in March 2016. As of December 31, 2015, the balance under this note was $0.3 million.
Contractual Maturities of Loans Payable
As of December 31, 2016, $54.8 million of future principal payments will be due, relating to the loans payable, during
the year ended December 31, 2019. There are no other future principal payments due under the loans payable.
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7.

SENIOR UNSECURED DEBT

On August 9, 2016, Medley LLC completed a registered public offering of $25.0 million of an aggregate principal amount
of 6.875% senior notes due 2026 at a public offering price of 100% of the principal amount. On October 18, 2016, Medley LLC
completed a public offering of an additional $28.6 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.875% senior notes due 2026 at a
public offering price of $24.45 for each $25.00 principal amount of notes. Together, the August 9, 2016 and the October 18, 2016
offerings compose the senior unsecured debt balance.
The senior unsecured debt matures on August 15, 2026 and interest is payable quarterly commencing on November 15,
2016. The senior unsecured debt is subject to redemption in whole or in part at any time or from time to time, at the option of the
Company, on or after August 15, 2019 at a redemption price per security equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof
plus accrued and unpaid interest payments. The senior unsecured debt is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades thereon
under the trading symbol “MDLX.”
As of December 31, 2016, the outstanding senior unsecured debt balance was $49.8 million, which is reflected net of
unamortized discount and debt issuance costs of $3.8 million. Debt issuance costs and the discount under the senior unsecured
debt are being accreted, using the effective interest method, over the term of the senior unsecured debt. Total interest expense
under the senior unsecured debt, including accretion of the discount and amortization of debt issuance costs, was $1.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2016. Net proceeds from the issuance of the senior unsecured debt were used to repay a portion of
the outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan Facility. The fair value of the outstanding balance of senior unsecured debt was
$51.6 million as of December 31, 2016. In January and February 2017, Medley LLC completed additional registered offerings of
senior unsecured debt. Refer to Note 17, “Subsequent Events.”
8.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
The components of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities are as follows:

Accrued compensation and benefits
Due to affiliates (Note 10)
Revenue share payable (Note 9)
Accrued interest
Professional fees
Deferred rent
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 12)
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses
Total accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
9.

$

$

As of December 31,
2016
2015
(Amounts in thousands)
7,978 $
9,107
15,043
13,634
6,472
6,774
558
1,304
858
614
2,833
285
202
127
2,326
2,901
36,270 $
34,746

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases
Medley leases office space in New York City and San Francisco under non-cancelable lease agreements that expire at
various times through September 2023. Rent expense was $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 and $2.6 million
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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Future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable leases are as follows as of December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter
Total future minimum lease payments

$

$

2,683
2,704
2,710
2,833
2,430
4,254
17,614

Capital Commitments to Funds
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had aggregate unfunded commitments of $0.5 million and $0.3 million,
respectively, to certain long-dated private funds.
Other Commitments
In April 2012, the Company entered into an obligation to pay a fixed percentage of management and incentive fees
received by the Company from SIC. The agreement was entered into contemporaneously with the $10 million non-recourse
promissory notes that were issued to the same parties (Note 6). The two transactions were deemed to be related freestanding
contracts and the $10 million of loan proceeds were allocated to the contracts using their relative fair values. At inception, the
Company recognized an obligation of $4.4 million representing the present value of the future cash flows expected to be paid
under this agreement. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, this obligation amounted to $6.5 million and $6.8 million, respectively,
and is recorded as revenue share payable, a component of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets. The change in the estimated cash flows for this obligation is recorded in other income (expense) on the consolidated
statements of operations.
Legal Proceedings
From time to time, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings, lawsuits and claims incidental to the conduct
of its business. Its business is also subject to extensive regulation, which may result in regulatory proceedings against it. Except
as described below, the Company is not currently party to any material legal proceedings.
MCC Advisors LLC was named as a defendant in a lawsuit on May 29, 2015, by Moshe Barkat and Modern VideoFilm
Holdings, LLC (“MVF Holdings”) against MCC, MOF II, MCC Advisors LLC, Deloitte Transactions and Business Analytics LLP
A/K/A Deloitte ERG (“Deloitte”), Scott Avila (“Avila”), Charles Sweet, and Modern VideoFilm, Inc. (“MVF”). The lawsuit is
pending in the California Superior Court, Los Angeles County, Central District, as Case No. BC 583437. The lawsuit was filed
after MCC, as agent for the lender group, exercised remedies following a series of defaults by MVF and MVF Holdings on a
secured loan with an outstanding balance at the time in excess of $65 million. The lawsuit sought damages in excess of $100
million. Deloitte and Avila have settled the claims against them in exchange for payment of $1.5 million. Following a separate
lawsuit by Mr. Barkat against MVF’s D&O insurance carrier, the carrier, Charles Sweet and MVF have settled the claims against
them. On June 6, 2016, the court granted the defendants’ demurrers on several counts and dismissed Mr. Barkat’s claims with
prejudice except with respect to his claim for intentional interference with contract. MCC and the other defendants continue to
dispute the remaining allegations and are vigorously defending the lawsuit while pursuing affirmative counterclaims against Mr.
Barkat and MVF Holdings. On August 29, 2016, MVF Holdings filed another lawsuit in the California Superior Court, Los Angeles
County, Central District, as Case No. BC 631888 (the “Derivative Action”), naming MCC Advisors LLC and certain of Medley’s
employees as defendants, among others. In the Derivative Action, MVF Holdings reasserts substantially the same claims that were
previously asserted in each of their three prior complaints. MCC Advisors LLC and the other defendants believe the outstanding
claims for alleged interference with Mr. Barkat’s employment contract, and the other causes of action asserted in the Derivative
Action are without merit and all defendants intend to continue to assert a vigorous defense.
CK Pearl Fund, Ltd. and CK Pearl Fund, LP v. Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C., Rothstein-Kass P.A., Rothstein Kass &
Co. LLC and Rothstein, Kass & Company (Cayman); Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C., Rothstein-Kass P.A., Rothstein Kass &
Co. LLC and Rothstein, Kass & Company (Cayman) v. Medley Capital LLC, filed on September 19, 2016, in the Superior Court
of New Jersey Law Division: Essex County, as Docket No. L-5196-15. On September 28, 2016, Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C.,
Rothstein-Kass P.A., Rothstein Kass & Co. LLC and Rothstein, Kass & Company (Cayman); Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C.,
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Rothstein-Kass P.A. (the “Rothstein Companies”) notified Medley Capital LLC that they had filed a Third-Party Complaint naming
Medley Capital LLC as an additional defendant in the pending lawsuit between CK Pearl Fund, Ltd. and CK Pearl Fund, LP (the
“CK Pearl Funds”) and the Rothstein Companies. The CK Pearl Funds’ lawsuit against Rothstein Kass was commenced on July
23, 2015. Medley Capital LLC was not named as a defendant in the CK Pearl Funds’ lawsuit. In their First Amended Complaint,
the CK Pearl Funds alleged that the Rothstein Companies failed to exercise reasonable care and diligence in conducting audits of
the CK Pearl Funds’ financial statements from 2008 to 2013. More specifically, the CK Pearl Funds allege that asset valuations
prepared by independent third-party valuation firms and Medley Capital LLC were overstated and the Rothstein Kass Companies
should not have issued audit opinions stating that the CK Pearl Funds’ financial statements were fairly presented. The CK Pearl
Funds alleged that, as a result, they paid Medley Capital LLC greater management fees than were otherwise due and that the CK
Pearl Funds lost money on follow-on investments that they otherwise would not have made. The CK Pearl Funds’ complaint seeks
damages in excess of $125 million. From 2007 through 2014, the CK Pearl Funds were named Medley Opportunity Fund Ltd and
Medley Opportunity Fund LP and Medley Capital LLC acted as investment manager to the CK Pearl Funds. On September 19,
2016, the Rothstein Companies filed an answer denying the CK Pearl Funds’ allegations and a cross-complaint against the CK
Pearl Funds and a third-party complaint against Medley Capital LLC. The complaints filed by the Rothstein Companies allege
that the CK Pearl Funds and/or Medley Capital LLC were responsible for valuations and, if any financial statements or any
valuations were overstated, the CK Pearl Funds and/or Medley Capital LLC, not the Rothstein Companies, were responsible.
Medley Capital LLC is demanding indemnification pursuant to its contractual agreements with the CK Pearl Funds and contribution
from both the CK Pearl Funds and their independent directors with respect to the claims asserted by the Rothstein Companies.
Medley Capital LLC disputes the allegations and intends to defend the case vigorously.
Medley Capital LLC v. CK Pearl Fund, Ltd., filed on November 28, 2016, in the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands in
the Financial Services Division, as Cause No. FSD 196 of 2016. On November 28, 2016, Medley Capital LLC commenced a
lawsuit against CK Pearl Fund Ltd. seeking declaratory relief with respect its right to indemnification in connection with the
Rothstein litigation and advancement of its expenses in connection with defending the same. CK Pearl Fund Ltd. has indicated
that it is prepared to acknowledge Medley Capital LLC's right to advancement of costs and expenses defending the Rothstein
litigation.
10.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Substantially all of Medley’s revenue is earned through agreements with its consolidated and non-consolidated funds for
which it collects management and performance fees for providing investment and management services.
In April 2012, Medley entered into an investment advisory agreement (“IAA”) with SIC. Pursuant to the terms of the
IAA, Medley agreed to bear all organization and offering expenses (“O&O Expenses”) related to SIC until the earlier of the end
of the SIC offering period or such time that SIC has raised $300 million in gross proceeds in connection with the sale of shares of
its common stock. The SIC IAA also required SIC to reimburse Medley for O&O Expenses incurred by Medley in an amount
equal to 1.25% of the aggregate gross proceeds in connection with the sale of shares of its common stock until the earlier of the
end of the SIC offering period, or Medley has been repaid in full. Effective June 2, 2014, Medley was no longer liable for these
expenses as SIC had reached the $300 million in gross proceeds threshold.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, Medley incurred O&O Expenses of $1.5 million, which were recorded within
general, administrative, and other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Reimbursements of O&O were $3.8
million during the year ended December 31, 2014 and were recorded in other revenues and fees on the consolidated statements of
operations. There were no O&O expenses or reimbursements of O&O during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
In June 2012, Medley entered into an Expense Support and Reimbursement Agreement (“ESA”) with SIC. Under the
ESA, until December 31, 2016, Medley will pay up to 100% of SIC’s operating expenses in order for SIC to achieve a reasonable
level of expenses relative to its investment income. Pursuant to the ESA, SIC has a conditional obligation to reimburse Medley
for any amounts they funded under the ESA if, within three years of the date on which Medley funded such amounts, SIC meets
certain financial levels. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 Medley recorded $16.1 million, $6.4 million and
$5.0 million, respectively, for ESA expenses under this agreement. The ESA expenses are recorded within general, administrative,
and other expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Amounts due to SIC under the ESA agreement were $7.9 million
and $7.2 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. These amounts are included in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilities as due to affiliates on the consolidated balance sheets.
In January 2011, Medley entered into an administration agreement with MCC (the “MCC Admin Agreement”), whereby
Medley agreed to provide administrative services necessary for the operations of MCC. MCC agreed to pay Medley for the costs
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and expenses incurred in providing such administrative services, including an allocable portion of Medley’s overhead expenses
and an allocable portion of the cost of MCC’s officers and their respective staffs. Medley records these administrative fees as
revenue in the period when the services are provided and are included in other revenues and fees on the consolidated statements
of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded $3.9 million, $4.0 million and $3.7
million, respectively, of revenue related to the MCC Admin Agreement. Amounts due from MCC under the MCC Admin Agreement
was $0.9 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and is included as a component of other assets on the consolidated
balance sheets.
In April 2012, Medley entered into an administration agreement with SIC (the “SIC Admin Agreement”), whereby Medley
agreed to provide administrative services necessary for the operations of SIC. SIC agreed to pay Medley for the costs and expenses
incurred in providing such administrative services including an allocable portion of Medley’s overhead expenses and an allocable
portion of the cost of SIC’s officers and their respective staffs. Medley records these administrative fees as revenue in the period
when the services are provided and are included in other revenues and fees on the consolidated statement of operations. For the
years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded $2.8 million, $2.1 million and $1.3 million, respectively,
of revenue related to the SIC Admin Agreement. Amounts due from SIC under the SIC Admin Agreement was $0.9 million and
$0.5 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and is included as a component of other assets on the consolidated
balance sheets.
Additionally, Medley entered into administration agreements with other entities that it manages (the “Funds Admin
Agreements”), whereby Medley agreed to provide administrative services necessary for the operations of these other vehicles.
These other entities agreed to pay Medley for the costs and expenses incurred in providing such administrative services, including
an allocable portion of Medley’s overhead expenses and an allocable portion of the cost of these other vehicles' officers and their
respective staffs. Medley records these administrative fees as revenue in the period when the services are provided and are included
in other revenues and fees on the consolidated statement of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 the
Company recorded $0.9 million and $0.2 million, respectively, of revenue related to the Funds Admin Agreements. There was no
revenue related to the Funds Admin Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2014. Amounts due from these entities under
the Funds Admin Agreements were $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and are included
as a component of other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
Equity Method Investments
The Company holds equity method investments in SIC, MOF II, MOF III, CK Pearl Fund and other vehicles. As of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company’s carrying value of its equity method investments was $14.9 million and $16.4 million,
respectively. Included in this balance was $9.0 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, from the Company’s investment in
SIC.
Available-For-Sale Securities
As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s carrying value of its available-for-sale securities was $17.0 million and consisted
of 2,264,892 shares of MCC which were purchased on the open market for $16.8 million. As of December 31, 2016, the Company
recorded $0.2 million of cumulative unrealized gains in redeemable non-controlling interests and non-controlling interests in
Medley LLC on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
Promissory Note
In March 2014, the Company issued a promissory note in the amount of $2.5 million to a former Medley member in
connection with the purchase of his membership interests. The promissory note carried no interest, had quarterly amortization
payments of $0.3 million, and was paid down in full as of March 2016. As of December 31, 2015, the balance under this note was
$0.3 million.
Exchange Agreement
Prior to the completion of the Company's IPO, Medley LLC's limited liability agreement was restated among other things,
to modify its capital structure by reclassifying the interests held by its existing owners (i.e. the members of Medley prior to the
IPO) into the LLC Units. Medley’s existing owners also entered into an exchange agreement under which they (or certain permitted
transferees thereof) have the right (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement as described therein), to exchange their LLC
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Units for shares of Medley Management Inc.’s Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis at fair value, subject to customary
conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications.
Tax Receivable Agreement
Medley Management Inc. entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of LLC Units that provides for the
payment by Medley Management Inc. to exchanging holders of LLC Units of 85% of the benefits, if any, that Medley Management
Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of increases in tax basis of tangible and intangible assets of Medley LLC from the future
exchange of LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock, as well as certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax
receivable agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement.
The term of the tax receivable agreement will continue until all such tax benefits under the agreement have been utilized
or have expired, unless Medley Management Inc. exercises its right to terminate the tax receivable agreement for an amount based
on an agreed value of payments remaining to be made under the agreement. As of December 31, 2016, there were no transactions
under this agreement.
11.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER CLASS A SHARE

The table below presents basic and diluted net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock using the two-class
method for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per
share amounts)
Basic and diluted net income per share:
Numerator
Net income attributable to Medley Management Inc.
Less: Allocation to participating securities
Net income (loss) available to Class A common
stockholders

$

997 $
(892)

3,111 $
(353)

1,695
(267)

$

105

$

2,758

$

1,428

$

5,804,042
0.02

$

6,002,422
0.46

$

6,000,000
0.24

Denominator
Weighted average shares of Class A common stock
outstanding
Net income (loss) per Class A share

The Company declared a $0.20 dividend per share of Class A common stock on November 10, 2014, March 29, 2015,
August 10, 2015, November 11, 2015, February 11, 2016, May 10, 2016, August 9, 2016 and November 10, 2016. The allocation
to participating securities above generally represents dividends paid to holders of unvested restricted stock units which reduces
net income available to common stockholders.
The weighted average shares of Class A common stock is the same for both basic and diluted earnings per share as the
diluted amount excludes the assumed conversion of 23,333,333 LLC Units to shares of Class A common stock, the impact of
which would be antidilutive.
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12.

INCOME TAXES

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 consist of the
following:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per
share amounts)
Current
Federal
State
Total current provision

$

Deferred
Federal
State and local
Total deferred provision
Provision for Income Taxes

272
1,058
1,330

$

1,063

$

486
2,768
3,254

(454)

158
(425)
(267)
$

1,546
1,373
2,919

2
(728)
(726)

(450)
(904)
$

2,015

$

2,528

Deferred income taxes reflect the net effect of temporary differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability and its
reported amount in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. These temporary differences result in taxable or deductible amounts
in future years. The significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities included on its consolidated balance
sheets are as follow:
As of December 31,
2016
2015
(Amounts in thousands)
Deferred tax assets
Tax goodwill
Basis difference in partnership interest
Unrealized losses
Stock-based compensation
Accrued expenses not currently deductible for tax purposes
New York City unincorporated business tax credit carryforward
Other liabilities
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued fee income
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$

$
$

$

605
417
44
216
7
512
200
2,001

$

147
55
202
1,799

$

$

$

597
630
55
101
86
—
189
1,658
68
59
127
1,531

The Company's effective tax rate includes a rate benefit attributable to the fact that the Company's subsidiaries operate
as a limited liability companies, which are not subject to federal or state income tax. Accordingly, a portion of the Company's
earnings attributable to the non-controlling interests are not subject to corporate level taxes. However, a portion of the limited
liabilities income is subject to New York City’s unincorporated business tax. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
the company was subject to federal, state and city corporate income taxes on its pre-tax income attributable to Medley Management
Inc.
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A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014 are as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
Federal statutory rate
Income allocated to non-controlling interests
State and local corporate income taxes
Partnership unincorporated business tax
Permanent differences
Other
Effective tax rate

34.0 %
(28.9)%
1.2 %
4.2 %
—%
(0.8)%
9.7 %

34.0 %
(26.8)%
1.0 %
1.7 %
(2.9)%
1.9 %
8.9 %

34.0 %
(32.9)%
0.2 %
2.6 %
(0.4)%
—%
3.5 %

Interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters are recognized as a component of the provision for income
taxes and were less than $0.1 million in 2016. There were no such amounts incurred during the years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014. As of and during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, there were no uncertain tax positions taken
that were not more likely than not to be sustained. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are no longer subject to tax
examinations by taxing authorities for tax years prior to 2012.
13.

COMPENSATION EXPENSE

Compensation generally includes salaries, bonuses, and profit sharing awards. Bonuses and profit sharing awards are
accrued over the service period to which they relate. Guaranteed payments made to our senior professionals who are members of
Medley LLC are recognized as compensation expense. The guaranteed payments to the Company’s Co-Chief Executive Officers
are performance based and are periodically set subject to maximums based on the Company’s total assets under management. Such
maximums aggregated to $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 and $3.0 million for each of the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014. Commencing with the fourth quarter of 2014 and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
neither of the Company’s Co-Chief Executive Officers received any guaranteed payments.
Performance Fee Compensation
In October 2010 and January 2014, the Company granted shares of vested profit interests in certain subsidiaries to select
employees. These awards are viewed as a profit-sharing arrangement and are accounted for under ASC 710, which requires
compensation expense to be recognized over the vesting period, which is usually the period over which service is provided. The
shares were vested at grant date, subject to a divestiture percentage based on percentage of service completed from the award grant
date to the employee’s termination date. The Company adjusts the related liability quarterly based on changes in estimated cash
flows for the profit interests.
In February 2015 and March 2016, the Company granted incentive cash bonus awards to select employees. These awards
entitle employees to receive cash compensation based on distributed performance fees received by the Company from certain
institutional funds. Eligibility to receive payments pursuant to these incentive awards is based on continued employment and ceases
automatically upon termination of employment. Performance compensation expense is recorded based on the fair value of the
incentive awards at the date of grant and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected requisite service period. The
performance compensation liability is subject to re-measurement at the end of each reporting period and any changes in the liability
are recognized in such reporting period.
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded a reversal of performance fee compensation
expense of $0.3 million, $8.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the total performance
fee compensation payable for these awards was $1.0 million and $1.8 million, respectively.
Retirement Plan
The Company sponsors a defined-contribution 401(k) retirement plan that covers all employees. Employees are eligible
to participate in the plan immediately, and participants are 100% vested from the date of eligibility. The Company makes
contributions to the Plan of 3% of an employee’s eligible wages, up to a maximum limit as determined by the Internal Revenue
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Service. The Company also pays all administrative fees related to the plan. The Company's accrued contributions to the plan were
$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 and $0.4 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Stock-Based Compensation
In connection with the IPO, the Company adopted the Medley Management Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the
“Plan”). The purpose of the Plan is to provide a means through which the Company may attract and retain key personnel and to
provide a means whereby directors, officers, employees, consultants and advisors (and prospective directors, officers, employees,
consultants and advisors) of the Company can acquire and maintain an equity interest in the Company, or be paid incentive
compensation, including incentive compensation measured by reference to the value of Medley Management Inc.’s Class A common
stock or Medley LLC’s unit interests, thereby strengthening their commitment to the welfare of the Company and aligning their
interests with those of the Company’s stockholders. The Plan provides for the issuance of incentive stock options (“ISOs”),
nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), stock bonuses,
other stock-based awards and cash awards. The maximum aggregate number of awards available to be granted under the plan, as
amended, is 4,500,000, of which all or any portion may be issued as shares of Medley Management Inc.’s Class A common stock
or Medley LLC’s unit interests. Shares of Class A common stock issued by the Company in settlement of awards may be authorized
and unissued shares, shares held in the treasury of the Company, shares purchased on the market or by private purchase or a
combination of the foregoing. As of December 31, 2016, there were 2.8 million awards available to be granted under the Plan.
The fair value of RSUs granted under the plan is determined to be the fair value of the underlying shares on the date of
grant. The aggregate fair value, which is then adjusted for anticipated forfeitures, is charged to compensation expense on a straightline basis over the vesting period, which is generally up to five years. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
stock-based compensation was $3.8 million, $3.1 million and $0.9 million respectively.
The following summarizes RSU activity for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:

Number of
RSUs
—
1,203,515
(5,600)
—
1,197,915
188,404
(244,868)
(10,647)
1,130,804
597,283
(44,200)
(31,404)
1,652,483

Balance at December 31, 2013
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Balance at December 31, 2014
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Balance at December 31, 2015
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Balance at December 31, 2016

$

$

$

$

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Value
—
17.91
18.00
—
17.91
9.96
17.99
18.00
16.56
5.89
17.24
6.05
12.88

As of December 31, 2016 there were approximately 1.4 million RSUs outstanding, net of estimated forfeitures, which
are expected to vest. Unamortized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs as of December 31, 2016 was $11.1 million and
is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.1 years.
14.

REDEEMABLE NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

In January 2016, the Company executed an amendment to SIC Advisors' operating agreement which provided the Company
with the right to redeem membership units owned by the minority interest holder. The Company’s redemption right is triggered
by the termination of the dealer manager agreement between SIC and SC Distributors LLC, an affiliate of the minority interest
holder. As a result of this redemption feature, the Company reclassified the non-controlling interest in SIC Advisors from the equity
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section to redeemable non-controlling interests in the mezzanine section of the balance sheet based on its fair value as of the
amendment date. The fair value of the non-controlling interest was determined to be $12.2 million on the date of the amendment
and was adjusted through a charge to non-controlling interests in Medley LLC. As of December 31, 2016, the balance of the
redeemable non-controlling interest in SIC Advisors LLC was $13.3 million.
On June 3, 2016, the Company entered into a Master Investment Agreement with DB MED Investor I LLC and DB MED
Investor II LLC (the ‘‘Investors’’) to invest up to $50 million in new and existing Medley managed funds (the ‘‘Joint Venture’’).
The Company will contribute up to $10 million and an interest in STRF Advisors LLC, the investment advisor to Sierra Total
Return Fund, in exchange for common equity interests in the Joint Venture. The Investors will invest up to $40 million in exchange
for preferred equity interests in the Joint Venture. On account of the preferred equity interests, the Investors will receive an 8%
preferred distribution, 15% of the Joint Venture’s profits, and all of the profits from the contributed interest in STRF Advisors
LLC. Medley has the option, subject to certain conditions, to cause the Joint Venture to redeem the Investors’ interest in exchange
for repayment of the outstanding investment amount at the time of redemption, plus certain other considerations. The Investors
have the right, after seven years, to redeem their interests in the Joint Venture. As such, the Investors’ interest in the Joint Venture
is included as a component of redeemable non-controlling interests on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and amounted
to $17.5 million as of December 31, 2016. Total contributions to the Joint Venture amounted to $21.3 million through December 31,
2016 and were used to purchase $16.8 million of MCC shares on the open market. The Company intends to use the remaining
contributions of $4.4 million, which is included in restricted cash equivalents on our consolidated balance sheets, to fund future
investments.
15.

MARKET AND OTHER RISK FACTORS

Due to the nature of the Medley funds’ investment strategy, their portfolio of investments has significant market and credit
risk. As a result, the Company is subject to market and other risk factors, including, but not limited to the following:
Market Risk
The market price of investments may significantly fluctuate during the period of investment. Investments may decline
in value due to factors affecting securities markets generally or particular industries represented in the securities markets. The
value of an investment may decline due to general market conditions that are not specifically related to such investment, such as
real or perceived adverse economic conditions, changes in the general outlook for corporate earnings, changes in interest or currency
rates or adverse investor sentiment generally. They may also decline due to factors that affect a particular industry or industries,
such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions within an industry.
Credit Risk
There are no restrictions on the credit quality of the investments the Company intends to make. Investments may be
deemed by nationally recognized rating agencies to have substantial vulnerability to default in payment of interest and/or principal.
Some investments may have low-quality ratings or be unrated. Lower rated and unrated investments have major risk exposure to
adverse conditions and are considered to be predominantly speculative. Generally, such investments offer a higher return potential
than higher rated investments, but involve greater volatility of price and greater risk of loss of income and principal.
In general, the ratings of nationally recognized rating organizations represent the opinions of agencies as to the quality
of the securities they rate. Such ratings, however, are relative and subjective; they are not absolute standards of quality and do not
evaluate the market value risk of the relevant securities. It is also possible that a rating agency might not change its rating of a
particular issue on a timely basis to reflect subsequent events. The Company may use these ratings as initial criteria for the selection
of portfolio assets for the Company but is not required to utilize them.
Limited Liquidity of Investments
The funds managed by the Company invest and intend to continue to invest in investments that may not be readily
marketable. Illiquid investments may trade at a discount from comparable, more liquid investments and, at times there may be no
market at all for such investments. Subordinate investments may be less marketable, or in some instances illiquid, because of the
absence of registration under federal securities laws, contractual restrictions on transfer, the small size of the market or the small
size of the issue (relative to issues of comparable interests). As a result, the funds managed by the Company may encounter difficulty
in selling its investments or may, if required to liquidate investments to satisfy redemption requests of its investors or debt service
obligations, be compelled to sell such investments at less than fair value.
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Counterparty Risk
Some of the markets in which the Company, on behalf of its underlying funds, may affect its transactions are “over-thecounter” or “interdealer” markets. The participants in such markets are typically not subject to credit evaluation and regulatory
oversight, unlike members of exchange-based markets. This exposes the Company to the risk that a counterparty will not settle a
transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because of a dispute over the terms of the applicable contract (whether or
not such dispute is bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem, causing the Company to suffer loss. Such “counterparty
risk” is accentuated for contracts with longer maturities where events may intervene to prevent settlement, or where the Company
has concentrated its transactions with a single or small group of counterparties.
16.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited)
The following tables present the Company's consolidated unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2016 and 2015.
For the Three Months Ended
(unaudited)
September 30,
2016
June 30, 2016

December 31,
2016
Revenues

$

Expenses
Total other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable
non-controlling interests and non-controlling
interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Net income attributable to non-controlling
interests in Medley LLC
Net income attributable to Medley
Management Inc.

18,251 $
9,184
(1,595)

March 31, 2016

(Amounts in thousands)
18,880 $
21,326 $
15,553
17,508
(2,036)
(2,714)

17,571
13,776
(2,647)

7,472
6,700

1,291
1,214

1,104
1,002

1,148
1,036

1,443

438

405

263

4,632

556

539

679

$

625

$

220

$

$
$

0.07
0.07
5,809,130

$
$

—
—
5,778,409

$
$

58

$

94

Net income (loss) per Class A common stock:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares - Basic and Diluted
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For the Three Months Ended
(unaudited)
September 30,
2015
June 30, 2015

December 31,
2015
$

Revenues
Expenses
Total other income (expense), net

3,667
3,605

Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable
non-controlling interests and non-controlling
interests in consolidated subsidiaries

(Amounts in thousands)
5,431 $
20,536 $
3,880
9,990
(2,757)
(1,875)
(1,206)
8,671
(1,093)
7,753
(2,150)

249

Net income attributable to non-controlling
interests in Medley LLC
Net income attributable to Medley
Management Inc.

15,979 $
9,845
(2,467)

2,830

March 31, 2015

(274)

785

25,480
11,840
(2,125)
11,515
10,367
1,290

6,988

7,803

$

526

$

272

$

1,039

$

1,274

$
$

0.08
0.08
6,009,400

$
$

0.04
0.04
6,000,211

$
$

0.14
0.14
6,000,000

$
$

0.19
0.19
6,000,000

Net income per Class A common stock:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares - Basic and Diluted

17.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 9, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.20 per share of Class A common stock
for the fourth quarter of 2016. The dividend was paid on March 6, 2017 to stockholders of record as of February 23, 2017.
On January 18, 2017, Medley LLC completed a public offering of $34.5 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.25%
senior notes due 2024 at a public offering price of 100% of the principal amount of notes. The notes mature on January 30, 2024
with interest payable quarterly. Medley LLC used the net proceeds from the offering to repay $33.0 million of the outstanding
indebtedness under the Term Loan Facility.
On February 22, 2017, Medley LLC completed a public offering of an additional $34.5 million in aggregate principal
amount of 7.25% senior notes due 2024 at a public offering price of $25.25 for each $25.00 principal amount of notes. The notes
mature on January 30, 2024 with interest payable quarterly. Medley LLC used the net proceeds from the offering to repay the
remaining outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan Facility and for general corporate purposes. The notes under both offerings
are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “MDLQ.”
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Item 9.

Changes and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our co-principal executive officers and principal
financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. The design of any disclosure controls
and procedures is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.
Our management, with the participation of our Co-Chief Executive Officers and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Based upon that evaluation, and subject to the foregoing, our Co-Chief Executive Officers and our Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to accomplish their objectives at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2016, that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting.
Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because either conditions change or the degree of compliance with our policies and procedures may deteriorate.
Our management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016.
In making this assessment, management used the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2016.
Item 9B.

Other Information

On March 15, 2017, Philip K. Ryan notified us that he will resign from our Board effective March 17, 2017 to devote
more time to his other business commitments. On March 15, 2017, we appointed James Eaton, age 40, to serve on our Board
effective March 17, 2017 to fill the vacancy created by Mr. Ryan’s resignation. Mr. Eaton will hold this position until the next
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annual meeting of the Company’s shareholders or until his successor is elected and qualified. We have also appointed Mr. Eaton
to serve on our Audit Committee effective March 17, 2017.
Mr. Eaton, 40, is the President of Weatons Holdings, a Canadian private holding company. Mr. Eaton has been active in
the founding, growth and divestiture stages of the Weatons portfolio companies across a wide variety of industries. His
responsibilities at Weatons include overseeing numerous private investments and a portfolio of listed securities. Mr. Eaton is
currently a partner of JJR Capital, a private merchant bank, and serves as a director on the board of JC Clark Ltd., a Toronto-based
independent investment firm and Defyrus Inc., a private life sciences biodefence company, as well as audit committee chair of
Dream Alternatives Trust, a publicly-traded mutual fund trust. Mr. Eaton is a founding director of the True Patriot Love Foundation,
he chairs the Invictus Games Toronto 2017, and is a trustee of the John David and Signy Eaton Foundation. Mr. Eaton holds a
B.A. from the University of Colorado at Boulder.
Mr. Eaton will participate in our standard non-employee director compensation program, including an annual retainer
of $70,000 of restricted stock units. Upon joining the Board, Mr. Eaton will receive a pro-rated restricted stock unit award to
cover the period from March 17, 2017 until the annual meeting of stockholders in May 2017.
PART III.
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

Emerging Growth Company Status
We qualify as an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, also known as the
JOBS Act. As a result, we are permitted to, and rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to
other companies that are not emerging growth companies. Accordingly, we have not included a compensation discussion and
analysis of our executive compensation programs and have excluded tabular compensation information. However, in the interest
of providing more fulsome disclosure, we have included compensation information for our Co-Chief Executive Officers, our Chief
Financial Officer and our two next most highly compensated executive officers serving at the end of the fiscal year (collectively
referred to herein as our “named executive officers”).
In addition to the foregoing described reduced compensation disclosure, for so long as we are an emerging growth company,
we will not be required to submit certain executive compensation matters to stockholder advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay,”
“say-on-frequency” and “say-on-golden parachute” compensation. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest
to occur of: (i) December 31, 2019; (ii) the first fiscal year after our annual gross revenues are $1.0 billion or more; (iii) the date
on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities; or (iv)
the end of any fiscal year in which we become a “large accelerated filer,” which means that we have been public for at least 12
months, have filed at least one annual report and the market value of our voting and non-voting common equity held by nonaffiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last day of our then most recently completed second fiscal quarter.
Summary Compensation Table
Our named executive officers for 2016 are:
•

Brook Taube, Co-Chief Executive Officer;

•

Seth Taube, Co-Chief Executive Officer;

•

Jeffrey Tonkel, President;

•

Richard T. Allorto, Jr., Chief Financial Officer; and

•

John D. Fredericks, General Counsel and Secretary.
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The following table presents summary information regarding the total compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to
each of the named executive officers for the fiscal years indicated.

Salary
($)(1)

Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards
($)(2)

Option
Awards
($)

NonEquity
Incentive
Plan
Compen
sation ($)

Change in
Pension Value
and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings ($)

All Other
Compensation
($)(3)

Name and Principal Position

Year

Brook Taube

2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

43,136

$

Total ($)
43,136

Co-Chief Executive Officer

2015

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

40,884

$

40,884

Seth Taube

2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

48,625

$

48,625

Co-Chief Executive Officer

2015

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

46,376

$

46,376

Jeffrey Tonkel

2016

$ 300,000

—

—

—

—

—

$

41,120

$ 341,120

President

2015

$ 300,000

—

—

—

—

—

$

38,872

$ 338,872

Richard T. Allorto, Jr.

2016

$ 300,000

—

$293,000

—

—

—

$

43,824

$ 636,824

Chief Financial Officer

2015

$ 300,000

—

—

—

—

—

$

41,715

$ 341,715

John D. Fredericks

2016

$ 300,000

—

$293,000

—

—

—

$

44,842

$ 637,842

General Counsel and Secretary

2015

$ 300,000

—

—

—

—

—

$

43,114

$ 343,114

_____________
(1) Amounts reported under Salary include guaranteed cash distributions made on membership interests in Medley LLC owned
directly or indirectly by the Company's named executive officers. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
neither of Messrs. Brook and Seth Taube received any guaranteed payments.
(2) Amounts reported under Stock Awards consist of RSUs granted in March 2016 for services rendered in 2015. The RSUs are
included at their grant date fair market value which was computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. Subsequently,
in February 2017, these RSU grants were canceled and in return the holders thereof were granted 50,000 LLC Units under
the Incentive Plan, which had the equivalent grant date fair market value.
(3) Amounts reported under All Other Compensation include Company-paid executive health insurance, Company matching 401
(k) contributions, Company-paid life insurance premiums, Company-reimbursed commuting expenses and Company-paid
professional dues.
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2016 Fiscal Year End
The following table includes information concerning stock awards that have not vested for each of our named executive
officers as of December 31, 2016.
Stock awards (1)

Option awards

Equity
incentive
plan
awards:
number of
unearned
shares,
units or
other rights
that have
not vested
(#)

Number of
securities
underlying
unexercised
options (#)
exercisable

Number of
securities
underlying
unexercised
options (#)
unexercisable

Equity
incentive
plan
awards:
number of
securities
underlying
unexercised
unearned
options (#)

Brook Taube

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Seth Taube

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Jeffrey Tonkel

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Richard T. Allorto, Jr.

—

—

—

—

—

50,000

$

495,000

—

John D. Fredericks

—

—

—

—

—

50,000

$

495,000

—

Name

Option
exercise
price ($)

Option
exercise
date

Number of
shares or
units of
stock that
have not
vested (#)

Market
value of
shares or
units of
stock that
have not
vested ($)

Equity
incentive
plan awards:
market
payout value
of unearned
shares, units
or other
rights that
have not
vested ($)

_____________
(1) Stock awards consist of RSUs granted on March 17, 2016. The RSUs vest in three equal annual installments on each of the
third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant date, subject to the executive's continued employment on the applicable vesting
date. The market value of the RSUs was computed using Medley Management Inc.'s closing price of $9.90 per share as of
December 30, 2016. Subsequent to December 31, 2016, these RSU grants were canceled and in return the holders thereof
81

—
—
—
—
—

were granted 50,000 LLC Units under the Incentive Plan, which vest in three annual installments commencing March 16,
2019 and have the equivalent market value.
Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table
Our named executive officers are generally compensated through a combination of annual guaranteed distributions on
membership interests and annual discretionary bonuses in the form of cash, equity-based awards and/or profit interests in our
advisor entities.
Guaranteed Distributions on Membership Interests
Each of our named executive officers owns, directly or indirectly, membership interests in Medley LLC. The payments
to our Co-Chief Executive Officers, Brook and Seth Taube, are performance based periodically set subject to maximums based
on the our total assets under management. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, neither of our Co-Chief Executive
Officers received any guaranteed payments. This is expected to continue through December 31, 2017. In addition, we pay to each
of Messrs. Tonkel, Allorto and Fredericks a $25,000 monthly cash payment, included under Salary in the Summary Compensation
Table.
As a condition to receiving membership interests in Medley LLC, each executive was required to become party to the
limited liability company agreement of Medley LLC. The limited liability company agreement of Medley LLC, the unit award
agreements evidencing such membership interests and the agreement described above relating to guaranteed payments, generally
govern the rights and obligations of the executives.
Annual Discretionary Bonus
In February 2017, each of Messrs. Allorto and Fredericks was awarded an annual discretionary bonus for services rendered
in 2016, which consisted of 50,000 LLC Units granted under the Incentive Plan. The LLC Units vest in three equal annual
installments on each of the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant date, subject to the executive’s continued employment
on the applicable vesting date. Each vested LLC Unit may be exchanged for one share of our common stock. The grant date fair
market value of the LLC Units will be included in the Summary Compensation Table in the our proxy statement for the 2018
annual meeting of stockholders.
In March 2016, each of Messrs. Allorto and Fredericks was awarded an annual discretionary bonus for services rendered
in 2015, which consisted of (1) 50,000 RSUs granted under the Incentive Plan and (2) the right to receive cash-settled carried
interest payments in an amount tied to the performance of one of the our funds. The RSUs vest in three equal annual installments
on each of the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant date, subject to the executive’s continued employment on the
applicable vesting date. The carry interest awards entitle each of Messrs. Allorto and Fredericks to receive a cash distribution equal
to 0.258% of the carried interest received by MOF II GP LLC from Medley Opportunity Fund II LP. Eligibility to receive a carry
interest payment is based on the executive’s continued employment and ceases automatically upon termination of employment.
The grant date fair market value of the RSUs is included in the Summary Compensation Table above. Subsequently, in February
2017, these RSU grants were canceled and in return the holders thereof were granted 50,000 LLC Units under the Incentive Plan,
which had the equivalent grant date fair market value. These LLC Units vest annually in three equal installments commencing
March 16, 2019, subject to the executive's continued employment on the applicable vesting date. Each vested LLC Unit may be
exchanged for one share of our common stock. In accordance with SEC rules, the carry interest awards have not been included in
the Summary Compensation Table above since the performance criteria has not been met.
Restrictive Covenants
Under the terms of their respective confidentiality, non-interference and invention assignment agreements, each of the
named executive officers is subject to covenants restricting his (i) use and disclosure of confidential information while employed
and at all times thereafter, (ii) ability to engage in any business activities that directly or indirectly competes with us while employed
and for six months thereafter and (iii) solicitation of our employees and consultants while employed and for twelve months thereafter
and solicitation of our customers and clients while employed and for six months thereafter.
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Retirement Plan
We maintain a qualified contributory retirement plan that is intended to qualify as a deferred salary arrangement under
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”). The plan covers all employees, including our named executive officers,
who may contribute up to 96% of their eligible compensation, subject to statutory limits imposed by the Code. We are also permitted
to provide for, but currently do not provide any, matching contributions. In addition, the Company makes nonelective contributions
under the 401(k) plan equal to 3% of each employee’s eligible earnings, subject to statutory limits imposed by the Code.
Director Compensation
Our employees who serve as directors receive no separate compensation for their service on the Board or on committees
thereof.
For 2016, each of the our non-employee directors was entitled to receive annual compensation consisting of:
•

An annual cash retainer in the amount of $35,000, payable in quarterly installments;

•

restricted stock units (“RSUs”) having a fair market value on the date of grant of $35,000; provided, however,
that each non-employee director has the option to elect to receive 100% of his annual compensation in RSUs,
having a fair market value on the date of grant of $70,000 and subject to vesting terms as set forth in the applicable
award agreement; and

•

as to the chairperson of the Audit Committee, an additional annual RSU award having a fair market value on the
date of grant of $15,000.

Each of the our directors is entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable travel and related expenses associated with attendance
at Board or committee meetings, although they will not be paid additional fees for attending meetings or for serving on Board
committees.
In September 2016, we granted each of our non-employee directors RSUs in an amount representing the director’s annual
equity award, or total compensation if the director elected to receive the entire compensation in the form of RSUs, for the annual
period from September 2016 to September 2017. In March 2017, we revised our non-employee director compensation program
such that going forward, RSUs would be granted on the date of the annual meeting each year which aligns the grant with annual
term. In March 2017, the Board approved an amendment to the RSUs granted in September 2016 to each of Mr. Leeds and
Rounsaville, Jr., such that two-thirds of such RSUs vest on May 10, 2017, the date of the 2017 Annual Meeting, and the reminder
vest on September 29, 2017. The board also approved an amendment to the RSUs granted in September 2016 to Mr. Ryan such
that a pro-rated portion of such RSUs will vest on March 17, 2017. At the same meeting, the Board approved pro-rated annual
awards for the continuing non-employee directors for the period from September 30, 2017 until the next annual meeting and a full
annual award for the new non-employee director.
Director Compensation
The table below sets forth information regarding non-employee director compensation for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2016.

Name

Fees Earned or
Paid in
Cash ($)(1)

Jeffrey T. Leeds
Guy Rounsaville, Jr.
Philip K. Ryan(4)

$

Stock
Awards ($)(2)

All Other
Compensation ($)

Total ($)

Total Number of
Outstanding
Unvested Equity
Awards (#)(3)

—

$

70,000

—

$

70,000

8,578

35,000
—

$
$

35,000
85,000

—
—

$
$

70,000
85,000

4,289
10,416

_____________
(1) Represents the annual cash retainer earned for services rendered in 2016.
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(2) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of the RSU awards computed in accordance with the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718.
(3) Represents the aggregate number of unvested RSUs held by each non-employee director as of the fiscal year end.
(4) Mr. Ryan resigned from our Board effective March 17, 2017.
Narrative to Director Compensation Table
Eligible non-employee directors are awarded equity under our 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”). The
directors’ RSUs granted in 2016 vest in full one year from the date of grant, subject to the director’s continued service on the Board
on the applicable vesting date. If the director ceases to be a member of the Board for any reason, all of his then unvested RSUs
will be forfeited, and upon a change in control (as defined in the Incentive Plan), all of the director’s unvested RSUs will fully
vest.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
During the 2016 fiscal year, the members of our Compensation Committee were Mr. Leeds, Mr. Brook Taube (our CoChief Executive Officer) and Mr. Seth Taube (our Co-Chief Executive Officer). None of our executive officers serve as a member
of the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee (or other committee performing equivalent functions) of any entity that
has one or more executive officers serving on our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.
Item 12.

Securities Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Certain information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2016, certain information related to Medley Management Inc.'s
compensation plans under which our Class A common stock may be issued.
Number of securities
Weighted-average
to be issued upon
exercise price of
Number of securities
exercise of
outstanding options, remaining available
outstanding
warrants and rights(2) for future issuance
Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholders

1,652,483

—

2,805,467

—

—

—

____________
(1)
Relates to Medley Management Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
(2)
The weighted average exercise price does not include outstanding equity awards that are received or exercised for no
consideration.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions, and Director Independence

Certain information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.
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Transactions with Related Parties
Exchange Agreement
In September 2014, we entered into an exchange agreement with the holders of LLC Units pursuant to which each holder
of LLC Units (and certain permitted transferees thereof) may, from and after the first anniversary of the date of our IPO (subject
to the terms of the exchange agreement) exchange their LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock of Medley Management
Inc. on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications.
The exchange agreement also provides that a holder of LLC Units will not have the right to exchange LLC Units if Medley
Management Inc. determines that such an exchange would be prohibited by law or regulation or would violate other agreements
with Medley Management Inc. or its subsidiaries to which such holder may be subject. Medley Management Inc. may impose
additional restrictions on exchange that it determines to be necessary or advisable so that Medley LLC is not treated as a “publicly
traded partnership” for United States federal income tax purposes. As a holder exchanges LLC Units for shares of Class A common
stock, the number of LLC Units held by Medley Management Inc. is correspondingly increased as it acquires the exchanged LLC
Units.
Registration Rights Agreement
In September 2014, we entered into a registration rights agreement with our pre-IPO owners pursuant to which we will
grant them, their affiliates and certain of their transferees the right, under certain circumstances and subject to certain restrictions,
to require us to register under the Securities Act shares of Class A common stock delivered in exchange for LLC Units. Under the
registration rights agreement, we agreed to register the exchange of LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock by Medley
Management Inc.'s pre-IPO owners. In addition, Medley Group LLC, an entity wholly-owned our pre-IPO owners, will have the
right to request that we register the sale of shares of Class A common stock held by the pre-IPO owners an unlimited number of
times and may require us to make available shelf registration statements permitting sales of shares of Class A common stock into
the market from time to time over an extended period. Medley Group LLC will also have the ability to exercise certain piggyback
registration rights in respect of shares of Class A common stock held by the pre-IPO owners in connection with registered offerings
requested by other registration rights holders or initiated by us. Under the registration rights agreement, Medley Management Inc.
will be liable for and pay all registration expenses in connection with each of the foregoing registrations.
Tax Receivable Agreement
Holders of LLC Units (other than Medley Management Inc.) may, subject to certain conditions, from and after the first
anniversary of the date of the completion of the IPO (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement), exchange their LLC Units
for shares of Class A common stock of Medley Management Inc. on a one-for-one basis. Medley LLC intends to make an election
under Section 754 of the Code effective for each taxable year in which an exchange of LLC Units for shares of Class A common
stock occurs, which is expected to result in increases to the tax basis of the assets of Medley LLC at the time of an exchange of
LLC Units. The exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Medley LLC.
These increases in tax basis may reduce the amount of tax that Medley Management Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in
the future. These increases in tax basis may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain capital assets
to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets. The IRS may challenge all or part of the tax basis increase and increased
deductions, and a court could sustain such a challenge.
In September 2014, Medley Management Inc. entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of LLC Units that
provides for the payment by Medley Management Inc. to exchanging holders of LLC Units of 85% of the benefits, if any, that
Medley Management Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of these increases in tax basis and of certain other tax benefits related to
entering into the tax receivable agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement.
This payment obligation is an obligation of Medley Management Inc. and not of Medley LLC. Medley Management Inc. expects
to benefit from the remaining 15% of cash tax savings, if any, in income tax it realizes. For purposes of the tax receivable agreement,
the cash tax savings in income tax will be computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of Medley Management Inc.
(calculated with certain assumptions) to the amount of such taxes that Medley Management Inc. would have been required to pay
had there been no increase to the tax basis of the assets of Medley LLC as a result of the exchanges and had Medley Management
Inc. not entered into the tax receivable agreement. The term of the tax receivable agreement will continue until all such tax benefits
have been utilized or expired, unless Medley Management Inc. exercises its right to terminate the tax receivable agreement for an
amount based on the agreed payments remaining to be made under the agreement (as described in more detail below) or Medley
Management Inc. breaches any of its material obligations under the tax receivable agreement in which case all obligations generally
will be accelerated and due as if Medley Management Inc. had exercised its right to terminate the tax receivable agreement.
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Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the tax receivable agreement is by its nature imprecise, insofar as the
calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of factors. The actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing
of any payments under the tax receivable agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including:
•

the timing of exchanges — for instance, the increase in any tax deductions will vary depending on the fair market
value, which may fluctuate over time, of the depreciable or amortizable assets of Medley LLC at the time of each
exchange;

•

the price of shares of the Company's Class A common stock at the time of the exchange — the increase in any tax
deductions, as well as the tax basis increase in other assets, of Medley LLC, is directly proportional to the price of
shares of Medley Management Inc.'s Class A common stock at the time of the exchange;

•
•
•

the extent to which such exchanges are taxable — if an exchange is not taxable for any reason, increased deductions
will not be available; and
the amount and timing of our income — Medley Management Inc. will be required to pay 85% of the cash tax savings
as and when realized, if any. If Medley Management Inc. does not have taxable income, Medley Management Inc.
is not required (absent circumstances requiring an early termination payment) to make payments under the tax
receivable agreement for that taxable year because no cash tax savings will have been realized. However, any cash
tax savings that do not result in realized benefits in a given tax year will likely generate tax attributes that may be
utilized to generate benefits in previous or future tax years. The utilization of such tax attributes will result in payments
under the tax receivables agreement.

We anticipate that they will account for the effects of these increases in tax basis and associated payments under the tax
receivable agreement arising from future exchanges as follows:
•

we will record an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increases in tax basis
based on enacted federal and state tax rates at the date of the exchange;

•

to the extent we estimate that we will not realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset, based on an
analysis that will consider, among other things, our expectation of future earnings, we will reduce the deferred tax
asset with a valuation allowance; and

•

we will record 85% of the estimated realizable tax benefit (which is the recorded deferred tax asset less any recorded
valuation allowance) as an increase to the liability due under the tax receivable agreement and the remaining 15%
of the estimated realizable tax benefit as an increase to additional paid-in capital.

All of the effects of changes in any of our estimates after the date of the exchange will be included in net income. Similarly,
the effect of subsequent changes in the enacted tax rates will be included in net income.
Medley Management Inc. expects that as a result of the size of the increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible
assets of Medley LLC, the payments that we may make under the tax receivable agreement will be substantial. There may be a
material negative effect on our liquidity if, as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise, the payments under the tax receivable
agreement exceed the actual cash tax savings that Medley Management Inc. realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the
tax receivable agreement and/or distributions to Medley Management Inc. by Medley LLC are not sufficient to permit Medley
Management Inc. to make payments under the tax receivable agreement after it has paid taxes. Late payments under the tax
receivable agreement generally will accrue interest at an uncapped rate equal to LIBOR plus 500 basis points. The payments under
the tax receivable agreement are not conditioned upon continued ownership of us by holders of LLC Units.
In addition, the tax receivable agreement provides that upon certain changes of control, Medley Management Inc.’s (or
its successor’s) obligations with respect to exchanged or acquired LLC Units (whether exchanged or acquired before or after such
transaction) would be based on certain assumptions, including Medley Management Inc. would have sufficient taxable income to
fully utilize the deductions arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits related to entering into the
tax receivable agreement.
Furthermore, Medley Management Inc. may elect to terminate the tax receivable agreement early by making an immediate
payment equal to the present value of the anticipated future cash tax savings. In determining such anticipated future cash tax
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savings, the tax receivable agreement includes several assumptions, including (i) that any LLC Units that have not been exchanged
are deemed exchanged for the market value of the shares of Class A common stock at the time of termination, (ii) Medley
Management Inc. will have sufficient taxable income in each future taxable year to fully realize all potential tax savings, (iii) the
tax rates for future years will be those specified in the law as in effect at the time of termination and (iv) certain non-amortizable
assets are deemed disposed of within specified time periods. In addition, the present value of such anticipated future cash tax
savings are discounted at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 100 basis points.
As a result of the change in control provisions and the early termination right, Medley Management Inc. could be required
to make payments under the tax receivable agreement that are greater than or less than the specified percentage of the actual cash
tax savings that Medley Management Inc. realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the tax receivable agreement. In these
situations, our obligations under the tax receivable agreement could have a substantial negative impact on our liquidity.
Decisions made by our pre-IPO owners in the course of running the business may influence the timing and amount of
payments that are received by an exchanging or selling existing owner under the tax receivable agreement. For example, the earlier
disposition of assets following an exchange or acquisition transaction generally will accelerate payments under the tax receivable
agreement and increase the present value of such payments, and the disposition of assets before an exchange or acquisition
transaction will increase an existing owner’s tax liability without giving rise to any rights of an existing owner to receive payments
under the tax receivable agreement. Payments under the tax receivable agreement are based on the tax reporting positions that we
will determine. Medley Management Inc. will not be reimbursed for any payments previously made under the tax receivable
agreement if a tax basis increase is successfully challenged by the IRS. As a result, in certain circumstances, payments could be
made under the tax receivable agreement in excess of the Medley Management Inc.’s cash tax savings.
Medley LLC Limited Liability Company Agreement
Medley Management Inc. holds LLC Units in Medley LLC and is the sole managing member of Medley LLC. Accordingly,
Medley Management Inc. will operate and control all of the business and affairs of Medley LLC and, through Medley LLC and
its operating entity subsidiaries, conduct our business.
Pursuant to the limited liability company agreement of Medley LLC, Medley Management Inc. has the right to determine
when distributions will be made to holders of LLC Units and the amount of any such distributions. If a distribution is authorized,
such distribution will be made to the holders of LLC Units pro rata in accordance with the percentages of their respective limited
liability company interests.
The holders of LLC Units, including Medley Management Inc., will incur United States federal, state and local income
taxes on their proportionate share of any taxable income of Medley LLC. Net profits and net losses of Medley LLC will generally
be allocated to its holders (including Medley Management Inc.) pro rata in accordance with the percentages of their respective
limited liability company interests, except as otherwise required by law. The limited liability company agreement of Medley LLC
will provide for cash distributions, which we refer to as “tax distributions”, to the holders of the LLC Units if Medley Management
Inc., as the sole managing member of Medley LLC, determines that the taxable income of Medley LLC will give rise to taxable
income for the holders of LLC Units to the extent that other distributions made by Medley LLC for such year were otherwise
insufficient to cover such tax liabilities. Generally, these tax distributions will be computed based on our estimate of the net taxable
income of Medley LLC multiplied by an assumed tax rate equal to the highest effective marginal combined United States federal,
state and local income tax rate (including the “Medicare” tax imposed under Internal Revenue Code) prescribed for an individual
or corporate resident in New York, New York or California (taking into account the non-deductibility of certain expenses and the
character of our income) and the character of the applicable income, but not taking into account the deductibility of state and local
income taxes for U.S. federal income tax purposes and without regard to certain basis adjustments that may have the effect of
reducing a particular holders net taxable income.
The limited liability company agreement of Medley LLC also provides that substantially all expenses incurred by or
attributable to Medley Management Inc., but not including obligations incurred under the tax receivable agreement by Medley
Management Inc., income tax expenses of Medley Management Inc. and payments on indebtedness incurred by Medley
Management Inc., will be borne by Medley LLC.
Other than Medley Management Inc., holders of LLC Units, including the Company's pre-IPO owners, will, subject to
limited exceptions, be prohibited from transferring any LLC Units held by them upon consummation of the IPO, or any shares of
Class A common stock received upon exchange of such LLC Units, until the third anniversary of the IPO without the Company's
consent. Thereafter and prior to the fourth and fifth anniversaries of the IPO, such holders may not transfer more than 33 1/3%
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and 66 2/3%, respectively, of the number of LLC Units held by them upon consummation of the IPO, together with the number
of any shares of Class A common stock received by them upon exchange therefor, without the Company's consent. While this
agreement could be amended or waived by the Medley Management Inc., the Company's pre-IPO owners have advised that they
do not intend to seek any waivers of these restrictions.
Other Transactions
Christopher Taube, our Senior Managing Director, Head of Institutional Fund Raising, is the brother of Messrs. Brook
and Seth Taube, our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Co-Chairmen of the Board. In connection with his employment, Mr. Chris
Taube is entitled to a guaranteed annual payment related to his ownership interest in Medley LLC, as well as an annual discretionary
bonus which may be in the form of cash, equity based awards and/or profits interests in our advisor entities. Mr. Chris Taube
received total compensation valued at $1.6 million, in respect of his 2016 services, which included the guaranteed annual payments
and a grant of LLC Units. The LLC Units have substantially the same terms as those granted to our other executives. His
compensation is commensurate with that of a similarly situated employee in his position.
Statement of Policy Regarding Transactions with Related Persons
The Board of Directors recognizes the fact that transactions with related persons present a heightened risk of conflicts of
interests and/or improper valuation (or the perception thereof). The Board of Directors has adopted a written policy on transactions
with related persons that is in conformity with the requirements for issuers having publicly-held common stock that is listed on
the NYSE.
This related person policy requires that a “related person” (as defined as in Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K) must promptly
disclose to our General Counsel any “related person transaction” (defined as any transaction that is anticipated would be reportable
by us under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K in which we were or are to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000
and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest) and all material facts with respect thereto.
The General Counsel will then promptly communicate that information to the Board. No related person transaction will be executed
without the approval or ratification of the Board or a duly authorized committee of the Board. It is the Company's policy that
directors interested in a related person transaction will recuse themselves from any vote on a related person transaction in which
they have an interest.
Family Relationships of Directors and Executive Officers
Messrs. Brook and Seth Taube, each a Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors of the
Manager, are brothers. There are no other family relationships among any of the our directors or executive officers.
Item 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services

In connection with the audit of the Company's annual financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016,
we entered into an agreement with RSM US LLP (formerly McGladrey LLP through October 25, 2015) (“RSM”) which sets forth
the terms by which RSM performed audit services for the Company.
The following table presents fees for professional services rendered by RSM for the audit of our financial statements for
2016 and 2015 and fees billed for other services rendered by RSM for those periods:
Audit fees(1)
Audit-related fees(2)
Tax fees(3)
All other fees(4)
Total

$

$

2016
668,141
177,230
—
—
845,371

$

$

2015
470,000
—
18,500
—
488,500

_____________
(1) Amounts reported under Audit fees include professional services rendered for the audits of our annual financial statements
and reviews of our quarterly financial statements. For the year ended December 31, 2016, audit fees include fees relating to
the audits of Medley Management Inc. and Medley LLC as the audit work was performed concurrently.
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(2) Amounts reported under Audit-related fees include reviews of registration statements filed with the SEC for Medley LLC in
2016.
(3) Amounts reported under Tax fees include professional services rendered for tax return compliance, including review of partner
capital accounts, and consultations related to technical interpretations, applicable laws and regulations and tax accounting.
(4) All other fees encompasses any services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm other than services
reported in the other above categories. There were no such fees in 2016 and 2015.
Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
Consistent with SEC policies regarding auditor independence and the Audit Committee’s charter, the Audit Committee
is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention, oversight and termination of the independent registered public
accounting firm engaged (including the resolution of disagreements between management and such firm regarding financial
reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review or attest services for us. In
exercising this responsibility, the Audit Committee pre-approves all audit and permitted non-audit services provided by the
independent registered public accounting firm prior to each engagement going forward. These services may include audit services,
audit-related services, tax services and other services. In addition, the Audit Committee may also pre-approve particular services
on a case-by-case basis. The Audit Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees consisting of one or more
members who are independent directors, when appropriate, including the authority to grant pre-approvals of audit and permitted
non-audit services, provided that decisions of such subcommittee to grant pre-approvals shall be presented to the full Audit
Committee at its next scheduled meeting.
PART IV.
Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
See Exhibit Index at the end of this Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 16.

Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
MEDLEY MANAGEMENT INC.
(Registrant)
Date: March 16, 2017

By:

/s/ Richard T. Allorto, Jr.
Richard T. Allorto Jr.
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Authorized Signatory)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capabilities indicated on the 16th day of March, 2016.
Signature

Title
Co-Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer and
Co-Chairman
(Co-Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Brook Taube
Brook Taube
/s/ Seth Taube
Seth Taube

Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-Chairman
(Co-Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Richard T. Allorto, Jr.
Richard T. Allorto, Jr.

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

/s/ Jeffrey Tonkel
Jeffrey Tonkel

President and Director

/s/ Jeffrey T. Leeds
Jeffrey T. Leeds

Director

/s/ Guy Rounsaville, Jr.
Guy Rounsaville, Jr.

Director

/s/ Philip K. Ryan
Philip K. Ryan

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
No.

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Medley Management Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36638) filed on September 29, 2014).

3.2

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Medley Management Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36638) filed on September 29, 2014).

4.1

Indenture, dated August 9, 2016, between Medley LLC and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Medley LLC’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 9, 2016).

4.2

First Supplemental Indenture, dated August 9, 2016, between Medley LLC and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee, including the form of note attached as an exhibit thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of
Medley LLC’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 9, 2016).

4.3

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 18, 2016, between Medley LLC and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, with the form of note included therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Medley
LLC’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 19, 2016).

4.4

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated January 18, 2017, between Medley LLC and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee, including the form of note attached as an exhibit thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of Medley LLC's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 20, 2017).

4.5

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated February 22, 2017, between Medley LLC and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee, including the form of note attached as an exhibit thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of Medley LLC's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 22, 2017).

10.1

Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Medley LLC, dated as of September
23, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No.
001-36638) filed on September 29, 2014).

10.2

Exchange Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2014, among Medley Management Inc., Medley LLC and the
holders of LLC Units from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36638) filed on September 29, 2014).

10.3

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2014, by and among Medley Management Inc. and each
of the other persons from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36638) filed on September 29, 2014).

10.4

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2014, by and among Medley Management Inc. and
the Covered Persons from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36638) filed on September 29, 2014).

10.5

Credit Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2014, among Medley LLC, the lenders party thereto and Credit Suisse
AG, Cayman Islands Branch (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-198212) filed on August 18, 2014).

10.6

Credit Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2014, among Medley LLC, the lenders party thereto and City National
Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File
No. 333-198212) filed on September 3, 2014).

10.7

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2014, among Medley LLC, the subsidiary guarantors
party thereto and City National Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198212) filed on September 3, 2014).
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10.8†

Medley Management Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36638) filed on September 29, 2014).

10.9†

Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.2 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198212) filed on September 3, 2014).

10.10†

Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.3 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198212) filed on September 3, 2014).

10.11†

Medley LLC Unit Award Agreement to Jeffrey Tonkel, dated as of January 7, 2013 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-198212) filed on August
18, 2014).

10.12†

Amendment to Medley LLC Unit Award Agreement to Jeffrey Tonkel, dated as of May 29, 2014 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-198212) filed
on August 18, 2014).

10.13†

Medley LLC Unit Award Agreement to Richard Allorto, dated as of January 7, 2013 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-198212) filed on August
18, 2014).

10.14†

Amendment to Medley LLC Unit Award Agreement to Richard Allorto, dated as of May 29, 2014 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-198212) filed
on August 18, 2014).

10.15†

Second Amendment to Award Agreement of Jeffrey Tonkel, dated September 23, 2014 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36638) filed on May 14, 2015).

10.16†

Second Amendment to Award Agreement of Richard T. Allorto, Jr., dated September 23, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36638) filed on May
14, 2015).

10.17†

Award Agreement of John D. Fredericks, dated June 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36638) filed on May 14, 2015).

10.18†

Amendment to Award Agreement of John D. Fredericks, dated May 29, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36638) filed on May 14, 2015).

10.19†

Second Amendment to Award Agreement of Richard T. Allorto, Jr., dated September 23, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36638) filed on May
14, 2015).

10.20†

Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File Np. 001-36638) filed on May 14, 2015).

10.21†

Letter Agreement, dated October 27, 2010, with Messrs. Brook and Seth Taube (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36638) filed on May 14, 2015).

10.22†

Form of Letter Agreement, dated March 17, 2016, entered into with John D. Fredericks and Richard T.
Allorto, Jr. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2016, filed on May 12, 2016).

10.23

Master Investment Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2016, among Medley LLC, Medley Seed Funding I LLC,
Medley Seed Funding II LLC, Medley Seed Funding III LLC, DB MED Investor I LLC and DB MED
Investor II LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Medley LLC’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1
(File No. 333-212514) filed on July 28, 2016).
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10.24

First Amendment dated as of May 3, 2016 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2014, among Medley
LLC, the lenders party thereto and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016, filed on
August 11, 2016).

10.25

Amendment Number One and Consent dated as of August 12, 2015 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August
19, 2014, among Medley LLC, the lenders party thereto and City National Bank (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016, filed on
August 11, 2016).

10.26

Amendment Number Two dated as of May 3, 2016 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2014,
among Medley LLC, the lenders party thereto and City National Bank. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016, filed on August
11, 2016).

21.1*

Subsidiaries of Medley Management Inc.

23.1*

Consent of RSM US LLP

31.1*

Certification by Co-Chief Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2*

Certification by Co-Chief Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.3*

Certification by Chief Financial Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1*

Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2*

Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.3*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS*

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith
† Management contract or compensatory plan in which directors and/or executive officers are eligible to participate
The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other
disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on
them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents
were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of
affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.

93

